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Analysing US foreign policy towards Angola during the Ford
administration, this book provides an intriguing insight into one of the most
avoidable and unfortunate episodes in Cold War history and explores the
impact on Henry Kissinger’s much vaunted reputation for being guided by
realist principles.

Kissinger has dominated political discourse and scholarship on US
foreign policy since the 1970s, but although his legacy continues to
generate controversy, little attention has been paid to the influence of
Vietnam’s collapse on the US decision to covertly intervene in the Angolan
Civil War. This book argues that Kissinger’s concern for personal reputation
and US credibility following the collapse of Vietnam led to a harmful and
unrealistic policy toward Angola. Exposure of US covert intervention
exacerbated domestic and international political tensions and the
subsequent showdown between the executive and legislative branches
ironically resulted in Kissinger proclaiming a new departure in US—African
relations. Thus, it is argued that Kissinger was an ‘unintentional realist’
rather than an intellectual proponent of realpolitik.

Enhancing our understanding of Kissinger, his relationship with both his
subordinates and with Congress, and his approach to foreign policy, this
book will be of interest to scholars of Cold War history, US foreign policy
and all those fascinated by the personality of Henry Kissinger.
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Introduction

The Angolan Civil War 19751976 provides an intriguing insight into one
of the most avoidable and unfortunate episodes in Cold War history. The
proxy confrontation between the United States (US) and the Soviets for
influence in the country led to a catastrophic escalation of the civil war,
much to the long-term detriment of Angolan society. In a wider context, it
contributed to a decline in US—Soviet relations, exposed the fractured US
political consensus over the lessons of Vietnam and helped damage the
reputation of Henry Kissinger as an imperious world statesman. The Soviet
Ambassador to the US, Anatoly Dobrynin encapsulated the scenario when
he observed “Angola became a cockpit of international ambition far beyond
its importance to anyone, not least the unfortunate people of Angola

itself”.! Indeed the events of the Angolan conflict and the role the US
played in its escalation is a prime example of how Henry Kissinger’s lack
of regional understanding helped undermine US relations with Africa. The
primary purpose of this study is to describe, explain and analyse US foreign
policy towards Angola during the Ford administration 1974-1976. It is
particularly concerned with analysing Kissinger’s determination with
restoring a perceived credibility problem arising from the collapse of
Vietnam in April 1975.

While the theme of credibility in US foreign policy is not a new concept,
it has become a salient issue in many scholars’ work and indeed in

policymakers’ speeches on US foreign policy which continues to this day.?
Yet as historian Robert J. McMahon stresses, credibility is “an elusive
concept that defies precise definition, credibility has typically connoted for
American decision makers a blend of resolve, reliability, believability, and
decisiveness; equally important, it has served as a code word from

America’s image and reputation”.® A narrow chronological focus has been
adopted in order to illustrate the immediate period in post-Vietham US



foreign policy and how the conflict compromised US policymakers’
decision-making on the Angolan Civil War. Furthermore, this publication
emphasizes the political fallout in the US upon exposure of the covert
operation and the eventual realization by Kissinger that the US needed a
concerted African policy endorsing black majority rule. This ultimately
ensured that the political debate had quickly shifted away from Angola by
the summer of 1976 and disappeared from the headlines almost as quick as
it appeared in late 1975. This was noticed at the time by political scientist
William Minter who observed “the focus of the ‘crisis’ spotlight has moved
on, to the white regimes in Rhodesia and South Africa, and policy toward
Angola and Mozambique, [...] is likely to settle down into low-key

obscurity, becoming routine and uninteresting”.* However, in a wider
context the fallout from the Angolan debacle had already helped undermine
Gerald Ford’s presidential election chances in November 1976.

The Angolan Civil War has been somewhat overlooked within US Cold
War diplomatic history which tends to rank events in Africa as being
peripheral to superpower rivalry in the core areas of influence in Europe,
the Middle East and Southeast Asia. This mirrors the lack of attention on
the Ford administration which has also been unfairly judged to be a mere
extension of the Richard Nixon presidency. Yet the Ford administration is
worthy of attention in its own right. Gerald Ford, the only non-elected Vice-
President and later President of the US had the unenviable task of restoring
the US domestic consensus after the scandals that plagued the second term
of the Nixon administration. The challenge of manoeuvring within a
shattered domestic political landscape was compounded by a series of
foreign crises such as those seen in Turkey and Cyprus in 1974 as well as
the collapse of Vietnam and US involvement in the Angolan Civil War in
1975 which only exacerbated these tensions. The inability of Ford and his
Secretary of State and National Security Advisor, Henry Kissinger, to
successfully chart a course through this turbulent period contributed to the
election of Jimmy Carter to the presidency in November 1976. This
publication stresses that the fluid perceptions of US credibility in the
aftermath of the collapse of Vietnam resulted in a divisive US—Angolan
policy which ignored the regional and local conditions of the Angolan Civil
War in favour of adhering to a traditional Cold War containment strategy.
By ignoring the advice of his colleagues Kissinger created a more
complicated situation that resulted in a public confrontation between the



Ford administration and Congress over how to incorporate the lessons of
Vietnam into US foreign policy. Yet this self-inflicted wound ironically
forced the Ford administration to formulate a new US—African policy that
was tailored toward black majority rule, an outcome that neither the Ford
administration nor Congress had foreseen at the beginning of the Angolan
crisis. However, a brief note on the conflict is required at this stage to
outline the main narrative of events within which this publication is
situated.

The Angolan conflict was an outgrowth of complications arising from
the Carnation Revolution of April 1974 in Portugal when the dictatorship of
Marcelo Caetano was overthrown and replaced by a series of provisional
governments over the next two years. In the immediate aftermath, the
controlling military junta, the Junta for National Salvation (JSN) under the
command of General Antonio Spinola declared that Portuguese-African
territories were to be granted independence over a staggered timeframe.
Such a declaration brought to an end over 400 years of colonial rule on the
African continent. However, unlike other Portuguese-African territories
such as Guinea-Bissau and Mozambique, Angola had three liberation
groups with divergent ethnic and ideological backgrounds who vied for
control after independence. The Movimento Popular de Libertacdo de
Angola (MPLA), the Marxist orientated group led by Dr Agostinho Neto,
competed with the Frente Nacional de Libertacdo de Angola (FNLA) under
the leadership of Holden Roberto. In addition, there was a third movement
under the command of Jonas Savimbi, the Unido Nacional para a
Independécia Total de Angola (UNITA). Despite agreeing to enter into a
coalition Angolan government after signing the Alvor Accord in January
1975, the three movements descended into open confrontation which was
exacerbated over the course of 1975 as external assistance from the US, the
Soviet Union, the People’s Republic of China (PRC) and many other
countries including certain African states such as Zaire, Zambia and the
Ivory Coast helped fuel indigenous ethnic and ideological tensions and
eventually resulted in Cuban and South African military engagements in the
country on the eve of independence on the 11 November 1975.

Objectives



This publication has two main objectives. It analyses the impact of the fall
of Vietnam on the Ford administration and how the perception of a
credibility problem became the tool which Kissinger used to manoeuvre the
US into intervening in the Angolan Civil War. By examining the fractured
domestic political consensus that existed in Washington, DC, this study
shows the different interpretations of the lessons the US should incorporate
into foreign policy after the Vietnam conflict. In particular it stresses that
this was a view held not only by members of Congress but within the
executive branch itself. Thereby, this publication addresses a gap in the
literature on this topic as it reveals sustained dissent from within the US
State Department from high-ranking officials who disagreed with
Kissinger’s determination to use Angola as a testing ground for regaining
credibility in US foreign policy. Specifically, it injects newly declassified
primary material to expand the argument that Davis was the main opponent
of Kissinger’s push for intervention. By doing so this publication shows that
the formulation of US foreign policy toward Angola was balanced in favour
of non-intervention. It argues that the dissent on Angolan policy was not
simply a result of US State Department officials being affected by Vietnam
syndrome, or lacking the will to confront the Soviet Union, as has been
reported in Kissinger’s memoirs. In fact, it was based on the realization that
domestic political and public constrictions inhibited US foreign policy at
that time and that the US had to be more conscious of where it chose to
engage the Soviets in the Third World. However, such was the dominance
of Kissinger’s position within the Ford administration; he was able to play
to Ford’s conservative instincts and he ultimately voted to authorize a
covert intervention aiding the FNLA and UNITA under the codename
Operation IAFEATURE in July 1975.

In addition, this publication stresses that with the Angolan situation
escalating beyond control and the eventual widespread exposure of US
involvement in the conflict, the conditions for Vietnam analogies within
Congress and the US media were inevitable. At the centre of this was a
determination by Congress to show that they had learnt the lessons of the
Vietnam conflict and to ensure that the events in Angola did not escalate in
the same fashion. However, in doing so they succumbed to the same
weakness that inhibited Kissinger’s logic; the need to restore credibility in
US foreign policy. Therefore, the confrontation between the executive and
the legislative branches over Angola rarely strayed far from the Vietnam



analogy when it should have focused more on the inadequacies of US—
African policy and how that helped create the conditions for the Angolan
crisis.

Methodology and sources

This publication is a historical analysis of US foreign policy toward
Angola. The logic behind focusing on US policy rather than an international
history or post-national history of the conflict is centred on addressing a
specific gap in the literature of this event. While there have been many
detailed studies on the Angolan Civil War, questions remain over the
formulation of US—Angolan policy and how perceptions of post-Vietnam
credibility influenced the ultimate decision to covertly intervene. As a
result, this book does not engage in depth with the timing and motivations
of the Cuban intervention between September and November 1975, nor
does it cover the offensive launched by the South Africans codenamed

Operation Zulu in October 1975.> With regard to Cuban involvement, the
archival evidence did not prove that the US had any real warning of
Havana’s intentions before they arrived in Angola in large numbers. Indeed,
the evidence from conversations between Kissinger and other Ford
administration colleagues suggests that this was seen as firmly originating
from Moscow rather than Havana. In the case of South African actions, the
archival evidence available remains heavily redacted, but this book does
demonstrate that the US were not displeased by Pretoria’s decision to
invade Angola in late 1975. Therefore, by concentrating on analysing US
motivations as opposed to incorporating an international history of events,
this publication injects new analysis into US motivations and the influence
of Vietnam in the US decision-making process. This is particularly salient
in the latter chapters of the book as the executive and legislative branches
fought for the ownership of the legacy of Vietnam. As a result, both sides
never truly had the interests of Angola at heart. It must be noted that this
book does not go into detail on the Pike or Church Committee hearings,
instead choosing to retain focus specifically on Angolan and African
hearings. This ultimately provides a deeper understanding for future studies
on US foreign policy towards Angola and will also help other scholars
investigating the topic of a crucial time when US foreign policy consensus



was particularly fragile after the abuses of the Nixon administration and the
defeat in Vietnam.

This publication incorporates a multi-archival approach using material
amalgamated mainly from the Gerald R. Ford Library (GRFL) in Ann
Arbor, Michigan, but also from the US National Archives and Records
Administration (NARA) in College Park, Maryland and the Library of
Congress (LOC) in Washington, DC. It also utilizes online sources of
primary documentation from the Digital National Security Archive
(DNSA), the Digital Gerald R. Ford Library (DGRFL), and the Foreign
Relations of the United States (FRUS) series on southern Africa, the Central
Intelligence Agency (CIA) Electronic Reading Room, the Congressional
Record collection and Wikileaks. In addition, media sources such as the
New York Times and the Washington Post have been utilized through the
online resources of New York University.

The GFRL holds an extensive collection of primary documentation in
relation to Angola ranging from personal memos between departments,
letters to Congressional leaders, embassy telegrams, press releases and
transcripts of television and radio broadcasts of executive and legislative
personnel to cite just a few types of primary documents available. While
scholars have previously used documents from the GRFL when
documenting the Angolan episode, this publication incorporates the full
extent of the GRFL’s declassified holdings on Angola which hitherto has
not been previously used in extended consideration of this issue. In
addition, the DGRFL has also been utilized in order to review minutes from
National Security Council (NSC) meetings and memorandums of
conversation between Ford, Kissinger, Assistant National Security Advisor,
Brent Scowcroft as well as other participants from international leaders to
White House cabinet officials who met with Ford and Kissinger during this
period to discuss Angola.

In addition, the resources of NARA have been critical in understanding
the difficulties within the State Department over how to proceed in Angola.
From analysing primary documents from government officials such as
Assistant Secretary of State Joseph Sisco, Intelligence and Research Chief
Winston Lord and the discussions held at Kissinger’s staff meetings, it is
possible to gain a deeper understanding of the friction between Kissinger
and his subordinates than has previously been discussed in earlier
publications of US foreign policy toward Angola. The DNSA provides



further context for this debate through the release of telephone
conversations between Kissinger and various political and media figures.

In particular the release of the FRUS volume on southern Africa 1969—
1976 has been pivotal in filling in the remaining gaps from the archival
information obtained in the GRFL and NARA. This volume contains
memorandums of conversations from 40 committee meetings held
throughout the Angolan crisis and helps to illustrate one of the core
arguments of the publication which contends that the Vietnam syndrome
contributed to a much wider base of dissent on Kissinger’s Angolan policy
than the objections of Assistant Secretary of State for African Affairs
Nathaniel Davis. Another valuable primary resource is the American
Memory online resource through the LOC website which carries interviews
with former US officials including former assistant secretaries, ambassadors
and heads of units within the State Department such as the Policy Planning
Staff (PPS). Furthermore, the CIA Electronic Reading Room provided an
insight into how the intelligence agency viewed the Angolan situation,
however, most of the files are still heavily redacted. In addition, the
information gained from the Wikileaks site has yielded some important
information through the release of US embassy telegrams from around the
world detailing how the US was not widely perceived as having lost
significant credibility in the aftermath of Vietnam. In fact, it helps to
reinforce the argument that the credibility issue was something mainly
perceived by Kissinger and not the State Department.

Additional material obtained from the LOC has been used to reflect the
importance of Congress in the Angolan episode. More specifically, it uses
Congressional hearings on Angola and other issues relating to US foreign
policy at the time to illustrate how Congress was also affected by Vietnam
syndrome in its decision to halt further funding for Angolan operations in
December 1975 and January 1976. These hearings shed a light on the tense
political climate in the immediate period following US disengagement in
Vietnam and the fracture that existed between conservative and liberal
elements in Congress over Angola and in a wider context the pursuit of
détente. In addition, the hearings afford an opportunity to incorporate
testimony from a range of administration officials such as Kissinger,
Assistant Secretary of African Affairs William Schaufele, who had replaced
Nathaniel Davis by the end of 1975, and Deputy Secretary of State Edward
Mulcahy. By also examining the Congressional Record it is possible to



establish a direct narrative on the confrontation between the executive and
the legislatives branches of the US government over Angola.

In particular, the New York Times and the Washington Post have greatly
helped in analysing American journalistic and public perception of US
policy towards Angola and the how the confrontational tactics pursued by
Ford and Kissinger towards Congress in 1976 did little to persuade the
American public that US credibility was really at stake in Angola. These
primary sources combined with the large quantity of secondary sources
consulted, including books, journal articles and memoirs, ensure a
comprehensive analysis of the various factors involved in the US decision-
making process to covertly assist the FNLA and UNITA in the Angolan
Civil War.

Structure

The publication consists of eight chapters which chart the evolution of US—
African policy from one of indifference towards racial equality in the early
1970s to the decision by the Ford administration to fully endorse black
majority rule in Africa in April 1976. The Angolan Civil War and the
decisions taken by Ford and Kissinger, in the face of substantial internal
dissent within the State Department, and later in regard to confronting
Congress, were crucial to this new departure in US foreign policy toward
Africa.

Chapter 1 gives a brief overview of US—African policy in the Richard
Nixon administration. It outlines the importance of the decision to adopt
Option Two of the National Security Study Memorandum (NSSM) 39 or
“Tar Baby” as it later became known in 1970. In particular it argues that the
African Bureau initially had no issue with the policy but quickly expressed
apprehension at increased Soviet activity in the region. This was ignored by
Kissinger who decided that after the events of the Yom Kippur War in 1973
the US needed to prioritize its relations with Portugal. Yet the advent of the
Carnation Revolution in April 1974 provided the opportunity to address the
imbalance in US—African policy. Nevertheless, the region remained a low
priority in his overall Cold War strategy; Kissinger focused on what he
perceived to be the more imminent and dangerous threat of the Portuguese
Communist Party (PCP) infiltrating the North Atlantic Treaty Organization
(NATO). Despite the warnings from the African Bureau about a potential



power vacuum in the sub-Saharan region and the call from Tanzanian
President Julius Nyerere for US diplomatic assistance in late 1974, when it
came to African issues Kissinger was more concerned with removing the
head of the African Bureau, Donald Easum, and replacing him with
Nathaniel Davis.

Chapter 2 discusses how Kissinger was confronted by a substantial
backlash following the nomination of Davis for Assistant Secretary of State
for African Affairs in spring 1975 and how his robust defence of Davis is
seen as somewhat ironic given that their relationship would become fraught
almost immediately after Davis’ confirmation in March 1975. Specifically,
it argues that Kissinger’s attention on the imminent collapse of Vietnam in
April 1975 ensured that reports from the US Ambassador to Portugal, Frank
Carlucci, outlining Portuguese non-chalance to ensure stability in Angola
were overlooked. With the fall of Vietham and Zambian President Kenneth
Kaunda’s stinging public remarks on US— African policy during a visit to
Washington, DC in April 1975, Kissinger saw Angola as an opportunity to
address what he now deemed to be a critical credibility problem facing US
foreign policy. Yet this chapter concludes that there was no real credibility
problem confronting the US as many foreign states saw US disengagement
from the conflict as beneficial in the long term.

Chapters 3 and 4 primarily focus on the debate on Angolan policy in
June and July 1975 when Kissinger’s eagerness for active options that fitted
with his perception of US credibility were countered by dissent from
various State Department officials who argued that the Angolan Civil War
did not represent a vital US national interest and, therefore, the outcome
was inconsequential to the US. Chapter 3 explores in detail the fractured
relationship between Kissinger and Davis at this point as Kissinger thought
Davis’ objections were a result of the Vietnam experience and Davis’
previous encounter with scandal during his former position as US

Ambassador to Chile in 1973.° In particular it argues that Davis’ objections
were part of a larger opposition to Kissinger’s pursuit of US intervention as
head of the PPS, Winston Lord, and the Department of Defense (DOD)
were also against active US involvement in Angola. It also explores the
Zairian influence on US foreign policy at this time as its leader Mobutu
Sese Seko ratcheted up the stakes by expelling US Ambassador to Zaire,
Deane Hinton, and requesting that the US fund the FNLA and UNITA.
Chapter 4 expands further on the disagreement between Davis and



Kissinger and how it resulted in the resignation of Davis. It argues that in
July 1975, Under Secretary of State Joseph Sisco and Bureau for
Intelligence and Research (INR) head, William Hyland, seriously
questioned the need for the US to risk any prestige in Angola. They were
joined by CIA Director William Colby who also expressed caution at US
involvement. Furthermore, the local realities ensured that US involvement
would be quickly discovered and a sudden influx of arms would only
exacerbate the Angolan Civil War given the collapse of the Portuguese
ability to sustain basic law and order in the country.

Chapter 5 charts the evolution of US intervention throughout the autumn
of 1975 where the US was buoyed by some initial success, but was then
significantly halted by a counter escalation from the Soviets. It explores the
increasing denial by Kissinger that it was a poor decision to get the US
involved in Angola and continues to investigate his perception that his
subordinates were victims of Vietnam syndrome. Specifically, it shows how
opposition to the Angolan programme grew during this period and explores
this in more depth than previous publications. The objections of Sisco and
Hyland continued and were joined by US chargé d’affaires to Zaire, Lannon
Walker and his staff who argued that the US should not continue to be
involved in the conflict as the potential domestic political ramifications
ensured that the US could not escalate as much as the Soviets could. The
discussion subsequently develops the topic by illustrating the eventual
realization by Kissinger that the Angolan operation was beyond winning
and how he undertook a strategy designed to shift responsibility for the
failure onto outgoing CIA director William Colby.

The final three chapters primarily centre on the confrontation between
the Ford administration and Congress over Angolan policy in the period
covering December 1975 to May 1976, and how Vietnam syndrome
dominated this period. It concludes that despite the public damage incurred
by the Ford administration, the announcement by Kissinger reorienting US—
African policy towards black majority rule in April 1976 was a short-lived
success for both the executive and legislative branches. Chapter 6 analyses
the exposure of the covert US operation and the subsequent decision by
Congress to pass the Tunney Amendment which halted all funding for
further aid to Angola in December 1975. Through media articles,
Congressional hearings and the Congressional Record, it is shown how
significant pressure on Kissinger from both liberals and conservatives



criticizing the decision to get involved in Angola was perceived as a failure
to learn the lessons of Vietnam. Yet Congress itself was not unified in its
own approach with some believing that the legislative branch was
overreaching in its eagerness to banish the memory of Vietnam.
Simultaneously the chapter also details Kissinger’s plan to obtain an
Organization of African Unity (OAU) vote to remove foreign troops from
Angola, but argues that this was unrealistic, and the US would have been
better served by considering a Tanzanian proposal which would have
yielded the same results (this was dismissed in favour of adhering to Cold
War perspectives). Chapter 7 argues that Ford and Kissinger’s attempts to
attack Congress and put them on the defensive in January and February
1976 was flawed, especially since there was mounting evidence that this
attempt would be futile. In the aftermath of failed discussions with Soviet
Premier Leonid Brezhnev and Foreign Minister Andrei Gromyko in
Moscow in January 1976, Kissinger and newly appointed African Bureau
chief, William Schaufele argued that it was vital that the US stay involved
in Angola. However, during a series of Congressional hearings on the issue,
the Ford administration was unable to adequately explain its reasoning, with
Congressmen and Senators consistently linking the situation with Vietnam.
It concludes that Kissinger’s inability to successfully articulate a defence of
his Angolan policy was mainly due to the fact that the US had no real
African policy and, therefore, he was not adequately prepared to make a
case which incorporated Angola at the heart of the discussion instead Cold
War rivalry.

Finally, Chapter 8 investigates the aftermath of the decision to uphold
the Tunney Amendment in January 1976 and how Kissinger struggled to
accept defeat and was taken aback at the shift in the European attitude on
recognizing the MPLA as the government of the newly established People’s
Republic of Angola (PRA) in March 1976. At this time, Ford took over the
mantle of defending the administration against Congressional opposition,
but this only served to create further damage as his lack of detailed
knowledge on the issue resulted in contradictory messages. Ultimately
Kissinger realized that in order to outmanoeuvre Congress he had to accept
some public reversal of policy. On his first trip to Africa in April 1976, he
endorsed black majority rule and returned to Washington, DC with his
critics now applauding his efforts. However, this in reality was just a public
posture by Kissinger, who in private still heavily resented the Congressional



influence on foreign policy and continued to attack them in private.
Therefore, this publication concludes that it was somewhat ironic that the
flawed decision-making pursued by the Ford administration in Angola
resulted in a shift in US—African policy.
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1 No cause for concern
US foreign policy and Angola 1969-1974

Introduction

The Carnation Revolution in Portugal in April 1974 and the subsequent
rapid decolonization of its African territories helped change how the
landscape of sub-Saharan Africa was viewed in Cold War competition. In
the context of Angola, the civil war of 1975-1976 highlighted a particular
weakness in US foreign policy towards Africa in the 1960s and early 1970s.
Indeed, US ignorance of sub-Saharan Africa ensured a delayed response to
the Angolan consequences of the Carnation Revolution. In this setting, the
foundation of the Ford administration’s defeat at the hands of Congress in
late 1975 and early 1976 can be found in the first term of the Nixon
administration. In particular, the US attitude towards the region can be seen
in NSSM 39 which examined and recommended courses of action for US
foreign policy toward southern Africa. The tenuous relationship between
the African Bureau of the US State Department and Secretary of State
Henry Kissinger is worthy of further investigation. During the Angolan
crisis and in his subsequent memoirs, Kissinger has vehemently argued that
the African Bureau was filled by officers who held a “siege mentality in
which they transmuted their isolation into a claim to moral superiority,

casting themselves as the defenders of American idealism”.! Yet the
African Bureau did not initially offer any substantial dissent on the
direction of US—African policy. In the aftermath of the Carnation
Revolution, the Bureau concluded that the policy of NSSM 39 had actually
served the US well. The chapter also illustrates Kissinger’s contempt for
those who would potentially undermine his authority and prestige. In



particular his Assistant Secretary of State for African Affairs Donald Easum
who undertook an African trip in late 1974 in order to gain perspective on
how US policy was being perceived by African states and initiating a
foundation for discussion with potential future leaders of Angola and
Mozambique.

By the autumn of 1974, the African Bureau and Kissinger were in
relative agreement on US policy toward southern Africa. However, despite
a tentative ceasefire being agreed between the Angolan liberation
movements, there were signs that Angola could develop into a potential
Cold War conflict as external powers jostled for influence within the
Angolan liberation leaders. Yet, these signs were ignored by Kissinger in
favour of ousting Easum for his attempt to pre-empt future US policy
toward the region. His decision to replace Easum with Nathaniel Davis,
who had no experience in African affairs, was a signal of how Kissinger
intended to further marginalize the African Bureau in 1975. Indeed, Davis
was seen as an officer who would not undermine his view of Africa and its
relative status as a backwater in US Cold War strategy. Nevertheless,
despite Kissinger’s intentions, the sudden collapse of Vietnam created the
conditions that would ensure that the African Bureau and its new Assistant
Secretary would challenge Kissinger over US—Angolan policy as the
country descended into civil war.

The foundation of failure?: NSSM 39 and the African Bureau

One of the more striking observations on the plight of Angola in US foreign
policy was actually highlighted during the early 1960s in the John F.
Kennedy administration. In July 1961, Assistant Secretary of State for
African Affairs G. Mennen Williams commented that Angola was a test of
US commitment to freedom and the US should not be slow to advocate
change in the region. In William’s view, this risked seeing “Soviet
Communism come on the scene as the spurious champion of ‘freedom’ for

Portuguese Africa”.? It would serve to be a familiar reminder of the
balancing problem that the US faced in its policy towards Portugal
throughout the 1960s, and one that was never fully addressed in either the
Kennedy administration or in the subsequent Lyndon Johnson
administration.



With the inauguration of the Nixon administration in 1969 there was
little optimism that African issues would be given any priority given the
American preoccupation with ending the Vietham War. In the context of
Angola, the most important policy consideration was NSSM 39. On 10
April 1969, Kissinger ordered a review of US—southern Africa policy and
an Inter-Departmental Group (IG) was charged with creating a response to
NSSM 39. It outlined five options to be considered in order to progress US
policy in the region. The preferred choice was presented in Option Two,
which advocated a “partial relaxation of American measures against these
[white] regimes, together with increased aid for black Africa”, yet this
course if adopted meant that the US “would be unable to abandon it if it did
not work. Hence, the label given [to] this option by its State opponents: ‘tar

baby’ ”.3 The logic behind such action was based on the premise that “such
an American stance could do more — at least in theory — to promote

peaceful change within southern Africa than hostile actions which lacked

real force and simply made the whites of southern Africa more obdurate”.*

Such analysis failed to adequately address the long-term future of the
region, and instead marginalized it into a short-term fix which mainly
attempted to placate American business prospects in the region, and
especially in South Africa while simultaneously endorsing the status quo.
Critics of the Tar Baby option have claimed

NSSM 39 never confronts the question of how “progress towards
majority rule” is actually transformed into majority rule. In fact, the
document’s silence on that issue amounts to an admission that Whites

will never peacefully surrender more than a qualified franchise.”

In subsequent years one of the chief proponents of the NSC’s views on
NSSM 39, Roger Morris reflected “it was a disaster, naive in concept,
practically impossible for the government to execute, and thus a ready
cover for pursuing the most reactionary and short-sighted U.S. interests in

the region”.% In addition, historian Zaki Laidi argues that the policy marked

the end of the State Department’s “influence over the determination of

America’s African policy”.” However, the degree to which the African

Bureau had any influence over foreign policy during the administration is
contentious. Furthermore, such a statement does not fully cover the multiple



facets of US—African policy during this period and there was no rebellion
within the African Bureau over the decision to implement Option Two.

In fact, there was relative alignment between them on Portuguese-
African policy objectives. In April 1970 only a few months after Nixon had
approved Option Two, both the African and European Bureaus of the State
Department advocated that the US should not establish military liaison
offices in either Angola or Mozambique as Portugal would conclude the US
shared “their estimate of the territories strategic importance to the West [...
when] in fact, U.S. interests in Angola and Mozambique are relatively small

and are likely to remain so”.® Indeed this “hands-off” approach was
repeated in May 1970 when US Secretary of State William Rogers
confidently told Portuguese Prime Minister Marcelo Caetano that the US

hoped to have a fairly practical policy in that we were going to assist
African nations in economic development and otherwise. We were not
as concerned about the extent of communist penetration as some other
nations seemed to be, since the danger compared to prior periods

seemed to have lessened.”

However, by the autumn of 1970, contrary to what Rogers had confidently
stated only a few months prior to Caetano, there were early signs that US
strategy was actually inviting the Soviets into the region. A report prepared
by the INR noted how the Soviets were providing increased aid to the
liberation movements in the region to gain influence with the groups. It also
warned that the Soviets were trying to sway leaders of independent African
states who supported the groups. It highlighted that “the Soviets appear to
have become somewhat more bullish in Africa [and] an increased

investment at this time would be consistent with what the Soviets seem to

have assessed to be an improved climate in Africa”.1?

Furthermore, Angola stood out as a particularly problematic area for the
US to navigate. In September 1970 a report entitled “Angola: Guidelines
for Policy”, once again highlighted the fundamental problem of attempting
to strike a balance between the whites and the blacks in Angola. In this
context, the report criticized US strategy towards Portuguese Africa and
highlighted Angola as a case study where it was failing to appease Portugal
and the other independent African governments. Instead it called for “an
internationally acceptable solution to the Angolan problem would thus



serve our interests by removing an impediment to the realization of more
vital US foreign aims, whether in Africa, in Europe, or in other areas of the

world”. " Yet while this report was critical of the path that NSSM 39 had
taken US policy on, it was not calling for a comprehensive African solution
which Kissinger would later ridicule the African Bureau for. Rather it
shared a similar theme to earlier calls from the European Affairs Bureau for
an Angolan solution, not for the good of the blacks in Angola — but in order
to improve relations with Portugal and indeed free the US to concentrate on
other world issues which aligned more closely with US national interests.
However, there were some signs of increased dissent on the Tar Baby
policy in 1971 when African Bureau officials began to come to the
conclusion that the Portuguese would not be able to sustain the current
African situation in the long term. In fact, the African Bureau were
tentatively advocating a move to establish contact with the potential future
black leaders in Angola. This is illustrated by an internal memorandum
which stated that it was possible that many more African states would gain
independence within the decade and recommended the US consider its
“current relations with liberation movements [... and how it] will affect our
future relations with them as potential independent governments [... but] to
a degree this is a crystal ball exercise because the future is obviously

unpredictable.!?

Despite these timid warnings, the conversation appeared to be happening
in a vacuum as there was no shift in US—African policy over the next two
years. In the intervening period, National Security Advisor Henry Kissinger
was appointed as Secretary of State. Furthermore, the breakout of the Yom
Kippur War in October 1973 between Israel and the Arab nations only
served to copperfasten Kissinger’s view that the US needed to keep

Portugal content in order to secure the landing facilities in the Azores.!3
Kissinger sought to reward the Portuguese for their assistance during the
war and began to actively engage in discussions to soften the US arms
embargo toward Portugal, especially in relation to US weapons being used
by Portugal in their African territories. It was clear that Kissinger
prioritized Portuguese relations as they acquiesced to Portuguese pressure
to breach the arms embargo, rather than provide money to buy arms on the
world market. This decision was taken without any consultation with the
African Bureau, or with its new head Donald Easum. It laid down an early



marker for the strained relationship between Kissinger and the African
Bureau.

This controversial decision to alter US policy on the arms embargo was
held up by bureaucratic delays that Kissinger became infuriated with, and it
also alerted Easum to the situation. Despite being new to the role, Easum
voiced his concern over the decision to supply Portugal with US arms for
use in Africa in return for continued access to the Azores. As Willard De

Pree later revealed, Easum knew “the reaction in Africa, among some of

our NATO allies, in Congress and with the US public, would be strong”.14

Kissinger’s response was a precursor to the relationship that would develop
with the African Bureau as he strongly rebuked

I told you what our choices are, and there is no sense looking at it only
from the African point of view. There is no justification of it from the

African point of view. This isn’t done to promote our African policy.!®

Therefore, it is clear that as early as 1974 Kissinger’s pursuit of reinforcing
the traditional Cold War spheres of influence in Europe and the Middle East
laid the foundations for the subsequent confrontation between Congress and
the executive branch on Angola. In addition, his statement illustrates the
lack of importance Kissinger gave to African self-determination, and to any
possibility of US—African policy shifting to accommodate such change.
Furthermore, it ignored the impact that this strategy was having on the
ground in Africa. Indeed, US officials in Africa reported that Kissinger and
Nixon’s pursuit of détente and triangular diplomacy with the Soviets and
the PRC only served to create the conditions that marginalized Africa. As
one US official based in Lusaka remarked

developments in our foreign relations in recent years clearly have made
US support of self-determination for African countries remaining under
minority rule less plausible. The US should take some measures to
restore credibility to our policy and make it at least somewhat effective

in encouraging change.!®

This is an important point in the context of Kissinger’s credibility argument
which he used to later defend his actions in Angola. It was the historic



ignorance of US—African relations that helped create a credibility problem
in Africa, not the US defeat in Vietnam as Kissinger believed.

While both the Soviet Union and the PRC were engaging the black
African leaders in the early 1970s, the US saw no need to compete for
influence in the region. Ironically it was an unexpected coup in Portugal in
April 1974 which became known as the Carnation Revolution that helped
generate the conditions for the US to manoeuvre away from past policy.
However, a combination of domestic strife as the fallout from Watergate
raged unabated and a lack of understanding of African affairs ensured a
lethargic response to the issue of decolonization in Portuguese-African
territories. Subsequently, the US found itself reacting to the Angolan crisis
instead of demonstrating the political will behind the rhetoric of self-
determination. Such an effort would have helped address the credibility
issues the US faced in the region after years of relative neglect, but instead
the Soviets and the Chinese stole a march on the US in the region. Yet
despite this, Kissinger continued to focus on the immediate problem of
preventing a communist takeover in Portugal, rather than adopting a wider
geopolitical view of its impact outside of Europe. Such a course is perhaps
ironic given Kissinger’s renowned penchant for nuance in foreign policy
matters.

The Carnation Revolution of 1974: a lost opportunity

The overthrow of Marcelo Caetano’s regime in Portugal resulted in General
Antonio Spinola rising to become the President of the JSN which formed
the controlling body of the Portuguese government. Although Spinola
represented a faction of centrists and conservatives, others that now vied for
positions in the post-coup government leaned toward the left. On one side,
Spinola and his supporters were members of the centrist Popular
Democratic Party (PDP) and on the other there were junior officers of the
Armed Forces Movement (AFM), the Portuguese Socialist Party (PSP) led
by Mario Soares and the PCP under the leadership of Alvaro Cunhal. One
of the central issues of the new government was to address the concerns of
its overseas territories. Spinola advocated an approach which created a form
of Portuguese Commonwealth which he felt would serve a dual purpose of
solving the black right for self-determination and also ensure that Portugal
did not lose access to vital mineral rich resources in Angola. This idea was



controversial as all the Angolan liberation groups rejected any offer less
than full independence, and it was also challenged by Portuguese Foreign
Minister Mario Soares, who argued against Spinola’s policies on the
decolonization of Portuguese colonial territories on the basis “the new
Portuguese government is for decolonization and not for neo-

colonialism”.1” Overall, this was to be the start of a long and divisive
political struggle that would characterize the revolution in Portugal for the
rest of 1974. Yet the Carnation Revolution provided the US with an
opportunity to reorientate its African policy to reflect the fundamental and
real changes that were now being seen in southern Africa. Sensing this
swing in momentum, the African Bureau initially pushed for more influence
on policy towards Portugal and its African territories. On 1 May 1974,
African Bureau staff member Julius W. Walker sent a memorandum to
Easum urging a break from previous US—African policy and to take
advantage of Spinola’s intention to decolonize the African territories:

... this is a time of opportunity for the US to stiffen the will of General
Spinola to rid Portugal of her African albatross and step into the
twentieth century of Europe and the West [...] Portugal’s African
possessions have been a net debit for the United States in our relations
with both Portugal and Africa and have been an increasing domestic

burden for succeeding US administrations since the late 1950s.'®

Former Director of the State Department’s Bureau of Intelligence and
Research, and later Deputy National Security Advisor in the Ford
administration, William Hyland later wrote that the Portuguese coup was
“welcomed in Washington because it gave the United States a chance to
side with the black majorities in the Portuguese colonies and thus shore up

American policy in Africa generally”.!® However Hyland’s version of
events runs contrary to the evidence. In fact, the only positive Kissinger
saw was centred on the potential for the Portuguese to back down from their
demand for US weapons to be used in Africa. He stated that

the coup would seem not to have put US interests in danger, and it
could possibly provide some near-term benefits for the United States —
for example, a possible lessening or end to Portuguese pressure for US

weapons for use in the African territories.°



However, while Kissinger appeared to welcome this development, the
situation in Angola was showing signs of unrest as the freedom movements
began to increase civil disorder.

On 3 May 1974, a CIA report outlined the shambolic state the three rival
insurgent groups were in by stating all had “serious factional, recruiting, or
logistic problems, [and] have failed to gain even minimal territorial control.
It seems unlikely that Lisbon will be ready to negotiate with any of these

groups in the near future”.?! Therefore, the focus at the time was centred
almost entirely on the Portuguese, with little or no regard for potential
interference from the other external forces within Angola. Indeed, the
distinct lack of engagement with the Angolan liberation groups caused
concern for moderate African states. Throughout the summer of 1974, these
states began to urge the US to use their influence to convince the new
leadership in Portugal to open a dialogue with the Angolan liberation
movements. The sense of urgency stemmed from the belief that if the JSN
continued to stall talks while trying to stabilize its internal problems in

Lisbon, the Soviets or the South Africans might try to fill the vacuum.?? At
the same time, Portuguese Foreign Minister Mario Soares hoped African
states would show patience as the Portuguese created a timeframe for
granting independence and the US could use its influence to help achieve
this position during the OAU conference in June 1974. It is interesting to
note how the US was viewed at this time by both the Portuguese and by the
moderate African states. Both sides were urging the US to intervene in the
process, albeit in contrasting ways. The Africans wanted to speed the
process up and the Portuguese wanted to slow it down. Yet, the US was not
in a strong position to exert influence. This was noted by the US
Ambassador to Portugal, Stuart N. Scott who observed “the degree to which
we [US] could be helpful with African States may have been somewhat
reduced by our past history of defending Portugal on the international

scene”.?3 However, Kissinger was more concerned with the prospect that
the PCP would infiltrate the Portuguese government which could have
potentially compromised a member of the NATO alliance.

Although Kissinger’s attention was more orientated toward Portugal’s
domestic situation, he did request a report on southern Africa in order to
brief the newly inaugurated US President, Gerald Ford in the autumn of
1974. In total, three reports on southern Africa were commissioned during
this time, but they were mostly identical and gave no clear vision of how to



proceed with US policy in the region. In particular, it is striking that the
African Bureau did not advocate a shift in basic US policy at this time. It
noted that developments in the region had “opened the door to far-reaching
changes affecting the entire southern African region”, of which the main
danger was “the Soviet Union and the People’s Republic of China
presumably look upon the developing situation as an opportunity to develop

relationships with Angola and Mozambique”.?* Indeed the African
Bureau’s positive assessment of Tar Baby is particularly striking. While the
report acknowledged it was an imperfect balancing act which resulted in the
loss of some political support in the region, it did allow the US to maintain

relationships on both sides.?> Crucially, it determined that from a “recent re-
examination of our policies, we concluded that the delicate balancing act
we have performed has served us well in protecting our conflicting interests

in black and white Africa”.?® Therefore, the African Bureau’s position was
aligned with Kissinger’s thinking on Africa in this period.

In this context, it is surprising that Kissinger labels the African Bureau

as “missionary zealots”;?’ the evidence would suggest that officials in the

Bureau were also sceptical of the progress black African liberation groups
could achieve at this time. In relation to Angola, African Bureau staffer W.
Paul O’Neill sent a memorandum to Donald Easum on 17 September 1974
outlining “we [...] believe that Angola will be the most troublesome
problem but do not intend to become involved in supporting any one faction
over another [... and] we will continue to offer encouragement while

maintaining a ‘hands-off’ attitude”.?® So despite Kissinger’s contempt for
the African Bureau, it was actually still endorsing the policy of “Tar Baby”.
This is interesting as on a wider international stage, Kissinger and US
representatives at the United Nations (UN) portrayed a more positive tone
towards African self-determination, therefore, running contrary to the
ongoing internal analysis advocating the US to remain aloof.

On 23 September 1974, Kissinger told the UN General Assembly
(UNGA) in New York,

The United States notes with particular satisfaction the continuing
process of change in Africa. We welcome the positive demonstration of
cooperation between the old rulers and the new free. The United States



shares and pledges its support for the aspirations of all Africans to
participate in the fruits of freedom and human dignity.?®

Furthermore, US Representative to the UN, Barbara M. White remarked on
the complicated conditions in Angola that made it more challenging than
other Portuguese-African territories. She noted

the existence of several liberation movements in Angola makes the
problem of decolonization in that territory more complicated than it
was in Mozambique and Guinea-Bissau. We hope that the movements
may resolve their differences expeditiously so that decolonization can
proceed and the establishment of the structures of a new self-governing

Angola can begin”3°

Yet such sentiment of hope was swept away as the Angolan situation
rapidly deteriorated in November 1974 amidst the first ominous signs that a
potential vacuum could emerge once Portugal finally departed the country.

Easum’s trip to Africa and its consequences

On 7 November 1974, the US embassy in Tanzania reported that Tanzanian
President Julius Nyerere had told US Deputy Chief of Mission (DCM)
Gordon R. Beyer of his failure to unite the MPLA factions together or
create a common front between the MPLA and the FNLA. The
consequences of this was emphasized explicitly by Nyerere who warned
that civil war was looming. More importantly he foresaw external
competition for influence emerging, chiefly between the Cold War
superpowers. Such a stark analysis of the Angolan situation clearly
prompted Beyer to reassure Nyerere that he would pass on his concerns
about the possibility of Angola descending into civil war and its wider

implication for the region.?! However, Nyerere’s warnings may also have
been a reaction to the disappointing meeting with Easum a few days
previously. Easum was on an exploratory trip to gauge African reaction to
events in the Portuguese territories and also to judge their response to US
policy of non-involvement in the aftermath of the change of leadership in
Portugal.



On 3 November 1974, Easum met with Nyerere and re-iterated that the
“US supported rapid and peaceful movement towards independence in

Angola and that the US understands that the principal obstacle to effective

negotiations between Portugal and the liberation movements”.3?> However,

this statement merely repeated the same jargon that Tar Baby had
established, which was to try and have the best of both worlds and where
the US would continue to remain aloof in the region. Such an attitude
betrayed US hopes that Portugal would ensure an orderly transition and
bring the Angolan liberation groups to the negotiation table. At the
conclusion of the meeting, Nyerere expressed his hope that the US would
not remain truant as Portugal withdrew and instead would act more

decisively to help Angolan self-determination.>® His emphasis on the
potential for civil war may have been an attempt to force the US to get
involved by indicating that the Soviets could gain an advantage in the
country. On 22 November 1974, while in Angola to meet US Consul
General Tom Killoran, Easum held a meeting with Lucio Lara, who was the
MPLA leader Augustine Neto’s closest aide. Despite being Marxist
orientated Lara assured Easum that the MPLA had not “mortgaged its

independence of action”.3* Indeed he made it clear that the MPLA was
open to any alliance which helped their goal of becoming the first
government in an independent Angola. Despite Nyerere’s hope for a full US
engagement with the Angolan issue and Lara’s assurances, the US was
cautious to get involved in any of the decolonization process in Angola.
This was evident through a Congressional question and answer session held
on 28 November 1974 which raised the issue of the US role in African
decolonization and how it compared with Soviet and Chinese efforts. The
State Department outlined that the US had no active role and had not

attempted to influence the pace of the changes.>® In response to
Congressional probing, State Department officials repeated the Tar Baby
mantra of having

mutually beneficial relations with these countries, we do not believe
that we should play an active role. We have thus not attempted to
influence either the pace or the mechanics of decolonization, which we
believe are best left to those directly concerned — the Portuguese and

the Africans.3®



Therefore, at this point, the African Bureau was not stepping out of line to
push for US—African policy realignment to fit the new political landscape in
sub-Saharan Africa. Nor was it pushing for greater US involvement in
facilitating the Angolan liberation groups to negotiate a peaceful settlement
to avoid a civil war and potential Soviet encroachment. However, despite
this, Kissinger was incensed by Easum’s trip to Africa and this triggered a
period of hostility towards the African Bureau. This would escalate over the
following year. So what lay behind such a strong reaction by Kissinger?

The answer can be found in the last days of the Nixon administration
when Kissinger sought to create a better “institutionalization” of the State
Department to make it less bureaucratic and easier to run. At this time he
stated

I welcome different recommendations — it is the only way by which I
can learn, and by which I can check my own perceptions [...] so I want
as much — I want free discussion with the Department — but I will hold
the Assistant Secretaries responsible for the position that the

Department takes to the outside world.?”

Therefore, Kissinger thought Easum’s trip was a deliberate attempt to
undermine his authority as chief statesman, and to some extent this was true
as Easum later admitted that he undertook the trip in order to gain some
attention for the African Bureau as “the bureau was pleased to get his

attention—one way or the other”.3® Historian Daniel Spikes also addresses
Easum’s unenviable position with Kissinger arguing

that events taking shape in southern Africa screamed for dynamism and
innovation. But whenever Easum pressed African issues in Washington
policy forums, ‘where occasional General Idi Amin jokes were much in

style,” it only earned him his boss’s legendary scorn.3?

However, while Spikes accurately depicts Kissinger’s cynicism of African
leaders, the archival evidence would suggest that the African Bureau were
not consistently trying to engage in discussion throughout 1974. In the
context of Angola, there is little indication to suggest that Kissinger’s
pledge to Zairian Foreign Minister, Umba-di-Lutete in August 1974 was
acted upon. In response to Lutete’s Angolan concerns, Kissinger told him



“you were wise to have come here. You have succeeded in attracting my
attention to Angola, much to the dismay of my colleagues, I am sure. I will
do something about it”.*? Yet the autumn of 1974 did not bring about a
focus on Angola, instead Kissinger homed in on Easum for attempting to
establish stronger relationships with the independent African states. In an
interview many years later, Easum recounted “I think the real issue was that
Kissinger didn’t understand Africa, or Africans, and didn’t want to, and

didn’t want to be bothered, and thought that somehow I could just keep

everything quiet, and wouldn’t bug him”.*!

Yet Easum’s trip to Africa disrupted this understanding and Kissinger
reacted swiftly to ensure this disobedience would be punished. On his
return, there was a sense of inevitably within the State Department about
Easum’s fate. He later reflected there was a sombre mood within the Bureau
awaiting the instructions from the seventh floor. He recalled he was
perceived as

guilty of too much attention from the press, too much regard for
African opinion, and too much initiative in the policy arena [... and
when] Kissinger’s Senior Deputy Robert Ingersoll called me into his
office to describe — but not to explain — some personnel changes the

Secretary had decided to make.*?

These changes would result in his sacking as Assistant Secretary of State
for African Affairs after only 11 months in charge and his redeployment to
Nigeria as the new US ambassador. His reaction to the news was
instructive, “I was not interested in asking Ingersoll what lay behind these

maneuvers [sic]. I knew enough. There would be no trial”.43 The decision
was met with some criticism as Bruce Oudes detected

many observers here [in Washington, DC] were struck by Kissinger’s
monumental rigidity in the Easum affair. All he had to do was sit back
and slowly gather himself the credit for Easum’s highly professional

diplomacy. But, as one diplomat here put it, “there are no little

Kissingers”.#*

With Easum’s departure, Kissinger was now determined that his
replacement would be more docile and be kept in line. However, his



surprising decision to appoint Nathaniel Davis only helped to agitate
Africans who were frustrated at Easum’s sacking. The main reason for their
discontent revolved around his lack of experience in African affairs, but
also his controversial tenure as the US ambassador in Chile at the time of

President Salvatore Allende’s assassination.*® The accusations that Davis
was involved in the covert destabilization programme that helped overthrow
Allende had seriously damaged his reputation and career. It is within this
context that Davis entered the African Bureau, where the prevailing wisdom
was to keep quiet and perform as Kissinger expected, mainly quietly and
out of sight. Such a blatant disregard for African affairs ensured that the US
further damaged its credibility amongst African nations in the early months
of 1975. As a result, Kissinger found himself on the defensive and his
bellicose endorsement of how Davis was chosen to add greater impetus to
US—African policy would prove to be a controversial point in light of their
subsequent disagreement over US—Angolan policy.

Conclusion

In the midst of this internal reshuffle, the real issues of the Portuguese
decolonization of its African territories were somewhat lost. The New York
Times drew attention to the plight of Angola on 23 October, 1974, carrying
one editorial predicting that the country could go two ways by claiming it
“could easily become the Brazil of Africa as a racially mixed nation rich in
mineral resources with a growing industrial base, or it could just as easily
become Africa’s Vietham where death and violence become our only

predictable condition”.#® Such a stark contrast emphasized the real need for
substantial development aid in order to help the Angolans transition from
Portuguese rule in an orderly manner. While it could be argued that the
Portuguese should have been primarily responsible for this endeavour, it
was apparent that their domestic divisions and general eagerness to
disengage from Africa were creating a potential vacuum for which the
Soviets and the Chinese could take advantage of. Despite the October 1974
ceasefire agreements between the MPLA and the FNLA to suspend their
attacks on Portuguese troops, their intense hatred of one another meant a
fragile peace by the end of 1974. Therefore, Nyerere’s predictions of the
threat of civil war were becoming more of a reality and this was reflected in



reports by US Ambassador to Zaire, Deane R. Hinton who signed off 1974
by warning that the

PRC, USSR, Portugal, South Africa, Zambia and Zaire to say nothing
of whites and various African factions in Angola, may have
incompatible ideas re [sic] nature and orientation of future Angolan
state. Prime US interest is peaceful transition to Angola at least not

hostile to US. But risk of civil war and of stepped-up outside

intervention is real.4”

Therefore, the developments in US—African policy in the 1960s and
early 1970s illustrate a consistent lack of US concern about African affairs.
While it has been well established that Africa was low on the list for
Kissinger and Nixon it should be noted that the African Bureau failed to
take advantage of the developments of the Carnation Revolution over the
summer of 1974 and its refusal to advocate a different approach in multiple
reports over the course of late 1974 resulted in a lost opportunity in Angola.
For his part, Kissinger’s own prejudice augmented this failure. Instead his
focus switched to clearing out the African Bureau, which in itself is a
surprising decision given that the Bureau, besides Easum’s African trip in
late 1974, had not created a sustainable challenge to Kissinger’s African
policy. His decision to appoint Nathaniel Davis was designed to further
nullify any African Bureau attempts to address the imbalance in US foreign
policy toward the region. The next chapter will analyse the conflict that
Kissinger created between the OAU and the US over the Davis nomination
and illustrates that his defence of Davis created dilemmas in US—African
policy that were exposed after the collapse of Vietnam in April 1975.
Despite receiving warnings of the escalating situation in Angola, it was the
perceived credibility crisis post-Vietnam that sparked Kissinger’s real
interest in Angola. This would see a dramatic shift from a policy of non-

intervention to the pursuit of covert operations in Angola within six months.

1  Henry Kissinger, Years of Renewal (London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1999), 800. Kissinger
ridiculed the African Bureau claiming that until he started to make changes to it in the mid-
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2  The Davis Nomination and the
crisis of credibility in US foreign
policy

Introduction

On 15 January 1975, Portuguese officials and the three Angolan liberation
groups, the MPLA, the FNLA and the UNITA gathered for a meeting in
Alvor, Portugal. The purpose of the meeting was to establish a framework
and timeline for the orderly transfer of power to a transitional Angolan

government that would oversee Angolan independence.! The Alvor
Accords were built upon earlier conversations that month which culminated
in the Mombasa Accords, where the Portuguese recognized the Angolan
liberation groups as legitimate entities and acknowledged that a transition
period was necessary. The mood of the Portuguese government and the
military at this time was to a certain extent one of relief. While there was
glaring inadequacies in the Alvor agreement, such as the expedited
timeframe for elections and independence, for the Portuguese it sealed the

foundations for a transfer of power to take place on 11 November 1975.2 It
provided a finite solution to the Angolan issue, yet on a practical level it
ignored the damaging legacy of centuries of Portuguese rule. The timeline
established at Alvor required substantial planning and experience to form
an independent Angolan government. This was highly unlikely given that
most Angolans were poorly educated and not involved in civil
administration. This was deliberate on the part of the Portuguese, who
sought to ensure obedience from their Angolan subjects by denying them
access to such critical components of running a country.



In this regard, Angola was different from other Portuguese-African
territories which were granted independence. This view is captured by
political scientist Linda Heywood who observes that

unlike their counterparts in other regions of Africa, where African
traditional authorities wielded local power or where members of the
educated elite had participated at some level in the government, none
of the Angolan nationalists had ever held a responsible position in

government, and only a handful had any civil experience.?

Therefore, without educated elites or experienced public servants, the bulk
of the transition work would need to be completed by the liberation groups.
As a result, it was always unrealistic to transition these groups from
guerrilla warfare to political parties capable of engaging in elections and
running a parliament within nine months of the Alvor agreement. The
conditions for an Angolan civil war were already embedded within that
agreement, yet the decision by the US and other outside powers to covertly
interfere in the process only served to exacerbate and hasten the collapse of
the Angolan transitional government. On 22 January 1975, an interagency
group chaired by Kissinger to oversee covert actions known as the 40
Committee, authorized $300,000 of financial aid to the FNLA for political
purposes. However, an additional proposal to give $100,000 to UNITA was
rejected as the group were a relatively unknown quantity to the US and was
seen as the least likely group to gain power in the aftermath of Angolan
independence.

The justification behind this decision to give relatively nominal
assistance stemmed from the State Department perceived view that the
Soviet Union would not provide significant aid to the MPLA to enable them
to overcome their internal difficulties. Despite the Soviets resuming their
support to the MPLA in late 1974, it was believed that the MPLA were the
weakest of the Angolan coalition government due to their narrow base of
support with the Angolan people and their inferior military. Therefore, the
US identified the FNLA as the strongest group to support in order to gain
influence in the country. This was also helped by the apparent abandonment
of key MPLA leadership and military strength around this time, as MPLA
leader Daniel Chipenda left the group along with 2000 soldiers to join the
FNLA ranks. Yet while the process of Angolan independence had been



initiated and the first stages of covert US assistance was underway, the
criticism of Kissinger’s decision to replace Donald Easum with Nathaniel
Davis as Assistant Secretary of State for African Affairs was creating more
consternation among the African community. In response, Kissinger was
forced to issue a strong public endorsement of Davis’ abilities to the OAU,
in order to offset any perception that Davis was an official who excelled in

covert destabilization efforts.* This initial defence of Davis has been largely
overlooked in previous publications, but it is an important part of the
overall chain of events that led to US intervention in Angola.

Therefore, in this context, this chapter initially focuses on how the Davis
nomination dominated the discussion on African affairs in the first few
months of 1975 and Kissinger’s distraction with Vietnam and his own
fading reputation. Yet with Kissinger preoccupied with larger scale
problems such as the collapse of Vietnam, communist infiltration of the
Portuguese government and the Turkish invasion of Cyprus, his only
concern with Africa was to ensure that ‘his man’ for the African Bureau
was selected. However, this determined approach by Kissinger essentially
helped create false expectations for both Davis and the OAU. By
emphasizing Davis’ selection as bringing initiative and imagination to US—
African policy, both the Africans and Davis could justifiably imagine that
they had Kissinger’s full confidence to address African issues.

Developing from this point, the subsequent pressure the US faced is
explored as Portuguese control over the Angolan transition process was
breaking down, including the Portuguese military refusing to intervene to
restore the peace. The US decision to give an initial $300,000 to the FNLA
in January 1975 resulted in the group launching a sustained attack on the
MPLA throughout the early part of 1975. This course of action deliberately
sought to eliminate the MPLA quickly after the Alvor agreement in order to
ensure superiority in the new Angolan government. Yet at the same time
UNITA also began to make overtures requesting aid from the US on the
basis that they were better suited to govern Angola in contrast to the MPLA
and the FNLA who were engaged in violent acts. Although the US was
slowly involving itself in Angola in early 1975, it was not until the visit of
Zambian President Kenneth Kaunda to the US in April 1975 that serious
public pressure was applied on the US to take more notice of the precarious
state of the region. Specifically, Kaunda’s decision to publicly attack the
Ford administration had the effect of forcing Kissinger’s attention toward



African concerns. However, as the dust began to settle on the Davis issue
and with Kaunda’s visit provoking some embarrassment, Kissinger was
faced by a much larger and more serious problem when South Vietnam
began to disintegrate and fall to the North Vietnamese in April 1975.

This leads onto the final section in this chapter which discusses the US
mindset after the collapse of Vietnam and how it provided the catalyst for
Kissinger’s decision to increase his attention on Angola. Simultaneously it
also created the conditions for the rapid deterioration of Davis’ relationship
with Kissinger and introduced the notion of US credibility into Angolan
affairs. Specifically, Kissinger’s perception of a credibility problem was not
shared by other State Department officials and this was the fundamental
problem with his push for Angolan intervention. Although it must be noted
that Kissinger had not been impressed with Davis’ performance even before
Angola became a focal point. In particular he viewed Davis’ introductory
trips to African leaders with disdain, much as he did with Easum’s trip the
previous year. Yet it was Kissinger’s fear of the repercussions of the US’
defeat in Vietnam that led to a deepening rift between the two men as
Angola came into mainstream focus in US foreign policy. The inability to
definitively break the linkage of US foreign policy and Vietnam resulted in
the escalation of events in Angola, much to the detriment of Angolan
society.

An outstanding officer: Kissinger’s defence of the Davis
nomination

The firing of Donald Easum sparked criticism from African nations who
felt Davis’ appointment was a step backwards. In particular, his link to the
overthrow of Salvator Allende in Chile caused great concern in Zambia and
Zaire. This is reflected during a meeting between Zambian Prime Minister
Mark Chona and Foreign Minister Vernon Mwaanga who told US
Ambassador to Zambia, Jean Wilkowski that other African countries were
concerned, not against Davis personally but due to the fact that he served in
Chile at the time of Allende’s overthrow by the military.> This was
compounded by Zairian criticism when on 21 January 1975, Zairian
President Mobutu Sese Seko condemned the US, more pointedly



Kissinger’s decision to appoint Davis. Mobutu was especially irate at the
decision to remove Easum who he praised as a

great diplomat [who] has a rich experience of Africa [...] we were
greatly surprised not only to learn that he was leaving but also — and
above all — when we learned that his replacement is the former
American Ambassador to Chile at the time of the death of President

Allende.®

Such veiled criticisms did not go unnoticed by Kissinger who responded by
sending the newly appointed US Ambassador to Zaire (Deane Hinton) to
reassure Mobutu that “President Ford has every confidence, as do I, in
Nathaniel Davis and sees no valid reason for withdrawing his nomination as
Assistant Secretary. I consider him an outstanding officer in every sense of

the word”.” Furthermore, Kissinger faced domestic opposition to his
selection as the Congressional black caucus also raised concerns over
Davis’ suitability for the role. This formed part of a larger problem for
Kissinger who resented the increasing influence that Congress had sought
to play in the conduct of foreign policy since 1973 with the passing of the

War Powers Act and later the Hughes-Ryan Amendment in 1974.8 These
restrictions were a legacy of the Nixon administration, and the legislative
branch had slowly been encroaching further on the executive branch’s
decisions on foreign policy. However, in the context of the Davis
nomination, the legislative branch sought to frustrate the Ford
administration by opposing the Davis nomination and by visiting Africa to
publicly oppose his appointment. Indeed, Congressman Charles Diggs (D-
Michigan), Chair of the House Foreign Affairs Subcommittee led the
largest delegation of US Congressmen to an African country when they
attended the African-American conference in Kinshasa, Zaire in late

January 1975.9

During the conference Diggs wrote to Ford expressing the dissatisfaction
of the Congressional black caucus on the nomination and the danger that
the African Bureau could become a diplomatic graveyard for the US
diplomatic service by stating “speculation is that Africa continues to be of
minimal priority for the US and that AF Bureau will become the dumping

ground for retirees and other difficult candidates to assign”.! This



observation was also reported by a scholar of US—African relations. Bruce
Oudes wrote that the decision to replace Easum was part of Kissinger’s plan

to order a heavy influx into the Africa Bureau of career diplomats with
no previous African experience. Since these new faces presumably had
no desire to remain involved in African affairs over the long term [...
they] could be counted upon loyally and unquestioningly to implement

Kissinger’s policy concepts.!!

However, at the time, Diggs’ remarks drew an immediate response from the
Ford administration and Kissinger. In a staunch defence of Davis’
credentials Kissinger proclaimed “Ambassador Davis is one of our leading
career Foreign Service Officers with a distinguished record at home and

abroad”.' In addition, Kissinger directly confronted the concern of a
Chilean shadow over African policy by emphasizing the lack of real
authority US ambassadors wield stating “ambassadors are not the creators
of policy [... the] decisions are made in Washington [...] these decisions

may later become unpopular; we cannot, however, stigmatize the

ambassador or foreign service officer who did what he was told to do”.3

While such a remark is based upon fact, it also raises a question as to why
Davis followed unethical orders during his time in Chile and whether this
would impact his decision to not repeat this mistake when such a difficult
situation presented itself again. However, in early 1975, this type of diligent
Foreign Service Officer was exactly what Kissinger wanted in the African
Bureau.

Furthermore, as Piero Gleijeses points out, Kissinger wanted someone
“who didn’t have those sorts of ties to Africanists and to the whole African

point of view”.!* In essence, Kissinger saw Davis as an opportunity to
install a disgraced Foreign Service Officer who he thought would be more
than compliant to his Cold War views and keep the “missionary” bureau in
line. However, Kissinger made a serious political miscalculation on the
issue and the African backlash continued unabated for the first three months
of 1975. Yet despite this turn of events, Kissinger went on the offensive in
his justification of Davis’ appointment. In a series of public opposition
announcements on Davis, the OAU passed a resolution in February 1975
condemning the selection of Davis declaring



the Council of Ministers considers it its duty to call attention to [the]
fact that, in view of Mr. Davis’ well-known past, most especially his
implication in “the policy of subversion” in Latin America, the African
governments are entitled to wonder what that nomination portends

within the framework of American policy.

Such unprecedented action showed the level of unhappiness of a significant
amount of African states, but rather systematic of Kissinger’s thinking of
Africa, the public objection only served to strengthen his resolve. This was
illustrated on 25 February 1975, when the Washington Post quoted
Kissinger stating “to suggest that such a man has a mission to ‘destabilize’
Africa, a continent with which we have enjoyed excellent relations, and in
whose development it is our policy to assist, is unacceptable and

offensive”.!® It is clear that Kissinger grew increasingly frustrated by the
continuous inference that Davis was chosen to destabilize the region.
However, his defence also created false expectations for African nations
and for Davis himself. This is illustrated in the Congressional Record where
the full response to the OAU is captured. By trying to defend Davis,
Kissinger publicly elevated African policy to high importance and misled
Davis to believe that he would be heavily involved in future US—African
policy decision-making. Neither of which were true. This can be seen in his
comments outlining that

Ambassador Davis [...] is a brilliant career officer in our Foreign
Service [... and] the post to which he has been nominated is one which
we attach very great importance. Mr. Davis was selected in order to

give impetus and inspiration to our African policy.!”

In addition, Kissinger condemned the OAU for its decision to publicly
criticize the Davis nomination rather than privately. He argued that such
action was unfair on Davis by stating that the US was

truly saddened to learn of the manner in which the Council has
besmirched the reputation of this outstanding man who was selected
precisely because we believed that he possessed the breath of view and
the compassionate understanding for a new approach in this vital

position.'®



However, Kissinger’s aggressive defence of Davis and criticism of the
OAU had the desired effect as the public statements stopped. This was
reflected on by OAU Assistant Secretary General Peter Onu who told the
US chargé in Ethiopia, Samuel J. Hamrick Jr. that the “OAU statement
might have been wrong both in approach and in substance and he deeply
regretted its personal implications for Davis [... as in hindsight] quiet
diplomacy might have been the best way for Africans to discuss their

reservations”.'® While Kissinger’s tactics worked to silence the OAU,
elements of the African media escalated the rhetoric about Davis’ role in
Chile and his perceived role as a CIA specialist in coups d’état.

Some African newspapers, especially in Nigeria, Ghana and Zambia
reacted strongly against the Davis nomination. The Nigerian Times (Lagos)
printed an editorial that contended

that [the] Davis nomination is not purely [a] domestic issue as claimed
by US but is [a] further sign of possible USG intention [to] expose

African states to “kind of Operations CIA has perfected and carried out

in some Latin American countries”.20

The theme of Davis being involved with the CIA continued in the
Ghanaian Times (Accra), a government owned newspaper, which carried
headline titles that drew attention to the OAU resolution on Davis as
“Africa Objects to CIA Man” and Kissinger’s subsequent letter condemning

this action, “Kissinger Bitter over OAU Criticism of CIA Man”.’! A more
pointed criticism of US— African policy was made in a Times of Zambia
(Dar es Salaam) editorial which took aim at the Ford administration,
arguing

the US persists in reading the African continent backwards [...
because] how can an administration which has an inkling of what is
going on in the continent take the African job from Donald Easum and
give it to, of all people, Nathaniel Davis? [...] did he [Easum] fail to

follow the CIA line in policing Africa???

Although the local media stories only provide a snapshot of the African
reaction to Davis, they do highlight that Davis was entering into a very
hostile environment. Despite the criticisms and media coverage, the US



Senate duly appointed Davis as the new Assistant Secretary of State for
African Affairs on 11 March 1975.

The entire episode raises some interesting questions, such as what did
the debate mean in the context of subsequent events in Angola and what did
it say about Kissinger’s views on Africa? While Kissinger’s defence of
Davis was understandable on the point that the nomination was a US
domestic decision, his statements are also open to criticism on the basis of
subsequent Angolan developments. It exhibited insensitivity to the local
issues and concerns for African representation, and in particular his
assertion that Davis was chosen to provide substantial input and initiative
into African policy which was deceptive. He specifically chose Davis in
order to have someone he thought he could control and whose career had
pointed towards a quiet efficiency in the midst of controversial policies. Nor
would he undermine Kissinger’s authority or openly question US—African
policy. As Easum later recalled, “Nathaniel Davis [... is] polite, he’s bright,
he’s smart, he’s intellectual, he’s super careful, cautious, and goes a little
slowly”.?3 Such a description met Kissinger’s criteria for the African
Bureau, as he envisioned no significant problems in Africa in 1975, but the
whole nomination process only served to deflect attention away from
emerging violent events in Angola as tensions between the FNLA and the
MPLA escalated.

Portuguese nonchalance and Kenneth Kaunda’s visit to
Washington

As the debate over the Davis nomination played out in public, events in
Angola were turning more sinister as the FNLA and the MPLA conducted
limited but bloody engagements over the course of the spring of 1975.
While there had been skirmishes between the two groups since the
transitional government was formed on 31 January 1975, the major fighting
began in March 1975. While this can be partly attributed to external funds
and arms being provided to the groups, there was also a distinct lack of
action on the part of the Portuguese to keep the peace. This is illustrated by
US Ambassador to Portugal, Frank Carlucci who expressed his reservations
about the Portuguese commitment to ensuring a peaceful transition to
independence noting “In GOP [Government of Portugal] view both public



and private, [that] January 1975 Alvor Accord outlining framework for
Angolan future marked clearcut [sic] break in Portugal’s responsibility and

obligations in ex-colony”.>* His view was reinforced by the decision on 24
March 1975 by the Portuguese government to issue a communiqué stating
that they would only intervene wherever necessary in order to assure
indispensable peace and order. However, Carlucci warned that if a civil war
broke out before independence in November 1975, the Portuguese would
not assume responsibility and would act in strict adherence to the Alvor
Accord. He also noted that the Portuguese army in Angola would probably
ensure that no action was taken, especially after their past experience in

dealing with decolonization of Guinea-Bissau.> As the violence escalated
throughout March 1975, Carlucci concluded that the disorder and violence
in Angola “demonstrates how Portugal neither has the will nor the
capability of major military intervention to save the precarious peace in

Angola”.?5 Yet these reports from Carlucci appear to have had little to no
impact on Kissinger’s view of Angola at the time and he continued to
regard it as a peripheral matter to the events in Portugal itself and the
imminent collapse of Vietnam. It must also be noted that by this time the
relationship between Kissinger and Carlucci was frayed due to differences
over the tactics of US policy towards Portugal.

Yet Carlucci’s reports provide an intriguing insight into the Portuguese
mentality toward Angola at the time. There was an apathy from military and
government officials such as Portuguese Chief of Naval Staff and
Revolutionary Council Member, Pinheiro Azevedo, who argued “the three-
party coalition was unrealistic and that a civil war would eliminate the weak

and pave the way for a one-party state”.?” This attitude was systematic of
Portuguese racism and eagerness to dissolve itself of Angolan problems. It
was also becoming noticeable, even by the end of March 1975 that the
FNLA was being armed and influenced by foreign powers when Portuguese
High Commissioner in Mozambique, Admiral Victor Crespo raised
suspicions to the US consulate that the Angolan situation was being
manipulated by outside influences, including the US. The consulate, not
aware of the covert $300,000 approved for the FNLA by the 40 Committee
in January 1975, noted

though Crespo did not specifically name the United States in
connection with foreign intervention. Context and tone [...] indicated



[...] he was pointing a finger at us, at least as far as he may think we
are behind Zaire’s support of FNLA.?8

Yet despite the early warning that the limited US funding was creating an
imbalance in the Angolan situation, the State Department attempted to
cover its position when it cabled the US mission to the UN in New York
stating that

although [the] GOP is neither able nor perhaps inclined to concentrate
much attention on Angola, it has demonstrated its concern [...] to
complete decolonization process as peacefully as it can. Since we share
Portuguese objective [...] we would not want to be in [a] position to be
charged at some later date with obstructing this process or otherwise

interfering with it.?°

However, such statements were a contradiction with US actions as it was
actively involved in trying to manipulate the transition process from the
very onset of the Alvor agreement. In addition, the premise that the
Portuguese were making an effort to ensure a peaceful transition was
questionable as reports were emerging of a breakdown between the
Portuguese government and the remnants of its African army. This was
clear when Carlucci repeated his point on the lack of willpower within the
Portuguese armed forces noting “indiscipline is a serious and mounting
problem in the Portuguese army and past experience in Guinea-Bissau has
indicated that once [...] a colony has been taken, troops will not risk their

necks for the sake of law and order”.3® On a political level, Carlucci

expressed the view that the Alvor Accord was “Portugal’s rather than

Angola’s ticket to freedom”.3! Nevertheless the Portuguese did manage to

engineer a precarious ceasefire at the beginning of April which helped to
temporarily ease tensions. At this time, Under Secretary of State Joseph
Sisco met with Davis and his African Bureau deputy Ed Mulcahy, and the
other members of the African Bureau to review the Angolan situation and
report to Kissinger and receive instructions on how to proceed while the

ceasefire held.3> However Kissinger’s attention was primarily focused on
the dramatic events in Vietnam which ensured Angola was pushed down the
list of priorities and was not deemed in immediate danger of a Marxist
takeover.



This report was given to Kissinger a week later on 4 April 1975 and
while it remains heavily sanitized it shows how US officials perceived the
evolving situation in Angola in its early stages and its implication for future
US policy. More specifically, it helps shed some light on the timeline and
implications of US aid. In his memoirs, Kissinger claims that it is an
absurdity to believe that the 40 Committee decision in January 1975 to give
the FNLA financial aid of $300,000 influenced its decision to attack the
MPLA. He argues that Soviet documents have shown they planned to arm
the MPLA in a major way from December 1974 and that the weapons and

equipment began to arrive in Congo-Brazzaville in early spring 1975.33
However, Kissinger’s view has been questioned by historian Raymond
Garthoff who explains that while the Soviets did begin to move significant
quantities of arms from March 1975 onwards, the initial injection of US aid
to the FNLA

encouraged [Holden] Roberto to make a bid for power despite the
Alvor Accord [... and this] attempt to seize power was probably the
principal blow to upsetting the delicate attempt to get the three groups

to share power and compete politically.>*

However, others such as Fernando Andresen Guimardes interpret the
situation differently and argue that

by February and March [1975], US covert assistance could not yet
have a significant effect, the burgeoning strength and confidence of the
FNLA, as well as the mere rumours that the CIA was backing Holden
Roberto, created the impression that the conflict was about to escalate

to another more bellicose level 3>

The truth lies somewhere in the middle, for while the Soviets introduced
more heavy equipment and arms in the spring of 1975, the Angolan analysis
by Davis, William Hyland and Winston Lord clearly shows that by early
April 1975, the MPLA was “inferior to FNLA in military strength [... and]
recent clashes in Luanda may have been intended by FNLA as a show of
force to impress Portuguese officials and the MPLA”.36

Furthermore, US Consul General in Angola Tom Killoran reported that
the FNLA were not sophisticated enough to make use of their superior



strength and “were forced to action by the constant provocations of MPLA
[... however in the recent violence] FNLA came out the loser”. Perhaps the
most concerning piece of Killoran’s report is the description of the
ineptitude of the FNLA and their ill-discipline, where he outlined “MPLA

irregulars seemed on a number of occasions to have the upper hand and the

FNLA was reduced to fits of rage and wild assaults on anyone in sight”.3”

Therefore, it is clear that even in early 1975 the FNLA faced serious
internal problems and lacked leadership amongst its ranks. Yet in a wider
context it was also apparent that neither the MPLA nor the FNLA’s
behaviour would inspire any confidence in their leadership of an
independent Angola. This is an important point as it was apparent to US
officials in Africa that getting involved in Angola would be a serious
mistake. Moreover, it was an early warning to roll back US aid to Angola
before the stakes were raised any higher. This was highlighted for
Kissinger’s attention by Davis, Lord and Hyland in the 4 April 1975
memorandum which argued that “US interests would not be served by an
MPLA victory in Angola [... but] do not believe US interests are
sufficiently important to justify the political risks of getting more deeply

involved”.3® So, therefore, even before the fall of Vietnam, Kissinger was
confronted with analysis that questioned the reliability and effectiveness of
the FNLA to win the Angolan elections and provide the country with strong
leadership after independence. However, by this stage US actions had
already begun to cause a ripple effect.

While Kissinger’s subordinates were flagging the dangers of backing the
FNLA, one of the other Angolan liberation groups, UNITA, felt
emboldened to tentatively approach the US for assistance. It hoped that the
fighting between the FNLA and the MPLA showed the US that both were
unsuited to govern Angola after independence. Indeed, UNITA sought to
portray itself as the third option, one which could provide a compromise
and preserve some level of the status quo. On 24 March 1975, UNITA
indirectly requested $2 million in financial aid from the US through the
American embassy in Canada, arguing that it was the only Angolan
liberation group that represented the majority of the Angolan population
and that it would “guarantee continued white presence and has the
capability to save Angola from communist domination through Soviet-and

AFM-backed MPLA or Zairian imperialism exercised through FNLA”.3°
Such a statement is striking given the many years the Angolan liberation



groups sought to break free from the shackles of white Portuguese rule.
This is further illustrated in the remarks of UNITA emissary Dr Joaquim
Fernandes Viera who argued that the group was being marginalized as the
MPLA were receiving “unlimited funds from the Soviet Union” and the

FNLA were accepting support from Zaire.*® Viera reported that the Alvor
Accord was in the process of collapse as “antagonism between the FNLA
and MPLA was mounting almost daily [... and] will lead to a civil war

between the two by May [1975].4! The US political counsellor in Ottawa
noted

that the moment was not particularly propitious for the type of US
intervention he [Viera] desired given the public attention and criticism
that had been generated by similar activities in Chile [in 1973 ...] a
sudden acquisition of wealth by UNITA would be likely to raise

suspicions and lead to revelation of the source of the funds.*?

This was especially relevant given the warning by Portuguese Admiral
Victor Crespo about Zaire’s ability to fund the FNLA to launch increasingly
violent attacks on the MPLA earlier in the month. Yet what is apparent is
that the FNLA and UNITA actively sought US assistance which presented
the US with a dilemma over how to assist them or whether to deny further
aid and risk driving them to covet Soviet support.

Over the course of the spring of 1975, the New York Times journalist
Charles Mohr reported that in the midst of the fighting between the FNLA
and the MPLA, Jonas Savimbi and his UNITA group were emerging as the
“political surprise” in Angola. Mohr confidently reported that if the
transitional government could survive until independence on 11 November
1975, UNITA would out perform its rivals as “there is a consensus in
Angola that perhaps no single liberation movement would win a clear
majority in balloting. But there is a growing feeling that Mr. Savimbi and
his organization would run well ahead of the others”.#3 Such optimism over
the future of UNITA was greatly enhanced when Zambian President
Kenneth Kaunda visited the US in April 1975, intent on gaining the
attention of Ford and Kissinger on the plight that southern Africa faced as
Angola spiralled out of control.

In his memoirs Kissinger states that “only on the rarest occasions does a
single state visit change American national policy. Yet [...] Kaunda



managed to accomplish precisely that feat when he came to Washington”.**

During the 19 April 1975 meeting with Ford and Kissinger, Kaunda
attempted to engineer more support for Savimbi by saying that he would be
the compromise choice for President of an independent Angola, as neither
the MPLA leader Augusto Neto or FNLA leader Holden Roberto would

allow the other to preside in that position.*> In addition he argued that
Savimbi possessed statesman attributes which had impressed many African
and foreign officials including Portuguese Foreign Minister Melo Antunes,
who Kaunda stated had told him “without Savimbi we would not have
reached an accord with the liberation movements for the transition of

Angola to independence”.*® However, despite Kaunda’s endorsement of
Savimbi, his main argument was centred on his criticism of US—African
policy and how it had been consistently placed at the bottom of US foreign
policy since 1966 and that as a result issues had arisen from the rapid
Portuguese decolonization process that demanded closer attention from the
US. He called for a re-evaluation of US—African policy in the region as
“events may overtake you and the US could find itself even fighting on the

side of the racists”.%” Noting that US attention was understandably drawn to
the imminent collapse of Vietnam, Kaunda nevertheless expressed his
expectation that once the political ramifications had cooled, “we hope that
when your pressing issues in other parts of the world are resolved, you

could have time to pay some attention to southern Africa”.*® Yet Kaunda
was politically astute to realize that in order to spark a reaction in US—
African policy he would also have to make an effort to publicly state his
views.

His remarks at a State Dinner held in his honour at the White House on
21 April 1975 helped apply pressure on the Ford administration to change
its African policy, stating “what gives Zambia and Africa great cause for
concern is [...] America’s policy toward Africa — or it is the lack of it,

which of course can mean the same thing”.*® While Kissinger has
subsequently credited Kaunda’s private meeting as the instigation of a shift
in the US approach to Africa, it was Kaunda’s decision to publicly criticize
US—African policy that forced the Ford administration to seriously look at
Angola. The tone of Kaunda’s dinner speech was captured in the New York
Times who quoted Kaunda’s remarks:



can America still end only with declaration of support for the
principles of freedom and racial justice? This I submit, would not be
enough. Southern Africa is poised for a dangerous armed conflict.

Peace is at stake. Urgent action is required.”®

Yet while Kaunda’s visit was timely, it did not spark the instigation of
US covert action in Angola that would develop over the summer of 1975.
More revealing are Kissinger’s remarks during a staff meeting before
Kaunda publicly criticized the Ford administration’s African policy. During
the meeting, Kissinger focused on the future of US foreign policy in the
aftermath of Vietnam and in particular the consequences to US credibility.
He remarked “I think, in the aftermath of Indochina, we better show that

we’re not so easily pushed around”.>’ One of the first opportunities to
enforce this was to involve the US on a larger scale in Angola. In the
aftermath of Kaunda’s visit, Kissinger ordered an Issues Paper on Angola
and requested that the CIA develop a programme of assistance for Savimbi.
It also marked the beginning of tensions between Davis and Kissinger as
the new Assistant Secretary found himself under personal attack from
Kissinger, whose private outbursts were far removed from the strong public
defence of Davis only a few months earlier.

The fall of Vietham and its impact on US—-Angolan options

On 1 May 1975, Davis submitted the report that Kissinger requested on
Savimbi. Despite the report remaining heavily sanitized, it is clear that
Davis wished to explicitly warn Kissinger that Savimbi’s willingness to
seek help from any outside state would adversely affect any covert
operation the US could give him. He argued “the wide knowledge of
Savimbi’s solicitations and subventions makes me sceptical that US support

could long be kept secret”.>® Yet Davis’ arguments did not resonate with
Kissinger who was adamant that if the US did not support UNITA, the
Soviets would fill the void. Therefore, the risk of US covert aid being
exposed was not the primary factor for Kissinger — it was a test of US
willpower after Vietnam. This rationale exposes Kissinger’s weakness of
putting too much emphasis on credibility, rather than approaching the
situation with a nuanced understanding of the legislative and public



consensus of avoiding operations in Third World countries. Davis
concluded that the US had nothing to gain from involving itself in an
increasingly likely civil war as he believed “at most, we would be in a
position to commit limited resources, and buy marginal influence”, but
more importantly

we might find ourselves drawn in deeper very fast, as the fighting
produces more intense pressures for arms and ammunition — as well as
money. The political price we might pay — as reports of bloodshed and
alleged atrocities multiply — would, I believe, exceed the possibility of

accomplishment.>3

Davis’ analysis was based on the reality of the fractured domestic political
consensus. He also realized that the Soviets were in a far stronger position
than the US in this particular situation as they did not have any constraints
placed upon them if Angolan aid had to escalate, unlike in the US. When
these factors were combined the Angolan situation could be arguably seen
as another potential Vietnam scenario. Despite Kissinger’s subsequent
attempts to portray Davis as weak, it is clear that Davis’ analysis was to
avoid any further unnecessary entanglements which were helping to
undermine domestic support for US foreign policy — and more crucially to
avoid situations where the US could not realistically generate a favourable
outcome.

In Davis’ view, if US covert aid was exposed it would cause a backlash
which would see all aid cut-off and leave the Ford administration exposed
to similar charges of secrecy and illegal activities as those levelled at the
Nixon administration following the Watergate scandal. Yet Davis’
observations of the fallout from Vietnam were in direct opposition to
Kissinger’s perception. Specifically, Davis believed that there was no vital
national interest at stake in Angola and that the US domestic consensus was
not strong enough at that time to support covertly assisting parties in a
Third World civil war. However, in the aftermath of Kaunda’s visit and the
collapse of South Vietnam, Kissinger had decided that the US had to start
engaging in the next Third World conflict to restore or at least preserve the
idea of credibility in US foreign policy commitments. As he became more
convinced that action was necessary to ensure this, Angola would become
the focal point for his plans.



On 5 May 1975, Kissinger pressed Davis for a paper on Angola as he
had decided that the US could not ignore the Soviet aid being given to the
MPLA before the inevitable civil war due to erupt in the country. Kissinger
snapped “I want to know exactly what our position should be, whom we’re

going to support. We’ve got to support somebody. It is total nonsense in a

civil war situation to say we don’t have a preference”.> In a sense,

Kissinger wanted Davis to create a US national interest in the country to
justify US involvement and was growing concerned that regional leaders
such as Kaunda had the audacity to tell the US to fund their preferred
Angolan group without knowing all the facts. He remarked

I have to have an understanding of what the American interest is. We
cannot just waffle around about elections when there are three armies

and when Kaunda says, “Just pick our guy and we’ll take care of an

election for you”.>®

His level of agitation increased when Davis wanted input to the Angolan
paper before it was submitted but would be unable to do so until his two-
week African tour was completed. Kissinger responded by firmly telling
Davis

I’m not going to read cables every day about Angola and not know
what the hell is going on, so you better get me a paper by the end of the

day [or] tomorrow. How you do it is your problem.>®

Therefore, it is clear that the collapse of Vietnam and Kaunda’s visit had
helped substantially alter Kissinger’s mindset regarding Angola. Despite
being largely ignored over the previous year, Kissinger had now deemed
Angola a priority that needed immediate attention and required covert US
involvement. Unlike his previous statements to the OAU earlier in the year
that Davis was selected to provide “impetus” and “inspiration” to African
policy, Kissinger viewed Davis’ cautious approach as resembling Easum’s
African thinking in late 1974. It was also becoming apparent that Davis
would not follow his Angolan instructions without raising objections.

To make matters worse for Davis, Kissinger thought that any level of
caution or unwillingness to endorse a covert intervention should be deemed
a sign of weakness or defeatism, and the sort of missionary liberalism that



had ultimately held the US back in South Vietnam. Such a disturbing trend
could, in Kissinger’s view, turn into a larger problem that would become
systemic within the conduct of US foreign policy for the future. Hence the
strong reaction from Kissinger towards Davis during the meeting when he
remarked

so what are we going to do — go around like a fuzzy old grandmother
urging restraint on three parties [... and urge for] restraint on what? [...
ultimately] we’re going to get stuck with it when it’s over in some way.
At least, we’re going to have a position [...] the position has to be

something else than running around asking for restraint.>’

Yet this remark also appears to be at odds with general US policy towards
Africa since Kissinger endorsed the Tar Baby option in 1969. By telling
Davis that the US was going to have to deal with Angola after the civil war
and that the US needed a concrete position, Kissinger’s position is
somewhat ironic. For years he neglected African affairs and warnings that
the racial struggle would eventually turn in favour of black majority rule
and was content not to have a concerted African policy in order to have the
best of both worlds between the whites and the blacks. Yet this was not a
moment of clarity on Kissinger’s part, and recognizing the past failings of
US—African policy. Throughout the spring of 1975, Angola was deemed a
low-level problem until Vietnam collapsed. The link between the US defeat
and the events leading up to Angola in Kissinger’s thoughts is unmistakable
as it marked a break from US passiveness and ensured that Angola was now
tied into the wider context of US credibility in the immediate post-Vietnam
foreign policy agenda. Up until this point Kissinger had largely ignored
repeated warnings that related to the instability of sub-Saharan Africa after
the collapse of the Portuguese empire in April 1974. It is only after the
collapse of Vietnam that the credibility argument and the fear of losing the
region to Soviet influence began to heavily feature in the Secretary’s
foreign policy agenda.

On 7 May 1975, Kissinger chaired a staff meeting dedicated solely to
analysing the damage to US credibility throughout the world. The main
objective for Kissinger was to assess what other countries thought of the US
as a result of the failure in Vietnam. While Deputy Assistant Secretary of
State for African Affairs Ed Mulcahy reassured him that in Africa there was



“an amazingly sparse amount of criticism”, the warnings from other regions
is instructive from the point that it drew more attention to the toxic US
domestic environment in Washington, DC and its impact on US foreign
policy more so than on the Ford administration’s will to confront the
Soviets. As Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs William
D. Rogers informed Kissinger, Latin American states worried less about the
actual collapse of South Vietnam but were concerned

that the recent experience with respect to Vietnam [... has cast doubt]
about the extent to which we have control over foreign relations in this
country, the extent to which there is a fundamental shift in power from

the executive to the legislature.>®

While most of Kissinger’s staff were optimistic that there would be no long-
term damage to the image of the US as a result of the collapse of Vietnam,
it is clear that Kissinger was more concerned with its impact as he stated “I
see more intelligence reports that indicate undercurrents of concern than
these oral reports indicate, infinitely more. And I am much more concerned

with what they think when we tell them we want something done”.>® The
level of debate throughout the meeting illustrated a fracture of consensus
between State officials who believed that US credibility was compromised
and those who thought that Vietnam should be removed from dominating
the discussion of the future direction of US foreign policy.

This schism was illustrated by Under Secretary of State Joseph Sisco’s
assertion that American power was not an issue, but US appetite to confront
dangers was weakening. He claimed “it is not a question of anybody really
basically feeling that our power has diminished in any way. It is a question

of will and intent”.®® On the same side of this argument was Assistant
Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific affairs Philip Habib who
argued “for twenty years a lot of countries, including Asian countries, have
looked up [sic] the US shield as impenetrable [... and] they now see the

shield as [sic] full of holes” .5 Therefore, it is clear that Kissinger was not
alone in thinking that US credibility was affected. However, others such as
Policy Planning Chief Winston Lord disagreed with this assessment and
advocated a break from linking future decisions with the failings of
Vietnam as “I think Vietnam has been magnified by [...] the legislative
paralysis [... and] I think we have to separate out Vietnam per se from what



has gone just before it in the last few years”.5? This forms part of a larger
argument that overall US foreign policy had been consumed by
considerations of Vietnam since the early 1960s; most American politicians
saw Vietnam as more important than it really was in US foreign policy. As
Assistant Secretary of State for International Organization Affairs William
Buffum noted

if there is any common denominator, a perception on the part of most
people that Vietnam has loomed overly large in our own eyes. They
[other nations] have never viewed it with the same degree of

seriousness [as] we have, particularly [in] the third world.®?

The evidence shows that there were significant amounts of cable traffic in
the period before and after the collapse of Vietnam to give weight to the
charge that the domestic political situation in the US was far more relevant
to foreign states than the question of American credibility. In fact, many
countries saw the defeat as relatively positive for the US and indeed
themselves as they believed it would mark the end of the US preoccupation
with Vietnam.

In Europe, Danish and Swedish media printed editorials astutely
commenting that in the aftermath , the post-Vietnam US could benefit from
more traditional interests in Europe. The US consulate in Denmark reported
that The Berlingske Tidende (Copenhagen) thought “the climate of US
public opinion has not been well served by the ‘exaggeration’ by US
leaders over the ‘loss’ of Indochina and the effect that would have on US
credibility in Western Europe”.%* Furthermore an editorial on 20 April 1975
in the Swedish newspaper Sydsevenska Dagbladet (Malmg) argued that the
US could now focus more on its real interest in the core frontier of the Cold
War as after

10 years of war and 50,000 fallen Americans [America has] fulfilled its
obligations as an ally [... and] Indochina has not been a vital interest to
the US but Western Europe is [...] therefore the march out of
Indochina makes the US a stronger ally, where the American interest is

natural and proper for all parties concerned.®®



This view was also held by Swedish Prime Minister Olaf Palme who told a
Social Democratic Party meeting on 19 April 1975 that

in various places, not the least in Western Europe, there are people who
assert that [...] the US has lost its credibility [...] but it is exactly the
opposite, now that a grim and hopeless from the beginning war is over

[sic] [...] there is finally a chance for the US to regain its Credibility.e’6

So, there was some level of doubt over US credibility abroad, but it was
limited in its scope. Most states still believed that the US would stand firm
in Europe and that while Vietnam was a well-intentioned stand against the
spread of communism in South-East Asia, it had descended into moral
ambiguity as the conflict sucked the US deeper and deeper into the jungles
of Vietnam. As a result of having to withdraw, the effects on the US were
subject to further interpretation in the European media. The Berlingske
Tidende (Copenhagen) carried an editorial on 14 April 1975 which raised
the point that

the doubt about US credibility is greater in the US than it is in Europe
[... so the] the problem is not a failure of confidence by Western
Europe in the US. The problem is the shaken self-confidence of the

Americans themselves.®”

This view was also represented in the United Kingdom (UK) media where
The Times (London) argued that

the result of US failure in Indochina has been a serious loss of
confidence — not [...] among America’s allies but with the US itself. It
is this rather than the fall of Vietnam that could gradually erode
America’s influence abroad if it is not resolved with [in] a reasonable

time.58

Perhaps more pointedly, the US embassy in London concluded that while
most British officials accepted US assurances that it would defend Europe if
attacked

our British friends wonder about our capacity to execute a coherent
policy — not because of any lack of will of the Ford Administration but



because of our difficulty in the past few months to find a domestic
political consensus to support our foreign policies.%”

However, despite these encouraging signs over US credibility, the
decision was made that action was the best form of assurance. As Ford
would later recall, in the aftermath of the humiliating retreat from South-
East Asia

in the spring of 1975, our allies around the world began to question our
resolve [...] as long as I was President [...] we would not permit our
setbacks to become a licence for others to fish in troubled waters.
Rhetoric alone [...] would not persuade anyone that America would

stand firm. They would have to see proof of our resolve.””

The archival evidence suggests that Ford’s claims are not fully accurate.
While there was some level of concern over US willpower, it stemmed
more from the fractured consensus in Washington, DC that had developed
over the course of the previous decade. On 13 May 1975, the “Angolan
Options” paper was submitted to Kissinger. The report addressed
Kissinger’s request to expand upon options to actively support one or more
of the liberation groups. It outlined the current level of funding the US had
given to the FNLA as well as listing various advantages and disadvantages
of escalating covert aid to the FNLA, and for the first time it outlined the
distribution of covert aid to UNITA. Yet to Kissinger’s disappointment the
African Bureau recommended that the US should not get covertly involved
in Angolan affairs and advocated a continuance of Tar Baby to keep all

options open so that “if developments move in a direction contrary to US

interests, we should be in a position to reconsider our courses of action”.”!

This was swiftly followed by an Issue Paper on Southern Africa submitted
on 15 May 1975 which was fundamentally a rehash of the analysis of
previous Issues Papers on the region submitted in late 1974. In his memoirs,
Kissinger berates such analysis arguing that “when the State Department
bureaucracy chooses not to oppose a policy with which it disagrees, it
deploys its masterful skills in evasion”.”?> On this point, Kissinger is correct;
the Issues Paper outlined no options on how to deal with future conflict in
Angola and gave him no choices on how to proceed. His anger was



apparent during a staff meeting held the next day on 16 May 1975 when he
savagely attacked the conduct of the African Bureau by claiming

we’re going to wind up — if we keep piddling around like this, we’re
going to wind up with a Congo type situation in Angola. And if we
keep clucking like an old mother hen with a policy saying, “Maybe
we’re going to do this; maybe we’re going to do that.” I’ve got to know

what we’re going to do.”3

His main concern was not that US actions could exacerbate a civil war, but
how to react to such a civil war when it erupted in order to be on the
winning side.

Yet he wanted to be sure about winning, hence why he insisted upon
knowing more about the strengths and weakness of supporting with the
FNLA or UNITA, or both. At this time, it was reported that the FNLA were
in the stronger position militarily and that UNITA were predicted to win in
the elections if the country could avoid a civil war. Therefore, he felt
relatively confident about Angola at this stage, but he wished to capitalize
on this advantage quickly before an increase in Soviet arms created a
stalemate in Angola. His main criticism of the paper was that

the basic point of your memo is it gives me a choice of whose shoulder
to weep on. Do we weep with Zaire, with Zambia? It does not define
what will really happen if this thing blows up [... and] your prediction
is of much less interest to me than a course of action on the basis of

foreseeable contingencies.”*

Simultaneously, Kissinger was tentatively assessing the damage caused to
détente by the collapse of Vietnam. When he met Soviet Foreign Minister
Andrei Gromyko in Vienna on 19 May 1975, he tried to convey to
Gromyko that the Soviets should not see the situation as an opportunity to
seek unilateral advantage elsewhere as such actions only served to
undermine détente. However, Gromyko took the opportunity to subtly
gauge US and indeed Kissinger’s intent towards Angola as he remarked

wherever there are Soviet arms, on the other side there are American
arms [... let’s] take Africa as an example. There are Soviet arms, but



again, more American arms [... and] when a war starts with the arms
of both sides, every time are we to quarrel? Are we to allow that to lead

to the heating up of relations?”>

Kissinger’s response was diplomatic but struck a distinctly different tone,
hiding his own intentions for Angola, as he told Gromyko

therefore both sides should — on the basis of reciprocity — look
carefully at situations where our actions could cause embarrassment to
the other [... and] I think both sides should show restraint in situations

where indirectly it could lead to problems.”®

Despite this attempt to influence Soviet involvement in Angola, privately he
chastised the African Bureau and Davis for advocating a level of restraint
and wanted to maximize US influence in Angola.

Historian Raymond Garthoff has similarly commented “for the period
from spring 1974 to the summer of 1975 the United States considered
competition with the Soviet Union in Angola normal behaviour under

détente”.”” One of the reasons for this was that Kissinger believed that the
US was in a superior position and this was bolstered with evidence from the
US consul in Luanda, Angola (Bruce Porter) who cabled to inform
Washington, DC that the FNLA had a plan to seize control over Angola by
moving all their troops and material from Zaire into the country during
June, in addition to obtaining heavy arms with foreign finance and
recruiting Portuguese soldiers disaffected by the MPLA. The final objective

was “at the end of July [to] attack and annihilate [the] MPLA in Luanda”.”®
With reports that the FNLA were consistently stronger over the first half of
1975, Kissinger felt confident that if he could forge a covert aid programme
to assist them, he would be able to halt Soviet expansionism and secure a
quick victory for the US in the Third World arena. He felt this would go a
long way towards addressing any credibility issues in the aftermath of
Vietnam. However, as Piero Gleijeses observes, consistent FNLA attacks
had actually hardened the MPLA’s resolve to fight a fully-fledged civil war
to eliminate their rivals and “at the same time, the military balance was
shifting in its favor. The arrival of weapons from the Soviet Union, and [...]
from Yugoslavia had greatly reduced or even eliminated the FNLA’s

advantage in hardware”.”” As Kissinger’s resolve solidified, he ordered



NSSM 224 on Angola on 26 May to fully explore all options to present to
Ford in advance of any decision to intervene. Yet as Jussi Hanhiméki points
out and what this book helps to expand upon, is Kissinger’s search for
alternatives was premised by his hunt for courses of action that better suited

his penchant for an active response to events in Angola.?

Conclusion

The sudden shift in Kissinger’s position on Angola in May 1975 was a
result of misplaced emphasis on US credibility. The conflict in South-East
Asia had come to dominate the foreign policy agenda for so long that
Kissinger was unable to separate the impact of Vietham and US policy
towards Angola. In addition, his inability to treat the Angolan Civil War as
an indigenous conflict and not as a testing ground for showing that the US
still could compete in the Cold War was misguided. This is illustrated by his
comments on multiple reports and analysis from Davis and others within
the State Department over the course of the first six months of 1975. These
warnings should have been considered more closely in order to avoid
getting involved in Angola.

Furthermore, the theme of Portuguese nonchalance was omnipresent
throughout the spring of 1975 and despite the confident assertions by
Portuguese Foreign Minister Melo Antunes that the Portuguese would
address the Angolan violence, it was clear that the situation was already

hopelessly beyond their control.8! As US DCM in Lisbon Herbert S. Okun
reported

the GOP and the man in the street share the feeling that Angola is a
closed book which they would not like to see opened [... and] there is a
general agreement [...] that the Portuguese army in Angola will not
fight. Nobody wants to be the last man to die as Portugal walks out the

door of Africa.8?

However, such a reality only served to concern Kissinger more as it left a
potential vacuum to be filled by the Soviets in the region. As Walter
Issacson notes “though complex, even ingenious, in its design, Kissinger’s
realism began with a simple premise: any event should be judged foremost



by whether it represented a gain for the Soviets or for the West in the

overall global balance”.83 Such an outlook created a schism between Davis
and Kissinger over Angolan policy. Despite his strong defence of Davis to
the OAU through the early months of 1975, Kissinger never expected Davis
to have a serious role in the formulation of policy decisions regarding
Africa. Yet as a by-product of his endorsement, Davis felt confident to
make suggestions that did not conveniently relate to Kissinger’s Cold War
strategy. This clash of views created a tense atmosphere during the Angolan
debate in June 1975 when Kissinger dismissed the recommendations made
by the NSC Task Force who reported back ahead of schedule on 13 June
1975 and spelled the beginning of the end for Davis as Assistant Secretary
of State for African Affairs only months after Kissinger staunchly defended

him to the Africans.
1 The Alvor Accords established the criteria for independence as the following: it appointed a
Portuguese High Commissioner to oversee the transition process and

formed a Prime Ministerial Council with a member from each group
participating, allotted ministries to the three groups, and called for
the drafting of a constitution, established an electoral law and
registering voters. The settlement also required pooling 8,000
guerrillas from each movement with 24,000 Portuguese troops

remaining until a phased withdrawal between 1 October 1975 to 1 February 1976. See George
Wright, The Destruction of a Nation: United States’ Policy Toward Angola since 1945 (London:
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3 Linda Heywood, Contested Power in Angola: 1840s to the Present (Rochester: University of
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To No Distribution (NODIS) (1), NSA Country Files, Africa General, Zambia, GRFL: 2.
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3  The fallout

Kissinger, Davis and the State Department

Introduction

The narrative of the US decision to covertly intervene in the Angolan Civil
War is well known through the excellent work of historian Piero Gleijeses
and by various other historians such as Thomas Noer, Jussi Hanhimdki and
the memoirs of Henry Kissinger, Roger Morris, Nathaniel Davis and
Raymond Garthoff. In general, most of the Angolan literature that focuses
on the events in June 1975 begin with how Kissinger disagreed with NSSM
224, more commonly known as the Davis Task Force report that was given
to him on 13 June 1975. Instead Kissinger pushed for active solutions
during an NSC Senior Review Group (SRG) meeting on 19 June and again
at another NSC meeting on 27 June. Yet there is still a gap to be addressed
on the evolution of that decision and how Kissinger systematically
undermined attempts to keep the US out of Angolan affairs even before the
conclusions of the Davis report were discussed. Furthermore, there is
further evidence on how regional actors such as Zaire played on Kissinger’s
perception of a credibility problem and how such pressure became a crucial
element in Kissinger advocating an interventionist approach in Angola.

This chapter explores in detail the increasingly fractured relationship
between Kissinger and Davis over the Angolan debate. His objections have
been portrayed as being primarily motivated by his own fear past events,

specifically in Chile.! It has been previously argued that this resulted in
Davis deliberately trying to stymie Kissinger’s foreign policy agenda. As a
result, the narrative has been influenced to depict a weak and self-serving
man who feared for his career. In subsequent historical studies and memoir



accounts of events, Davis has been unfairly treated. This is illustrated by
Daniel Spikes who argues that Davis believed

that his name would again be tarnished by association with a US covert
operation if [...] it became public. In his dread, Davis became
paralysed. With his head frozen, the entire task force became
immobilized. For weeks the frustrated Secretary of State “repeatedly”
requested the task force’s report, while Angola, oblivious to

Washington’s bureaucratic meanderings, rushed to its destiny.?

Indeed, Spikes views were later added to by Kissinger himself in his
Memoirs:

Davis’s opposition to a covert operation in principle meant that the
issue the President wanted most to address could not be dealt with:
whether the national interest obliged the United States to resist the
projection of Soviet power in Southern Africa by the only practical

means, which were of necessity covert.>

However, this is not an accurate reflection of Davis.

First, Angola was not an urgent priority for Ford at this time, in fact the
evidence suggests that Ford played little or no part in seeking an Angolan
solution. It was Kissinger who at every stage tried to shape the agenda to
suit his own preferred course of action. As for Spikes’ charge that Davis
became paralyzed, this is also at odds with the evidence. Davis tried to
convey the substantial dangers of engaging in Angola and unlike Kissinger
who was concerned with the perception of foreign countries, Davis looked
toward the shattered domestic consensus and correctly judged that the US
Congress and the public would not tolerate another intervention so soon
after the collapse of Vietnam. In addition, he was joined by Policy Planning
Director Winston Lord, a trusted advisor of Kissinger’s, who voiced similar
anxieties about involving the US in southern Africa. Therefore, Davis was
not a lone ranger attempting to save his own reputation, nor was he
someone who did not have the stomach for covert operations. In contrast,
his actions illustrate he was somebody that was strong enough in his view to
challenge Kissinger’s absolute authority as he genuinely felt that the US
would lose further credibility on the world stage if it intervened in Angola.



Yet there were also local concerns feeding into the situation, such as the
Zairian influence on US foreign policy toward Angola. This chapter charts
the shift in US position from the start of June 1975, when Zaire requested
the US to open up a dialogue with the Soviets to halt the shipments of arms
into the country. It also outlines the active and indeed encouraging approach
taken by Mobutu, enticing the US to covertly aid Roberto and Savimbi
against the MPLA. Specifically, it illustrates Mobutu’s manipulation of the
situation following the US failure to enter into a dialogue with the Soviets
over Angolan arms shipments; he increased the stakes, accusing the US of
being involved in a coup against him and promptly expelled the US
Ambassador to Zaire, Deane Hinton. His bold decision paid immediate
dividends as Kissinger, eager not to lose another ally, sent two US officials
to Kinshasa to discuss Angola. Yet Mobutu also had domestic reasons for
pursuing such action, as he wished to distance himself from allegations in
the African media that he was just a US lackey. However, the whole Zairian
episode and Kissinger’s eagerness to initially diffuse and subsequently use
it to his advantage against those who opposed him on Angola resulted in the
US failing to seize upon an opportunity to unite African countries against
the Soviets. The conditions were present for Kissinger to engage Tanzania,
Zambia, Nigeria and Zaire to apply pressure on Moscow, but they were
ignored. Such a diplomatic course of action would have benefited the US in
the short and long term as it would have been perceived in African circles
as removing the Cold War lens from the region.

Finally, the chapter discusses the NSC memorandum written in response
to questions raised by the SRG on 19 June 1975, and shows that the DOD
was also against any intervention in Angola. Hanhimédki argues that the
NSC meeting on 27 June “was not about Angola. It was about the global
credibility of American foreign policy in the wake of the collapse of

Vietnam”.* This analysis is correct, and led by Kissinger the other options
were framed in such a way that made them look weak compared with the
active option. Kissinger persisted despite CIA Director William Colby’s
caution that action in Angola could further damage the intelligence agency
which was already under severe scrutiny from Congress. However, Ford
was convinced that the risk was justifiable in the context of US credibility
in the immediate post-Vietnam period. As a result, Colby was ordered to
come up with options to actively support the FNLA and UNITA.



Tunnel vision: Kissinger and the Davis report

Kissinger’s dismissive views on the conduct of the African Bureau were
apparent on 6 June 1975 when he told Ford

my people want to “let the democratic process” work. That is total
nonsense. There is none. My instinct is we should work with Mobutu
and through him with Roberto [... and] the Soviets are pushing Neto of
the MPLA. Kaunda is backing Savimbi. I don’t think we want

Communists there.®

However, there was no mention of the reports given to Kissinger on the
ineffectiveness and general incompetence of the FNLA, nor the concern
that Savimbi was canvassing all sides in an attempt to compete with the
MPLA and the FNLA. Instead the focus was to utilize Mobutu and Kaunda
to funnel arms and resources to Angola, which was seen to have two
benefits. First, it would counter Soviet arms to the MPLA. Seconda priori, it
showed Zaire and Zambian leadership that the US was willing to intervene.
On 9 June 1975 during a staff meeting, Kissinger repeated his emphasis on
the importance of the US—Zairian relationship when he chastised Davis for
choosing not to include Zaire in his second African trip. Davis told
Kissinger that given Zaire’s economic concerns, it would be better for him
to delay such a trip until Mobutu had decided if he was going to turn to the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) for assistance or try to solve it himself.
However, the fragility of Zaire was the least of Kissinger’s concerns at this
time as he told Davis “I think we have plenty to talk to Mobutu about,

including Angola”.® Kissinger’s outlook on the situation emphasized the
importance he placed on having influence in the Angolan capital, Luanda,
as he complained to Davis “what kind of nonsense is this? They [MPLA]
happen to be strong in Luanda”. He chastised Davis and the African
Bureau’s analysis, comparing the events of Zaire in the 1960s by stating

they happen to be strong in Kabinda [sic], which is the biggest thing.
Where else is the bush? [... and] I’ve been trying to understand for six
weeks what the hell is going on [... and] all I try to understand is when
somebody says, “how did Mobutu take over the Congo?” — by taking

over the bush or by taking over Leopoldville?”



In response, Davis put forward the theory that a political settlement
resulting in a division of the country was more realistic as after the dust had
settled “a partition of the country is probably more proper”, Hyland
concurred stating “they’re [MPLA] not strong enough outside of Luanda
and Kabinda [sic] [... and] failing a political settlement, a partition — a de

facto partition of the country — is inevitable”.8 However, Kissinger was
more focused on the impact of US nonchalance in the region and how
Mobutu would perceive such an act. In addition, he wanted to win in
Angola, the memory of a compromised solution resulting from the division
of a country bore too many similarities to the conflicts in Korea and
Vietnam.

Instead Kissinger told Davis

I would like to hear what Mobutu really has in mind because he is one
of the chief actors. I know what Kaunda has in mind. And if we can
find out what Mobutu really has in mind, then I think we can make a
judgement on what, if anything, we should do — whether we should

stay out or whether we should throw our weight anywhere.’

As a result, Kissinger instructed Davis to visit Mobutu in Zaire on his
upcoming African trip as he felt that Davis would endear himself to Mobutu
in the process, and, therefore, address the difficult situation that occurred
during the nomination process where Mobutu attacked his appointment.
Kissinger told Davis “he’ll [Mobutu] think a lot better of you if you go
there and have a cold-blooded discussion. Mobutu will love you”.19 Yet
Davis remained unconvinced and only agreed to consider it. Such
insubordination was met with a sharp rebuke by Kissinger who told him
“Nat, when I want you to go you’re going to go, whether you think it’s good

or not”.!! Ultimately Davis did not visit Zaire on his African trip, most
likely due Kissinger wanting to send someone who would actively engage
Mobutu in discussing an active solution to the Angolan problem. On 12
June 1975, Davis sent a memorandum to Kissinger outlining the courses of
action the US could take if it decided to actively involve itself in the
Angolan situation. However, Davis cautioned

I would be delinquent in my responsibility to you if I did not say that
my colleagues in this Bureau and I believe that the benefits to us of



embarking on the covert and military assistance actions outlined in
these papers would be far from commensurate with the risks

involved.1?

Yet he was not supported by Sisco and Hyland who both disagreed with
Davis’ assessment, which is surprising as only days previously at a 40
Committee meeting, Sisco recommended avoiding any engagement to
Kissinger, telling him it “might be the best course [... if] we can concede;
not do anything and let nature take its course [... after all] Angola is not of

great importance.”!3

There was some support from the Director of the PPS, Winston Lord,
who wrote a memorandum to Kissinger on 13 June 1975, the same day the
Davis Task Force submitted its paper on NSSM 224. Lord’s argument
closely mirrored Davis’ objections, specifically relating to the absence of a
direct and vital national interest. Furthermore, the chances of success were
so remote it also increased the risk another defeat for the US, which would
inevitably have an impact on US prestige so soon after Vietnam. Lord told
Kissinger

I think it would be a serious mistake for us to try to counter with our
own military assistance or covert action program. Such actions — even
short of use of US forces — seem to me to be far out of proportion to
US interests as they can plausibly be defended to Congress and the

American public, much less to foreign opinion, including our allies.

His concerns over the potential damage to US credibility were grounded on
the inability to keep US arms a secret as he stated

even with a major effort, we cannot be sure of turning the situation
about in Angola [... and] the USSR would seem to command more of
the chips than we do. I do not believe we should choose to contest with

the Soviets in a place where our interests are so minimal.!®

Yet Lord also had another valid concern about intervening in Angola, which
was “should the fighting get out of hand — as well it may — with massacres
of whites as well as blacks, our involvement with any of the participants
would be extremely awkward for us”. However, there was some contrast



between Davis and Lord, namely the extent that Lord felt the diplomatic
and political initiative was not viable as he stated, “that not much is likely
to come of such efforts”. Instead he suggested a serious examination of the
risks involved, including a call to act through the UN rather than go it
alone. He concluded

if we do decide not to get further involved, a UN initiative to restrict
outside involvement would prove more embarrassing to the USSR than
to us [... so] I do suggest that before you start down any of these paths,

the risks involved in these actions be thoroughly examined.®

Therefore, the primary evidence shows that Davis’ main objections and
rationale for them were shared by one of Kissinger’s most trusted advisors.
This is an important point in the context of the Kissinger-Davis relationship.
In subsequent years, Kissinger has attempted to alter the image of Davis’
role in his memoirs, portraying him as a man who lost his nerve for covert
operations after Chile. In addition, he is depicted as someone who was
anxious to avoid further legislative investigations. He suggests that “Davis
turned out to be willing, indeed eager, to implement conventional wisdom,
which meant non-intervention”, and indeed his view was trivialized as
being supposedly influenced by his experience before the Church
Committee investigated alleged wrongdoings of the CIA; it was concluded

“he clearly had no stomach for covert operations”.!” Yet Lord, nor others
who objected to the Angolan operation, have been singled out by Kissinger
for criticism in his subsequent memaoirs.

On 13 June 1975, the Response to NSSM 224, also known as the Davis
Task Force report was submitted to Kissinger. The report was a
comprehensive study of the Angolan situation and outlined three options
that the US could pursue; neutrality, diplomacy and active support. The
advantages of the neutral option were outlined as keeping the US out of a
“risky and expensive involvement in a situation whose outcome would be

beyond our control”.!® This neutral option would also keep the active role
open if the US decided to intervene at a later stage and “would not require
the administration to expend any political capital to win Congressional
support and/or funding for more action programs”.'® In addition it would

allow the US to “counter charges of manipulation and interference and
diminish the charges that the FNLA and UNITA are controlled or are



heavily influenced by the United States”.?® On the negative side, it was
deemed that it could cost the US influence with the FNLA and UNITA if
they took over Angola, as well impacting adversely on US—Zairian
relations.

As for the diplomatic option, the advantages encompassed “shifting
competition to the political arena” which would improve the FNLA’s and
UNITA’s position, while simultaneously working with Tanzania, Zambia
and Zaire to reduce the arms supply and reduce the chance of a big power
confrontation. Other strategies included encouraging the Portuguese to take
more responsibility in the hope it could gain Congressional or public
support. However, such an option had its risks. It was deemed that pursuing
this course of action could alienate the FNLA and UNITA by restraining
their freedom of action, and “despite assurances of support for peaceful

settlement, it is questionable that the USSR or other interested countries

would actually cooperate”.?!

The third option presented was to actively engage in assisting the FNLA
and UNITA. The benefits of choosing this course included the dual
enhancement of “US political credit with the FNLA and UNITA as well as
simultaneously heal[ing] US—Zairian relations”. Yet the disadvantages were
considerable and involved committing US resources and credibility to a
scenario where the outcome was not favourable and where the US could
exercise limited influence at best. It was also seen as potentially increasing
Soviet and other external state involvement. The report warned if the US
was to get involved and such action was exposed it would “have a negative
impact on our relations with other Angolan factions, with other African

states, with Portugal, with Socialist and third world countries, and with

large segments of the US public and Congress”.??

Reflecting on the report a few years later, Davis wrote that the task force,
“in its great majority, did favor an effort to achieve a peaceful solution
through diplomatic-political measures” as it would shift the attention back
towards the political arena and essentially keep the country from
experiencing a big power confrontation by recognizing that it was an

African problem that required an African solution.?> However, the report
fell short of what Kissinger wanted. In particular he was unhappy with how
the African Bureau did not align with his preferred option of intervention.
Instead the general consensus within the African Bureau was to avoid
getting involved. However, comments made by Kissinger a week after the



report was submitted illustrate just how much of an impact Kaunda and
Mobutu’s actions had had on Kissinger’s rationale to commit US resources
to Angola. He told his staff “forget for a moment how important Angola
itself may be. I am concerned about the impact of Nyerere and Kaunda and

Mobutu when they see we have done nothing”.>* Years later, Deputy
Assistant Secretary of State for African Affairs, Ed Mulcahy, revealed the
tense atmosphere that enveloped the Davis—Kissinger relationship at this
time and how the memory of Vietnam was a central factor in the analysis of
whether to engage in Angola:

This represented a departure from the division of power in the world
and the Soviets were not supposed take over places in Africa. [... and]
we were also conscious of what had happened in Vietnam. Nat Davis
as Assistant Secretary was terribly conscious of the dangers of CIA

hanky-panky from his days in Chile.?

The debate on Davis’ motives varies between sources. Historian Thomas
Noer argues that “Davis saw intervention in Angola as wrong [... and]
Kissinger was appalled by Davis’ position and its support within the State
Department. He saw Davis and others as prisoners of the Vietnam

syndrome”.?® This label was given to those who saw US intervention in
Vietnam as fundamentally wrong. Indeed Trevor McCrisken has provided
criteria to define when these “prisoners” believed US force was justified,
namely where “just cause can be demonstrated, the objectives are
compelling and attainable, and sufficient force is employed to assure a swift
victory with minimum of casualties”.?” His harshest critic is Daniel Spikes
who argues that Davis was more concerned about the potential damage the
Angolan episode could do to his career rather than any form of genuine
concern that the US was making a mistake by involving itself in the
Angolan Civil War. Striking a similar tone to Kissinger, Spikes argues that
Davis found himself in the midst of another potential crisis

that could blow up in his face just as easily [... as it did in] Chile. He
had miraculously escaped the furore over Chile relatively intact; one
more brush with scandal, however, and his carefully nurtured career

could be destroyed.?®



However, former NSC African staff member Roger Morris observed that
Davis, far from being naively grateful that Kissinger rescued his career,
actively sought to challenge policy that could damage his reputation. He
remarked that such an outlook “helps explain in part how and why Davis
dissented as the Ford Administration wilfully blundered into a highly

visible ‘covert’ intervention in Angola in the summer of 1975”.2% While it
is true that Davis’ reputation was impacted by events in Chile, his actions to
challenge Kissinger’s Angolan policy are not directly linked to it. In fact, by
openly challenging Kissinger on Angola he knew he was going to be
severely impacting his career. As a result, it is not fair for Spikes and others
to claim that Davis was a damaged State official. The easy option would
have been to agree with Kissinger’s Angolan policy and raise no objections,
as this was exactly the type of official that Kissinger wanted in the African
Bureau. But Davis chose to speak up and object, not on the grounds of
ethics it must be said, but because he understood that Angola was not a
place for the US to get involved at that time due to domestic constraints.
However, the pressure from Kissinger to get the US into Angola was
unrelenting throughout June 1975. Historian Piero Gleijeses contends that
when “the Davis Task force presented its report on June 13th [1975], the
CIA alone was in favor [sic] of a covert operation. Two weeks later, Davis

alone was against it”.3 Yet to understand Gleijeses’ point, the Zairian
context must be analysed. The speed of the Angolan debate shifted
dramatically when US—Zairian relations deteriorated during the course of
the month, and led to a more assertive approach by both the US and Zaire
toward intervention.

The Zairian influence on US—Angolan policy

The conditions for a diplomatic solution were more amiable in early June
1975. During a 1 June meeting, US Ambassador to Zaire Deane Hinton met
Zairian Foreign Minister Mandungu Nyati Bula, who suggested that
Kissinger initiate discussions with Moscow to halt their arms shipments as
“it was in no-one’s interest to produce another Middle Eastern situation in

southern Africa”.3! However, there was another factor. Mobutu was

becoming disillusioned with the FNLA at this time due to their poor
performance and Roberto’s lack of leadership. He told Hinton on 9 June



1975 that “too many weapons in Angola, too much blood had been spilled
and it was time to end the Kkilling [... and he had decided to] cut off

weapons for Holden Roberto”.3? As a result, Hinton reported that Mobutu
had “flip-flopped” on Roberto—Savimbi relations again, and speculated that
he could be about to visit Moscow in order to discuss the Angolan situation.
In light of Bula’s request that the US approach the Soviets to discuss
ceasing arms shipments to Angola and Zaire’s agreement with Portugal to
halt its own weapon shipments to the FNLA, Hinton argued that the US
should get in contact with the Soviets on some level in order to report back

to Mobutu on the Soviet reaction.?®> To Kissinger such analysis was
appalling as he considered discussion with the Soviets as illustrating the
very weakness he was trying to avoid projecting. However, events in
Angola were accelerating and on 14 June 1975, an Issues Paper on Angola
outlined that the likelihood of an Angolan election was decreasing and,
therefore, the US now needed to address its role in the region. The paper
stated that “events in Angola will importantly affect both southern and
central Africa” as there would be increased intervention with the supply of

arms from the Soviets and the Chinese, which could broaden the conflict.34
Despite this warning, Kissinger was convinced that diplomatic and neutral
options were not good enough; the US had to stake a claim in the region
before the MPLA grew too strong.

Such analysis only added to Kissinger’s sense of urgency on the Angolan
issue and indeed his push for action was evident during a meeting he held
with Ford and Scowcroft on 16 June 1975 where he argued “we have been
diddling around. We have given Roberto a bit, but he needs weapons and
discipline. Kaunda doesn’t have the horsepower. Mobutu is a bloody

bastard but he is the only hope”.3®> Yet even more disturbing was
Kissinger’s reasoning to get involved in the Angolan situation as he told
Ford “we don’t want to see a Communist government in Angola. It is not in
our interest to knock off a white regime right now, which is what would

happen with a Communist Angola”.>® But his admission that there was a
lack of support for intervening is striking. He informed Ford that “no
agency supports doing anything — State [Department], JCS [Joint Chiefs of
Staff]”.3” Kissinger’s tactic of appealing to Ford’s conservative views are
evident as well as his attempt to portray himself as battling to control the
bureaucracy within the State Department. At this time the stakes were



raised when reports in Zaire emerged of an alleged US-backed coup against
Mobutu. Indeed, Kissinger’s concerns over the US—Zairian relationship and
how Angola was crucial to that relationship were apparent during a meeting
on 18 June 1975 when Kissinger informed Ford that

Mobutu has developed an intense dislike for Deane Hinton [... and]
developments there are worrisome [...] I am so frustrated. It may be
too late. But we can’t get any agency to come in with a tough option

[for Angola].38

However, Mobutu raised the stakes and expelled Hinton from Zaire on 19
June 1975. He wanted the US to address the Angolan problem, and when
the diplomatic approach outlined by Bula was not acted upon, Mobutu
chose a more radical way of getting Kissinger’s attention. In response,
Kissinger quickly arranged for former US Ambassador to Zaire, Sheldon
Vance and Director of Central African Affairs Walter Cutler to meet
Mobutu to address the coup situation as well as to discuss the real issue that
was on Mobutu’s mind, that of Angola.

On 20 June 1975, Kissinger met with Vance to give him instructions
before his visit to Zaire. The meeting is particularly salient as Kissinger
admitted regret that he did not focus on the Angolan problem until it had
become a regional focal point. He told Vance “I’ve think we’ve mishandled
Mobutu and the whole area. I have not given too much attention to it, so it’s

partly my fault”.3® Furthermore, the post-Vietnam credibility issue is
evident in Kissinger’s thinking as he commented that Mobutu’s motives
were understandable “if we’re letting Angola go, then in essence we’re
letting him go [... and] if you add to that the whole situation in Vietnam I
don’t find what he does incomprehensible”.*> Once again his fear of other
states perceiving the US as weak in the aftermath of Vietham comes to the
fore when he concluded

if Angola is taken by the Communists, what conclusions can the
African leaders draw about the United States [... and] I confess I didn’t
focus on it early enough. Mulcahy didn’t break his back getting my
attention though [... and] I’'m not in favor of the US involving itself,

but in favor of it making it possible for Kaunda or Mobutu to.*!



So, while he was acutely aware that no direct assistance or troops could be
sent, Kissinger wanted to fully utilize the regional states to influence the
outcome. This resulted in his explicit instructions to Vance to only discuss
intervention and avoid discussion of diplomatic compromises. Indeed, his
negative comments on the diplomatic solution are particularly remarkable
and clearly highlight that he did not believe in any sort of settlement being
reached. Kissinger instructed Vance “don’t dither around and lecture him
[Mobutu] in reconciliation. He must be puking when he hears that kind of

stuff, I know I do. I know it won’t come about with reconciliation”.#?2 The
timing of such remarks were also peculiar as they were made just before the
Nakuru conference in Kenya which was an attempt to get the MPLA,

FNLA and UNITA to recommit to the principles of Alvor.** Furthermore,
while Kissinger had already written off any hope of an Angolan coalition
government, there was criticism of the Ford administration’s foreign policy
in the African media.

The tone and language in some of these African editorials is extreme and
took particular aim at the Ford administration’s foreign policy in the wake
of Vietnam, and especially the rigour with which it was trying to show that
it was not a power in retreat. In a particularly scathing attack on Ford and
Kissinger, the Times of Zambia (Dar es Salaam) stated “America is not a
phoenix rising from the ashes; it is a drunken John Wayne shooting

indiscriminately at Indians”.** Furthermore, the article ridiculed US
attempts to publicly reinforce its credibility, especially in relation to the
Mayaguez incident and also Ford’s speech during a NATO summit in May
1975. It claimed that Ford and Kissinger were “prancing around like a pair
of ‘sick’ comedians [... and] the Mayaguez affair showed what many of us
have always suspected about Ford, give him a situation demanding

statesmanship and he will react like a football player”.#> It also took aim at
Kissinger but concluded, “maybe America is not retreating into a new
isolationism, but it is hardly emerging from the darkness of Kissinger’s

Metternich diplomacy either”.%® In the midst of these media attacks and
behind the scenes, Vance quietly met Mobutu on 23 June 1975.

Mobutu immediately drew attention the arms and money from the
Soviets and Yugoslavs which he stated were pouring in for Neto. Mobutu
outlined a dire contrast claiming that only Zaire and the PRC were assisting
the FNLA, but Zaire’s stock of weapons was low, and money was very



scarce. While Mobutu acknowledged that the US could not directly
intervene due to domestic circumstances, the US could secretly help Zaire
militarily and that could enable Zaire to support the FNLA. Therefore, the
modalities of their possible assistance were clearly indicated. In addition,
Mobutu played on the fear of the Soviets gaining a foothold in the region by
stating “it would be very grave for Zaire if the Soviets controlled Angola as

they would if Neto became master of the country”.#” This message was
compounded by the FNLA leader Holden Roberto who met Vance on 25
June 1975. He argued that unless

drastic measures were taken before independence, civil war would
result and Soviets could succeed in gaining rich prize in central Africa,
if that happens, [... and] it is doubtful that South Africa would be able
to sit “with its arms crossed” and would turn the entire area into an

even wider battleground.*®

These conversations set very direct expectations of the US which Vance
tried to subtlety navigate without committing nor ruling out US assistance.
But the primary evidence makes it clear that Mobutu and Roberto played on
Kissinger’s fears of a domino effect towards Soviet influence if they were
left influencing the course of events through the MPLA. Yet despite
Kissinger’s dismissive attitude toward diplomacy, others surrounding him
continued to be apprehensive about the interventionist alternative.

During a decisive NSC meeting on Angola on 27 June 1975, NSC
advisor for Africa and International Organization Affairs Hal Horan
expressed that the US should not rule out diplomacy as there was increasing
support among the other African nations for a peaceful solution. He stated:

I recognize that there are limits on what we can do [with diplomacy],
particularly with regard to the Portuguese and the Soviets. But there are
some hopeful signs that African states are beginning to be increasingly
concerned about the situation [... and] the Nigerian Government is
becoming increasingly aware of the Soviet supply of arms to the

MPLA and does not welcome this destabilizing activity so nearby.*’

Horan’s views were mirrored by information from the US embassy in Dar
es Salaam in Tanzania which reported that Tanzanian Foreign Minister



Malecela remarked at the Nakuru conference that Tanzania no longer
supported the MPLA and had denounced the behaviour of all three Angolan
liberation groups.

He also took aim at the movements for seeking to invite external
influences into Angola’s plight and called on them to forget their

ideological differences arguing, “if it is a matter of ideology, they should

first of all attain their independence and then resolve their differences”.>

Such staunch criticism could have been the first step towards engaging with
Tanzania, Zaire and Zambia to apply pressure on the three Angolan groups
to reject further aid. It could also have helped create a united front to object
to Moscow over their arms shipments and manoeuvred the US into a
desirable position of trying to accommodate African diplomacy rather than
subjugate the region in Cold War terms. The US could have gained prestige
in the region, rather than lose further credibility, as the Soviets would have
been seen as the intruders into African affairs. Yet Kissinger’s dismissal of
diplomatic solutions and a lack of African understanding resulted in a
pursuit of an interventionist policy designed to conform to his Cold War
spheres of influence outlook.

Moving towards intervention: the NSC meeting on 27 June
1975

On 23 June 1975, a joint NSC and African IG memorandum was submitted
to Assistant National Security Advisor Brent Scowcroft. The report was a
response to questions raised during a SRG meeting held on 19 June 1975.
The report gave a detailed account of the implications for US interests if it
pursued a neutral approach in the Angolan conflict, while expanding on the
feasibility of the diplomatic and political measures outlined in the Davis
Task Force report of 13 June 1975. The diplomatic option highlighted the
concerns of the DOD outlining that “Defense questions the wisdom of
publicly linking US prestige in confrontation with the Soviets over Angola,
which would either reduce our own flexibility to provide aid or culminate in

another apparent US defeat”.>! This provides further evidence that it was
not just Davis and the African Bureau who were opposed action in Angola.
The report also outlined that if the diplomatic effort was not successful, the
US could seek to actively engage the situation and support the FNLA



and/or UNITA, although it explicitly warned “we would have to commit US
resources and prestige to a situation where the outcome would still be in

doubt and over which we can exercise only limited influence at best”.>? In
essence, these conclusions were the same as the ones suggested by Davis;
primarily, that a covert operation would be exposed and the fallout that
would result in terms of US prestige would outweigh Angola’s intrinsic
significance. Drawing a direct link to events in South Vietnam, the report
outlined “such exposure might be taken as a signal that events in Southeast
Asian have not sapped our determination to protect our interests”, however,
“[it would] have a negative impact in our relations with the socialist and
third world states, some African states, the MPLA, and with large requests

[sic] of the US public and Congress”.>3 Therefore, the inherent dangers of
selecting the covert programme were emphasized in a final push to deter
Kissinger from choosing it. However, at this time Kissinger was focused on
the impact of Vance’s discussions with Mobutu.

On 27 June 1975, Vance met with Kissinger to report back on his
discussions with Mobutu, advising him that the US should give
substantially more funds to Holden and Savimbi through Zaire. More
interesting though was the assertion by Kissinger that “if we do it, we
should not do it half-heartedly. Can we win? [... and] my disposition is, if

we do it at all, we should try to win.”>* In light of his later statements in
which he portrays the decision to covertly intervene in Angola to attempt to
“balance” the situation, the evidence illustrates that he chose Angola in
order send a clear message to the Soviets that the US would not be pushed
back. It also provided him with further encouragement to push the active
option at the decisive NSC meeting on Angola later that day.

While Kissinger wished to win in Angola, he acknowledged that the

situation was not ideal and admitted “this is an area where no one can be

sure of the judgements”,> yet this did not deter him from continuing to

influence Ford towards a more active response to events in Angola. He
outlined the first two options, neutrality and a diplomatic offensive, but
without much fervour as he told Ford “an interagency effort has developed

options, none of which I am in wild agreement with”.>® On neutrality,
Kissinger summarized that while there were some advantages, such as
avoiding a costly involvement in a situation that may be beyond US control
and protecting the US from international and African criticism, the



disadvantages were greater. He predicted that the MPLA would come to
dominate Angola and the country would subsequently “go in a leftward
direction; and Zaire would conclude we have disinterested ourselves in that

part of the world and move towards anti-Americanism”.>” Similarly, on the
option of pursuing diplomatic measures Kissinger precluded his assessment
by informing Ford “as for the second course, my Department agrees, but I
don’t”, and proceeded to outline that such action would involve the US
having to engage in talks with “the Soviets, the Yugoslavs, and others, to
lessen arms shipments to the MPLA, get Portugal to exert its authority, and

encourage cooperation among the groups”.”® The fundamental problem
with pursuing such action was that it required all three elements to coalesce
in order to create a peaceful climate in Angola and its chances were at best
minimal as “we must recognize, of course, that our leverage is limited

particularly with regard to the Soviets and Portuguese”.®® However,
Kissinger firmly cautioned against such an option by once again appealing
to Ford’s conservative foreign policy outlook: “if we appeal to the Soviets
not to be active, it will be a sign of weakness; for us to police it is next to

impossible, and we would be bound to do nothing”.?® Yet while such an
approach could be seen as weakness, the alternative was far worse if the US
intervened and lost. This was at the crux of Davis’ argument. There were no
easy options but there were more severe consequences for choosing the
riskiest course.

Kissinger saved his enthusiasm for the final option which advocated
covert action by supporting the FNLA and UNITA with arms and money.
Not surprisingly Kissinger continued his preference to do this through
Zaire, arguing that

if we move to arms supplies, it would be best to do so through Mobutu,
but we could give some money directly to Roberto and Savimbi [... in
the case of Roberto] there is need for money to increase the discipline
of his organizations. The agency [CIA] has weapons that it could get
[less than 1 line not declassified] into Zaire to control the situation with

Mobutu as the front man.5?

In addition, the spectre of Vietnam loomed large during the meeting and
especially during the debate on pursuing active engagement. CIA Director
William Colby’s warning of disadvantages and Ford’s subsequent dismissal



of such concerns illustrates the schism within the administration on foreign
policy toward Third World countries. On the prospect of funnelling aid to
the FNLA through Zaire, Colby agreed that this course of action would
have an effect in Angola and also potentially smooth US—Zairian relations.
However, he cautioned against doing so as the Soviets could ensure a
protracted conflict. The result of this would inevitably expose CIA efforts
and cause a confrontation with Congress. He emphasised that action

would be matched by the Soviets and there could be increased fighting
and there would be no happy ending. I don’t think we can put up a
large enough sum to wrap it up quickly, and, with CIA’s own present

exposure, to get away without a great deal of criticism.5?

Colby was right to be cautious. The CIA was under sustained pressure at
this time from Congress, specifically from the Church and Pike
Committees. These committees were established to investigate revelations
in the media centring on the abuses of power and illegal activities of the
CIA. However, Kissinger ignored the domestic consequences outlined by
Colby. Instead he castigated Colby and those advocating a diplomatic
approach stating that

I am not against diplomacy, but you can do that only if you know
where you go if you fail. To launch a campaign against arms supply
and not know where you’re going afterward is an impotent policy. We

would be the first victims of failure.®3

However, his tactics in Angola mimicked this statement. There was no real
agreement of how the US would react if the tide turned, even if it was in
their favour. It was a glaring weakness that haunted the Ford
administration’s Angolan policy from its inception and indeed helped
accelerate its eventual downfall in early 1976.

However, the path of covert intervention which Kissinger had advocated
throughout June 1975 clearly resonated with Ford as he also dismissed
Colby’s and Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger’s warnings by
asserting that once the MPLA gained a foothold it would result in Angola
being lost. This decisiveness is surprising given that Ford’s lack of
knowledge on the specifics of Angola were evident during the meeting, and



perhaps even more so given that renowned conservative Schlesinger had
expressed reservations about trying to counter the Soviets in Angola. The
rationale behind his argument was that if the US were to act it had to be
prepared to win at any cost as a defeat would be detrimental. He pointed out
that Roberto was not an effective conduit to deliver a victory in Angola and
since this was not a scenario where the US could be confident of winning,
he recommended that the US should remain neutral. However, Ford’s mind
was made up, in no small part due to the influence exercised by Kissinger
throughout June 1975. He proclaimed “it seems to me that doing nothing is
unacceptable. As for diplomatic efforts, it is naive to think that’s going to

happen”.®4 The whole meeting is perhaps best summed up by Jussi
Hanhimédki who writes: “in the end, there was no real debate. Kissinger had
clearly convinced Ford that, in the aftermath of the collapse in Vietnam,

Angola was a test case of the credibility of the Ford administration’s foreign

policy”.%> However, this interpretation is open to debate. While there is

little evidence in the declassified records to date to show that Ford and
Kissinger discussed Angola at length, there were conflicting views over
Angolan policy amongst Kissinger and his staff, the result of which was a
sustained opposition to Kissinger’s intent to intervene to support the FNLA
and UNITA in the Angolan Civil War.

Conclusion

In his insightful account of the Angolan crisis, Gleijeses writes that “the

discussion about Angola began very late and ended very quickly”.®® The
prolonged debate over Angolan policy stretched out over June and July
1975, yet what is apparent is Kissinger’s repeated dismissal of voices of
opposition. The option to intervene was heavily pushed by Kissinger at
every stage throughout June and the influence of the failure in Vietnam was
palpable. On the findings of the Davis Task Force report, Andrew Downer
Crain argues it “was actually a realistic assessment of the situation — they
recommended the diplomatic option not because they naively thought it

would work, but because they realistically recognized that the other options

were worse”.%” Yet it was not just the Davis Task Force report that argued

against covert action, the DOD and PPS Director Winston Lord also raised
concerns at various stages throughout June 1975. Nevertheless, Kissinger



rejected all apprehension of US involvement on the basis that the US would
be seen as weak if they did not engage the Soviets in Angola. His thinking
is perhaps best summed up by a point made by Kissinger himself in a
memorandum presented at the decisive NSC meeting on 27 June 1975
which framed the active role as thus:

In addition to our substantive interest in the outcome, playing an active
role would demonstrate that events in Southeast Asia have not lessoned
our determination to protect our interest. In sum, we face an
opportunity — albeit with substantial risks — to pre-empt the probable
loss to Communism of a key developing country at a time of great
uncertainty over our will and determination to remain the preeminent

leader and defender of freedom in the West.8
Hal Horan later reflected:

I think he [Kissinger] had a sense that in the post-Vietnam period he
was frustrated about the fact that we may as a country look weak and
the Soviets look strong. He couldn’t really let the Soviets get away
with moving into Angola where neither of our interests really were

very great [...]. But the problem was, you know, the country was not in

an aggressive mood. We were still licking our wounds”.5

So even by Horan’s analysis, Davis’ and Lord’s views were viable. The
problem was not that others saw the US as weak, the real issue was that the
domestic consensus was fragmented, and that substantial damage would be
done to US credibility if the US intervened in Angola and then had to
withdraw again. For his part, Davis has been denigrated by Kissinger as the
sole opposition to US action, but the evidence showed he was part of a
larger group that disagreed with the way Kissinger was manoeuvring the
country into another Third World conflict where no vital US national
interest was at stake.

Such tunnel vision from Kissinger resulted in a missed opportunity to
engage African states such as Nigeria, Zaire and Tanzania, and Zambia who
at various stages throughout June 1975 indicated that they were not content
with seeing Angola turn into a theatre of Cold War competition. By
ignoring Zaire’s request at the beginning of the month, Mobutu decided to



gamble and instigate a risky strategy to get Kissinger’s attention. His
decision to expel Hinton, another official who questioned the necessity of
Angolan action, cleared the path for Kissinger to send in pro-
interventionists such as Vance and the new US Ambassador to Zaire Walter
Cutler, to assess what role Mobutu was willing to play in the funnelling of
arms to Roberto and Savimbi. Yet if Kissinger was truly objective he would
have conceded that the US did not have the upper hand in Angola, and
realistically could not escalate, nor keep any covert operation under wraps
for a significant amount of time. The wisest course of action would have
been to engage with African countries in order for them to create a united
African front to challenge the Soviets over their arms shipments to Angola.
The Davis Task Force report acknowledged that US leverage to coerce the
Soviets or the Portuguese unilaterally was limited, but even this report
failed to see the benefits of getting the Africans to apply pressure to the
Soviets. It would have served a dual function of limiting US involvement
which would have been welcomed domestically and it would have
increased the prestige of the US in the region by demonstrating to black
Africa that the US did not bracket them as Cold War pawns. As a result, the
Soviets would have been seen as the aggressors in the region and would
come under criticism from the Africans and from the rest of the
international community.

Nonetheless, Kissinger in his rigid determination to project US power in
the immediate post-Vietnam period consistently undermined any opposition
to US action in Angola, and used his unique position of being both
Secretary of State and National Security Advisor to influence Ford. As
Ford’s speechwriter Robert Hartmann later observed “Ford’s reliance on
Kissinger was almost complete in the field of foreign affairs, and Henry

made ‘the most of it’ ”.”% Such a reliance set the US on course to authorize

a covert intervention in Angola by late July 1975.
1 An example of this can be seen in Roger Morris’ comments that Davis was

brought back to Washington by Kissinger in part on the basis of his
Chile experience, Davis was now, as he dissented on Angola, further
pigeonholed as having lost his nerve to judge policy precisely
because of his tour to Santiago”.

See Roger Morris, “A Rare Resignation in Protest: Nat Davis and Angola,” the Washington

Monthly 7, no. 12 (February 1976): 30. According to one witness Morris spoke to “Kissinger
figured from the start that Angola would be one Chile too many for Nat”, but as Morris observes
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4  The approval of Operation
IAFEATURE

Introduction

The pivotal shift in US—Angolan policy occurred in July 1975 when
President Ford approved the CIA plan to covertly assist the FNLA and
UNITA in the Angolan Civil War on 18 July. The timeline of events is well
established in the literature on US—Angolan policy but there is a distinct
lack of analysis of the opposition to US intervention in the Angolan Civil

War.! Most studies refer only to Davis’ 12 July memorandum and to his
additional memoranda sent on 14 July and 16 July. However, newly
available material illustrates that there was also substantial disagreement
with Kissinger’s view in a 40 Committee meeting held on 14 July 1975.
This helps to put together a more detailed analysis of the level of discontent
that existed within the State Department from other officials who felt that
the US was being dragged into another open-ended conflict with no
apparent national interest.

Specifically, the fear of Congressional and public reprisal to such a
covert operation if exposed was paramount in this debate. Yet this logic was
dismissed as Kissinger remained convinced that the US had to compete
with the Soviets in southern Africa. However, the rationale for intervention
was always unrealistic. There was little chance that American objectives
could be met in a country where the favoured Angolan liberation groups
were weak and in the case of the FNLA, led by the incompetent individual
Holden Roberto. Furthermore, the lack of any vital national interest ensured
that when such an operation was exposed, the Ford administration could not
make a strong case to justify intervention to the American public or to



Congress. The latter posed a significant problem as Congress was already
on the offensive against the executive branch in 1975 with the
aforementioned Church and Pike Committees.

This chapter outlines in detail the opposition put forward by Davis’ to
US involvement in the Angolan situation and the subsequent criticism and
questioning of his motives for doing do. In particular it argues that there has
been a deliberate attempt to undermine the validity of Davis’ attempts to
navigate Kissinger away from intervention in Angola. Therefore, it directly
argues against views presented by some scholars such as Daniel Spikes who
argues that during the summer of 1975

Davis was still busy yanking every bureaucratic string within reach to
get himself painlessly off the Angolan hook [... and] in all of Davis’s
arguments one voice rose above all others — that of a worried

bureaucrat desperately trying to bug out of the spook business.?

While it is fair to say that Davis’ reputation was somewhat compromised
due to his previous role in Chile at the time of Allende’s overthrow in 1973,
his views on the Angolan issue were grounded in a realistic appraisal of
both the local situation in Angola and the fractured political climate in
Washington, DC. Crucially, Davis recognized that Kissinger had dismissed
the domestic mood in post-Vietnam America, and foresaw a situation where
all of Kissinger’s Angolan objectives would be doomed to fail once any
covert operation was exposed. This would ironically contribute to
exacerbating the perceived credibility problem Kissinger was desperately
seeking to nullify.

This rationale links into the wider point, primarily that Davis was not a
lone ranger arguing against Kissinger. While the primary evidence makes it
clear that the opposition to Kissinger was never united, many of Davis’
objections were similarly raised by Under Secretary of State Joseph Sisco,
CIA Director William Colby and the INR Director William Hyland. This
section examines the predominance of the Vietnam experience in the
mindsets of US officials and their views of covert assistance to the FNLA
and UNITA. It shows that the argument against covert intervention in
Angola was actually more prominent than the argument for intervention in
the discussions leading up to Ford’s decision on 18 July 1975. In addition, it
explores the peculiar effort made by Hyland in his memoirs to distance



himself from opposing Kissinger. This is in stark contrast to the primary
evidence which shows he ultimately shared the same views as Davis and

Colby on Angola.? Finally, this chapter shows that the risk of exposure was
a real danger even in the weeks preceding Ford’s decision as newspapers
both foreign and domestic began to report levels of US involvement in
Angola. Additionally, the situation on the ground in Angola in July 1975
meant that a covert operation was almost futile by the time it was approved.
This was especially significant given the sudden Portuguese decision to
withdraw all resources to the Angolan capital, Luanda. The unintended
result was in effect the creation of a perimeter around the city which in
effect protected the MPLA who had successfully expelled the FNLA earlier
that month. Furthermore, the breakdown of communication between the
upper echelons of the State Department and the US Consulate in Angola
ensured that there was a level of confusion which exacerbated regional
anxieties. As a result, Mobutu became more agitated with the US for its
laboured efforts to intervene as his expectations were high after the Vance
discussions at the end of June 1975.

A lone ranger? The Nathaniel Davis memoranda

In the weeks leading up to the Angolan decision, Davis and Sisco tried to
persuade Kissinger that Angola was not the right place or the right time to
get embroiled in a proxy face-off against the Soviets. In subsequent years
Kissinger has portrayed this type of attitude as a weakness. In his memoirs
Kissinger recalls that “Davis turned out to be willing, indeed eager, to
implement conventional wisdom, which meant non-intervention” and he
“clearly had no stomach for covert operations or, in the wake of his
experience before the Church Committee, for a new confrontation with

Congress”.* Kissinger has also stated that if the US did not intervene then
all of sub-Saharan Africa could have been potentially lost to the Soviet
sphere of influence. He claims he argued that African “countries can only
conclude that the US is no longer a factor in Southern Africa. We will pay
for it for decades. It will affect their orientation”.> This recollection is even
more surprising as it illustrates how Kissinger swiftly escalated Africa from
a region of little importance in US foreign policy, to one where the US had
to demonstrate its power or risk Soviet domination in the region. The



connection with the events in Vietnam is unmistakeable. Indeed, Kissinger
admits this in his memoirs when he belittles Davis for not factoring this into
his Angolan analysis: “it predates you, Nat, by many months, but coupled
with Indochina, it is not a trivial thing which is happening in Southern

Africa”.® This demeaning attitude was an attempt to prove that Davis was
unable to see the nuances of Kissinger’s global Cold War thinking. Yet
Davis’ objections were not based on a lack of understanding of the Cold
War struggle, but on a more realistic appraisal of where the US stood in the
domestic and international arena. In light of a shattered domestic consensus
broken by the war in Vietnam and the scandal of the Watergate incident
there were constraints on US foreign policy. It was an error by Kissinger to
ignore them as those conditions could not be merely dismissed as legislative
meddling. Kissinger was correct in his assertion that the Angolan situation
predated Davis but so too did the fractured environment in Washington,
DC. This is a crucial point in understanding the naivety of Kissinger in the
Angolan context. The American public and Congress were seeking a more
nuanced approach to foreign affairs to avoid future tragedies like the one
that ultimately led to the US involvement in Vietnam. In that manner,
Davis’ willingness to express his serious opposition to Kissinger’s Angolan
interventionist juggernaut was far more grounded in political realties rather
than a fear of covert operations in principle.

On 12 July 1975, Davis wrote a memorandum to Under Secretary of
State Joseph Sisco strongly advocating that the US not get involved in
Angola. He outlined multiple problems with potential covert action and the
sensitivity of such action in light of domestic considerations. Davis’ main
criticism revolved around the impracticality of keeping the operation a
secret. He argued that

the Soviets will become aware of our decision almost immediately [...
and] enjoy greater freedom of action in the covert supply of arms,
equipment and ammunition [... and] can escalate the level of their aid

more readily than we can.”

Therefore, Davis’ position was that such an operation would further damage
the US and would only serve to undermine US credibility even further as
they could not compete with the Soviets in this particular scenario. In
addition, he cautioned the perils of domestic disclosure stating that it was



highly unlikely that the operation would remain a secret when there were
multiple numbers of the Senate and Congress who needed to be briefed.
The chances of a leak were high and it would certainly result in a public
confrontation once the news broke. Davis also displayed good judgement in
his analysis of the African context. He pointed to the corrupt nature of
many of the African states whose Cold War loyalties were fickle at best.
This is apparent in his assertion that the US

must count on the likelihood that the Soviets are intercepting and
reading Zaire internal military and political traffic [... and] Zaire,
Portugal, Angola, Congo-Brazzaville, Zambia and other neighbouring

territories are infiltrated by a wide variety of agents and operatives of

every political color — where money can buy many things”.8

Therefore, it was only a matter of when it would be exposed and spark the
inevitable heated exchanges between the legislative and executive branches.
However, a distinction must be made at this point. Contrary to what
Kissinger and others have stated about Davis opposing the Angolan
operation in principle, he was not against interventionist policies. Instead he
argued for selective interventions in which the US held the upper hand to
decisively win any engagement against the Soviets.

The memory of Vietnam is evident in Davis’ thoughts as he agreed that
if the operation was to be authorized it should be on a large scale to avoid a
repeat of another Vietnam. He stated

I believe the Secretary is right in his conviction — if I understand his
views — that if we go in, we must go in quickly, massively and
decisively enough to avoid tempting, gradual, mutual escalation that

characterized Vietnam during the 1965-67 period.”
In an effort to frame his argument to Kissinger’s thinking he warned that

unless we are prepared to go as far as necessary, in world balance of
power terms the worst possible outcome would be a test of will and
strength which we lose [... and] the CIA paper makes clear that in the
best of circumstances we won’t be able to win. If we are to have a test



of strength with the Soviets, we should find a more advantageous
place.l0

This is also reflected by Roger Morris who argues that “the central thrust of
his [Davis] recommendation was not so much that the policy was mistaken,

but that it would ‘get out’ » 11 However, Morris contends that Davis’
arguments missed the main political and intellectual point of Kissinger’s
Angolan policy: to use the Angolan Civil War as a demonstration to both
the Russians and Congress that US “post-Vietnam diplomacy had not lost

its fangs”.'?> However, Morris’ views are misguided; Davis’ point was that
if the operation was exposed the negative reaction in the American media
and public perception would render the whole exercise futile. It would show
the Soviets that the US could not effectively compete with them in the
Third World and also provide the legislative branch with an opportunity to
portray themselves as checking the foreign policy excesses of the executive
branch.

In addition, Davis directly questioned the objectives of the covert
programme. He disputed the CIA’s claim that arming Roberto and Savimbi
would “discourage further resort to arms and civil war [... instead he argued
that] so far, the arming of the various factions has fed the civil war, not
discouraged it”.!3 In trying to adhere to lessons of the Vietnam experience,
Davis wrote:

the [CIA] paper gives us no clear explanation where the courses of
action described will take us [...] and rather hopefully expressing the
view that restoration of some sort of triangular “balance” [...] will
produce a peaceful, negotiated, collective solution (which the record in

Angola and experience elsewhere in Africa indicate is most unlikely).!#

Therefore, Davis foresaw that US involvement would only escalate the
Angolan Civil War and produce counter-escalations from the Soviets who
had a far greater degree of manoeuvrability in terms of the scale of aid they
could provide to the MPLA. In concluding, Davis framed the Angolan
situation by realistically asking “how can the US achieve a level of parity
with the Soviets when they only are putting in a few tens of thousands of

dollars, when the Soviets funnelling millions”.1> However, his actions were



not having the desired effect and he felt his messages were not making their
way directly to Kissinger.

On 16 July 1975, Davis wrote again to Sisco attempting to point out that
due to the rapidly changing nature of the Angolan conflict and with South
Africa now reportedly involved, “if it were not true before, it seems clear
now that it is unrealistic to think in terms of a program that could be both

effective and covert”.16 Furthermore, the domestic concerns that Davis
raised were increasingly valid given that there were a series of
Congressional hearings being held throughout the summer of 1975. During
these hearings Davis testified and manoeuvred around some of the direct
questioning about potential US intervention in Angola. On the same day,
Sisco, Colby and Hyland were lobbying against intervention during a 40
Committee meeting held to discuss the covert nature of the Angolan
operation.

Dissenting voices: congress and the 40 Committee

On 14 July 1975, as part of a series of hearings on US policy towards
southern Africa, the Senate Subcommittee on African Affairs discussed US
policy towards Angola. In an indication of the low level of importance
attached to Africa at the time, only two senators were present, the Chairman
of the Committee, freshman Senator Dick Clark (D-Iowa) and fellow
freshman Senator Joseph Biden (D-Delaware). Yet the opening statement
from Clark warned against playing Cold War games in Angola. He argued
that the US should make it clear that it wished for peaceful relations with
whatever group took power in November 1975 and that the US should
commit that “it will not interfere in determining what the nature of that

government will be”.l7” However, Clark also addressed the disclosure of
covert action issue when he stated:

many believe that the United States has been covertly supporting one
of the liberation movements. A Cold War view of the world might
dictate that the United States should give military support to one of the
movements. It might be argued by some that this would be the only
way to protect American strategic and economic interests [...] but the



US experience in dealing with independent African nations should
have taught us that such intervention would be a serious mistake.!8

Addressing Davis, Clark asked if the US was in any way influenced by the
decision of the Soviets and the Chinese to provide aid for the liberation
groups. Despite Kissinger’s frustration with him and the African Bureau
and indeed his own internal dissent on the issue, Davis manoeuvred around
the question by merely reiterating that the US was still adhering to the arms
embargo to Portuguese territories and that the President was in command of

any decision to change that policy.'® Davis circumvented direct answers to
other questions on potential US involvement in Angola, throughout the

hearing which frustrated Biden in particular.?°

At the conclusion of his questioning, when the Delaware senator
enquired if the US was supporting one Angolan movement over another,
Davis evaded a direct answer, instead pointing out that the Portuguese
should take more responsibility for bringing the liberation groups together
as a peaceful transition through democratic elections would be the best
solution in Angola. This led to a pessimistic response from Biden who
commented that

for a man to have that much hope about anything deserves our
cooperation on this committee. I think you are an amazing fellow to
hope that much. I just hope the Portuguese can decide who owns

Portugal, let alone what happens in Angola.?!

Yet as Davis was testifying and avoiding any disclosure of any details of the
Angolan operation on the public record, the 40 Committee were discussing
arming the FNLA and UNITA through resupplying the Zairian army who
were shipping their own stocks to the liberation groups in Angola.

That this meeting has only been recently declassified is important as it
clearly shows the increased level of disagreement on the entire Angolan
programme from Sisco, Hyland and Colby. Despite their earlier reluctance
to endorse the concerns raised in the Task Force report in June, both Sisco
and Hyland now took the opportunity to advocate that the US avoid any
commitment to Angola. When asked by Kissinger if he agreed with arming
Zaire, Sisco expressed his reservations stating “No. I do not think that our
interests in Angola are significant enough to warrant covert action. It is



simply not important enough”.?> When Kissinger continued to press Sisco
by enquiring if he was willing to let Angola go communist, Sisco
maintained that the US should be prepared to let that happen as there was

no compelling US national interest in the region.?? Similarly Hyland argued
that the FNLA and Roberto had proven to be incompetent and the wrong
leadership choice to back in Angola. To some extent Kissinger was
surprised at such comments and displayed this by lamenting that the “State

is committed to see that nothing happens in Angola”.>* He also defended
Roberto by claiming that there was no way the FNLA could compete when
it was not being backed like the MPLA. However, undeterred, Hyland was
forceful in his conviction and delivered a withering assessment of Roberto
by arguing that “Roberto has constantly lost strength, he is weak [... and]

Roberto won’t go into the country; he’s weak [... and] he’s had every

opportunity to win over the years and hasn’t”.%°

Furthermore, Hyland argued that the Africans should take more
ownership of the situation as

our biggest asset is that we are not involved militarily. We can go and
say to the Africans that we are staying out and Africans can face up to
the fact that it is the Communists who are sending arms,

but Kissinger rebuked with “What you are saying is that the Soviets and
Chinese should take action, but the US should not. That’s what it comes

down to”.%® Such a statement provides a stark contrast to his private efforts
to deter the Soviets only days previously when he told Soviet Foreign
Minister Andrei Gromyko “We shouldn’t compete for the Third World. All

they do is kick us around. We’re not competing with you”.?” This attempt to
placate the Soviets stood little chance of success. Despite the relative
success of the détente policy, Cold War competition for global influence
was still considered fair game by the Soviets and also by the US.

Despite these strong views on the weakness of the FNLA and the blunt
assessment that the African nations needed to be more vocal in their
condemnation of Soviet interference in Angola, Hyland’s memoirs depict a
very different version of events. Instead he condemns Davis, stating that the
effects of Chile ensured that Davis was “terrified of having anything to do
with another crisis [... which subsequently] coloured his outlook and made
him a particularly inappropriate choice to monitor the difficult situation that



was developing inside Angola”.?® This does not align with the primary
evidence which shows there was an effort to convince Kissinger that
Angola was not worth risking US credibility for. Comparable with
Kissinger’s later criticisms, Hyland denigrates Davis’ views as being
heavily influenced by the defeat in Vietnam and by claiming that his calls
for negotiation on the Angolan issue were the standard State Department
solution to problems. He stated that “It was Vietnam all over again, though
in microcosm — warring parties that were struggling for power and killing
each other would somehow be brought together and would magically settle

their differences”.? Interestingly the Vietnam influences were more
prevalent at the time in the arguments made by those who supported
intervention. Indeed, Kissinger received support from Deputy Secretary of
Defense William Clements who agreed that the Soviets had to be
confronted as he stated “I don’t believe we should walk away from this. [...

and] we can’t let the Communists just do what they want”.3? However, this
rationalization was hardly a ringing endorsement of Kissinger’s plan.
Clements’ views were systematic of the failings with Kissinger’s logic on
Angola. Specifically, there was no forethought into what would happen if
they tried and failed to combat the Soviet influence. The African reaction to
such a scenario was not mentioned in any way and the concept of how that
would damage US credibility appears to have been completely ignored.
Despite the multiple warnings about Congress and the dire state of the
FNLA in Angola, there was an unqualified arrogance that the US would
win if it committed to intervening. In a wider context there was also little to
no consideration of what the US would actually do if they were successful,
just a stubborn adherence to the same containment principle that eventually
dragged the US deep into the jungles of Vietnam. The fear of losing to the
Soviets was central to Kissinger’s decisions, especially in the immediate
period after the defeat in Vietnam.

When Colby admitted that he feared Congressional repercussions if the
US went into Angola, Kissinger dismissed this as defeatism and rebuked

“I’m scared of losing. Is anyone else?”.3! This fear of losing was engrained
in his perception of US credibility among African states which is interesting
as the primary evidence shows that until the US defeat in Vietnam, sub-
Saharan Africa was significantly low down in his thoughts. This makes it
striking that he suddenly envisioned a domino effect in the region if the
Soviets gained influence in Angola. It is clear in his statements that



Vietnam and Angola were directly intertwined for Kissinger he argued “if
all the surrounding countries see Angola go Communist, they will assume

that the US has no will. Coming on top of Vietnam and Indochina their

perception of what the US can and will do will be negative”.3? It must be

acknowledged that Kissinger’s point was valid in the case of Zairian
pressure, as Mobutu grew increasingly impatient for US aid. However, this
should also be judged on the basis of Mobutu pursuing his own agenda and
was not directly the result of questioning US credibility after Vietham. On
14 July 1975 he voiced his concern “over the lack of US Government
support to the FNLA [... and] despite Ambassador Vance’s ‘promise’ to
obtain further aid for the FNLA, no US aid has been forthcoming to balance

recent Soviet assistance to the MPLA”.33 Mobutu felt the need to express
that he “cannot understand the failure of the US Government to take any

action [... and] while the Soviets continue to assist the MPLA, neither Zaire

nor Roberto has received ‘even one cartridge’ from the US Government”.3*

This pressure helped maintain the pressure on Kissinger to act. As a result,
he advocated that Ford provide additional assistance to Zaire as its political
influence within Africa was significant. He positioned Zaire as central to
US ability to maintain some level of influence in the region by declaring
“our political interests in Zaire are equally significant [as the economic
interests ...] importance to the stability and ideological orientation of all
central Africa and its growing influence in African councils and the Third

World”.3> Despite pressure from Mobutu and the State Department officials
advocating different courses of action, Kissinger asked that the State
Department prepare a two-page memorandum to present to Ford ahead of
the decision to approve covert assistance.

The paper was given to Deputy of the NSA Brent Scowcroft by Sisco on
15 July 1975. One of the points raised included the observation that other
African countries had flirted with Soviet support previously but never
became hard line communists willing to follow Moscow’s lead. The paper
also put Angola in context by stating that

even the worst case — an MPLA victory — will have a marginal impact
on the world balance or on Africa. An MPLA government would be no
worse than many governments in West and East Africa that have

sought Soviet or Chinese aid.3°



Furthermore, the controversy associated with the inevitable exposure of US
covert intervention would highly damage the Ford administration, both
domestically and in Africa. The paper argued that

active intervention on the proposed scale could not be concealed from
either the Congress, the general public or African elites; it would prove
highly disadvantageous to the US; it would run against a policy of non-
interventionism. Even the modest Soviet intervention would not seem
to justify a US effort because, unfortunately, our actions would be
judged in a different light, and whatever credibility we have built up in

Africa would be damaged beyond immediate repair.3”

The spectre of Vietnam continued to be prevalent in the argument against
action. In particular, Sisco outlined how the US should have placed more
responsibility on regional states to address the situation in Angola rather
than risking being sucked unnecessarily into Third World conflicts. The
report stressed that

the US cannot be more African than the Africans. If the Africans have
been unwilling to pay the small price in material or financial support
necessary to strengthen Roberto and Savimbi, then it is highly

questionable that the US should take on this task.3?

Sisco continued that the US should apply the lessons learnt from the
Vietnam experience, especially pointing out the long-term significance of
getting involved in a phased basis. He stated:

we must consider the ultimate consequences of embarking on the
proposed course of incremental involvement: even a massive program,
including major arms supply, would not be decisive, but a phased

program is bound to fail and only lead to increasing commitments.>

Indeed, this fear of escalating commitment is portrayed by PPS member
Willard De Pree who recounts that no-one had a problem with Kissinger
wanting to be tough with the Soviets but not to the point of throwing the
dice.



As De Pree later recalled, Kissinger’s primary rationale was to “send a
signal to the Soviets that they must not assume that because we had
withdrawn from Vietnam, we were weak and would be relaxing our guard

or activities elsewhere in the world, in this case in Africa”.*? He also
admitted to a fear that Angola had the potential to become another Vietnam
style engagement that would gradually escalate into a more serious foreign
policy intervention:

I thought that the decision was a mistake, [... the operation] would
quickly become known, [and] would likely prompt the Soviets to step
up their aid to the MPLA in reply. We were getting drawn into
something that we couldn’t see the end of. And we didn’t hold a strong

hand.*!

This resembles arguments that were put forward by Davis at the time; De
Pree had no issue with being tough with the Soviets but not at the expense
of enlarging a civil war that would be detrimental to Angolan society and
where the US had no chance of winning. Indeed, he outlined that in general
he did not see any issues with how the US confronted the Soviets in other
parts of the world, but he believed such policies were wrongly applied in
the case of Angola, stating that

I didn’t have problems with Secretary Kissinger’s policy priorities with
respect to the Soviet Union, nuclear war, or the Middle East. It was that
he didn’t consider what was happening in Africa to be of much
importance in and of itself; its importance was as an arena for

contesting with the Soviet Union.*?

As such, opposition from Davis and Sisco and views later expressed by De
Pree centred more on the error of turning Angola into a Cold War flashpoint
which far outweighed its significance, especially as the region was
practically ignored in US foreign policy up until the defeat in Vietnam.
Some years later, Deputy Secretary of State for African affairs Ed Mulcahy
gave his thoughts on how the Angolan situation was perceived at the time
when he specified



we were all cautious. We all knew the lessons of Vietham. We knew
that neither the Congress nor the public would stand for large,
extensive involvement in any sort of military ventures [... and] we also
recognized — and this was the thing that stuck in Nat Davis’ craw — that
it would be impossible in the leaking sieve of Washington to keep the

matter secret very long.*3

Despite all the warnings and attempts to influence Kissinger’s thinking,
on 17 July 1975 Kissinger advised Ford that there was no other option but
to intervene. What is striking is his admission that the operation would leak
to the public from within the State Department itself. Therefore, he
willingly acknowledged that this decision would seriously damage the Ford
administration. He stated “I think reluctantly we must do something. But
you must know that we have massive problems within the State

Department. They are passionately opposed and it will leak”.** In fact
Kissinger sought to use this as an opportunity to purge all members of the
African Bureau that sought to challenge his authority. He informed Ford
that this would begin with Davis and he would then transfer out staff at
lower levels as “we’ll have a resignation from Davis, [and] then I’ll clean

out the African Bureau”.*> Ford expressed no reservations and was fully
aligned with Kissinger’s views on the African Bureau and Davis. Indeed,
Ford made light of the conflicting positions in the State Department the
following day, asking Kissinger “how are your buddies at State?”. Kissinger
remarked “I don’t even know if he [Davis] even has the guts enough to

quit”.® In the midst of ridiculing Davis, the fateful decision was made on
18 July 1975 and Ford approved covert action in Angola, known as
Operation TAFEATURE. It is noteworthy that despite his push for
intervention Kissinger simultaneously began to distance himself from any

potential setbacks. He acknowledged that “it may be too late because

Luanda is lost. Unless we can seize it back, it is pretty much hopeless”.*”

However, it must be noted that Ford also misjudged the situation. His lack
of aptitude over foreign policy matters has been well established by
journalists and historians, but Ford was also was guilty of underestimating
the challenges of the domestic political environment in Washington, DC. He
defiantly stated “if we do nothing, we will lose Southern Africa. I think we
have an understandable position. I think we can defend it to the public. I



won’t let someone in Foggy Bottom deter me”.*® It must be acknowledged
that Ford was very much a traditional Cold War conservative whose natural
instincts were to challenge the Soviets at every opportunity. As a result, he
did not fully comprehend the dramatic shift in public and Congressional
attitudes towards confrontation with the Soviets that was taking place in the
aftermath of Vietnam. In terms of the Angolan operation itself, Ford
initially approved $6 million in funding with $1 million going directly to
Mobutu with an additional $5 million to be available if Mobutu could come
up with a feasible way to expand the operation to assist the FNLA and
UNITA. With the operation now formally approved, there was growing
concern that the US had to ramp up operations quickly.

On 19 July 1975, Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger was quick to
highlight the consequences to US credibility if they lost, stating “I think it is

important to do enough to succeed. Failing is worse than indifference.

Losing gives the impression that if the US backs you, you are a loser”.*’

This fear of losing clearly affected Ford who already thought the US should
escalate its efforts. He stated “We should do more. We should have done
more in Portugal. I notice now that the Soviet Union is openly backing the

communists. I think we probably must do more”.>® Once the decision had
been made, Ford was never going to change course. By 27 July 1975, an
additional $8 million was approved by Ford, bringing the funding total up
to $14 million by the end of July 1975; the US was now fully involved in
the scramble for Angola. As IAFEATURE ramped up, the final
Congressional hearings on US foreign policy towards southern African
were taking place. It showcases how the Ford administration was now
actively deceiving the legislative branch on US actions in Angola. This is
illustrated by Mulcahy’s testimony when he told Senator Clark and Senator
Claiborne Pell (D-Rhode Island) that

it is primarily up to the parties and peoples of southern Africa
themselves to bring about a settlement. The role that we [US] can play
and are playing is to encourage solutions through negotiations in order
to avoid bloodshed that would threaten the peace and stability of

Africa.>!

This was an attempt to maintain earlier reports on actions that Davis had
given to the subcommittee earlier in July 1975. However, since then the US



had approved covert assistance to the FNLA and UNITA, and were building
up the two groups’ military capacity in order to defeat the Soviet supported
MPLA. Mulcahy’s testimony was deceitful as US actions only stood to
increase the bloodshed in Angola and was incompatible with encouraging a
negotiated solution as he had outlined to Congress.

In the wake of the decision to approve Operation IAFEATURE, Davis
resigned as Assistant Secretary for African Affairs after only four months in
office. However, in order not to draw attention to the Angolan programme
he agreed to take an extended vacation away from Washington, DC. This
marked the end of a tumultuous relationship with Kissinger and Davis over
the direction of US-Angolan policy. His determination to avoid
unnecessary intervention ensured that his career would be confined to the
relative diplomatic backwater of Switzerland. It is ultimately ironic that the
man Kissinger defended as being chosen to provide impetus in African
policy was swiftly moved on for trying to convince Kissinger that Angola
was not important enough to become a Cold War hotspot.

Ominous warnings: FNLA weaknesses and Portuguese
disinterest

The danger of media exposure was apparent even before IAFEATURE was
approved and increased as July progressed and allegations of US
involvement in Angola appeared in the US, English, Soviet and Chinese
press. On 28 July 1975, the Washington Post carried a piece that referred to
the Chinese accusation that Angola was becoming a battleground for Cold
War rivalry; while mainly criticizing the Soviets it also drew attention to the
US when it stated “the official New China News Agency also made an
indirect attack on the United States saying ‘two superpowers’ were both

trying to block Angolan independence”.>” The US embassy in Moscow was
also regularly reporting back to Washington, DC during this time on trends
in Soviet media coverage towards the US and the link to Angola. The
embassy wrote that an article claimed that Chinese actions “allow

Washington, for the time being, to remain in the background”.”® Media
coverage was significant enough for George Houser, Executive Director of
the American Committee on Africa, to cite a newspaper article in his
testimony before the Subcommittee on African Affairs on 29 July, alleging



that a US-made armoured vehicle was being used by the FNLA in recent
clashes over the Angolan town of Caxito. He conceded that this was just a
report but argued that the issue “is an area for research [... as it is a] fact
there has been US military assistance to Zaire, [and] the fact that Zaire has

supported the FNLA gives it some credibility”.>* However, this was not the
only problem with US—Angolan policy at the time; the nature of Kissinger’s
pursuit of covert action resulted in a breakdown of communication between
the upper echelons of the State Department and the US consulate in Angola
itself.

This confusion about Angolan policy is evident when US Consul
General in Luanda, Angola, Tom Killoran confidently told an FNLA
official on 14 July 1975 that “there is no possibility for US aid to the FNLA
because of US domestic opinion resulting from our experience in South

Vietnam”.>> A few days later, Killoran met with the FNLA’s Minister for
Health, Samel Abridaga about aid for refugee relief and the battle for
Luanda. His analysis is revealing as he portrayed the FNLA leadership as
being unprepared to govern. He observed that key FNLA figures were
“emotional, cunning, contradictory and often unable to think an idea

through”.°® Moreover, he seriously questioned their commitment and ethics.
He concluded the US should not provide any funds, even for refugee relief
purposes as the FNLA’s reputation and lack of assistance towards Angolan
refugees returning from Zaire would “lead a reasonable man to conclude he

is either incompetent or dishonest, or both”.”” Killoran’s views strike a
similar tone to Davis’ and Hyland’s arguments about the serious inherent
weaknesses of the FNLA. He argued that the FNLA’s leadership was weak,
especially Holden Roberto who was described as being a coward.
Furthermore, his ability to manage his subordinates was considered

“abysmal”.>® Yet despite his reporting from Luanda, Killoran’s views were
never really instrumental in the decisionmaking on Angola. Years later
Killoran said he felt that all his reports were ignored and equated it to them
falling into a black hole. This perception was corroborated by Robert
Hultslander, the CIA station chief in Luanda at the time, when he told Piero
Gleijeses that “no one wanted to believe the consulate’s reporting [...] he
[Killoran] sacrificed his career in the State Department when he refused to
bend his reporting to Kissinger’s policy”.>® The futility of Killoran’s
warnings joined those of Davis and the other officials who had no choice



but to accept that the decision had been made and that the conversation was
NOW OVer.

Certainly, all grumblings of discontent had practically vanished by 25
July 1975 when the operational details of the programme were being
finalized. Although present at the meeting, Davis raised no objections nor
contributed substantively to any discussion on the programme. In essence
he was a dejected figure whose fight for non-intervention had cost him yet
another assignment so soon after Chile. Despite his earlier objections, Sisco
was also now on board with the decision to intervene and merely

commented, “let’s do it fast now that it’s being done”.%? But Kissinger’s
anger had a new focal point as he felt Colby was still dragging the issue out.
When informed that Colby was cautioning about ramping up the level of
aid to Zaire too quickly, Kissinger rebuked “I don’t want to hear about

Colby [... you should] tell Colby I want no more crying. It’s decided”.%!
Yet the operation faced significant difficulties from the outset as the
Portuguese control of Angola was disintegrating rapidly. By now, the
Portuguese themselves had lost interest in maintaining the peace, despite
Foreign Minister Melo Antunes’ repeated statements to the contrary.

This was apparent when Texeira Da Mota, a Portuguese Foreign
Ministry Official, told an officer in the US consulate in Luanda that the
liberation groups’ acceptance of a partition of the country was inevitable;
the FNLA should be content with the north of the country and the MPLA

should accept that it held control over the capital.5? In effect, the Portuguese
hoped that an acceptance of such an outcome would expedite their
departure from the country. Furthermore, on 27 July 1975, the Portuguese
High Commander in Angola, Leonel Cardoso, privately recommended a
denunciation of the Alvor Accords. The Portuguese had lost all stamina to
attempt to control the fighting, borne out of a desire to return home, but also
partially motivated by racial bias. The Portuguese position is illustrated by
Cardoso’s comments to Killoran on his attempts to deal with the liberation
groups for nearly a year. Killoran suggested that Cardoso’s experiences had
made him “fully aware of their meanness and [he] is so allergic to them that

he becomes physically ill whenever he see them”.%® Indeed Killoran
reported that it was Cardoso’s passionate wish “that Alvor will be cast aside
and that his calvary [sic] will soon be over, for his mission ends when Alvor

is denounced”.®4 In a wider context Killoran alluded to the racist attitude of



the Portuguese troops in general as he described that they had “built up a
[sic] disgust and hatred for the liberation groups as they [the Portuguese]

have watched Angola reduced to ruin in a few short months through the

ambition, avarice and savagery of the liberation movements”.%> Therefore,

the scene was set for real escalation in the Angolan Civil War as the
Portuguese were essentially removing themselves from the situation. At the
same time the US had now become immersed in the crisis, and there were
early warning signs that US involvement was unlikely to remain a secret for
long.

Conclusion

The decision in July 1975 to covertly assist the FNLA and UNITA was
made in the face of significant opposition within the State Department and
the CIA. In most of the literature on US foreign policy toward Angola in
1975, the main focus has been on the credibility argument and portraying
Davis as the sole opposition figure to Kissinger. However, there were others
who strongly objected to intervention as a course of action. The reluctance
of Kissinger to admit that the domestic consequences were severe
represents a fundamental breakdown of his realist outlook in the wake of
US defeat in Vietnam. In later years Davis reflected that

both during the final few weeks of the Vietnam War and during the
Angolan crisis of 1975, the Secretary and the President seem to have
believed that it was better to roll the dice against the longest of odds

than to abandon the competition against our great adversary.%®

However, just as important is the focus on the opposition to the decision
and the reasons behind such objections.

Davis’ concerns have subsequently been attacked by Kissinger and
Hyland for being heavily influenced by the events in Chile and Vietnam.
Others like Morris and Spikes point to a frightened bureaucrat who was
more worried by his own reputation and how he would be perceived by
others. Yet, if anything, Kissinger’s determination in the face of stern
opposition from Sisco, Hyland and Colby illustrates that he was in fact the
one who was more inherently affected by the defeat in Vietnam. He felt he
needed a victory in Angola to restore US credibility, but also a degree of his



personal reputation that was in decline in 1975. By ignoring the warnings of
Davis and others, Kissinger and Ford helped create the conditions for a
domestic confrontation between the legislative and executive branches over
the control of post-Vietnam US foreign policy. As IAFEATURE ramped up
into August and September, there was a growing uneasiness among State
Department officials that the decision was a mistake. The Soviets,
undeterred by the sudden increase in arms for the FNLA and UNITA,
continued to escalate their aid to the MPLA, all of which only exacerbated
the intensity of the Angolan Civil War.
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5 An autumn of discontent
The collapse of IAFEATURE

Introduction

Historian Daniel Spikes argues that Kissinger and his loyalists were
“pleased with themselves as they watched IAFEATURE bloom into a fully-
fledged operation [... and] Washington policymakers sat back and waited

for Moscow to cooperate”.! Indeed there was some initial success for the
FNLA in the weeks after US aid was approved. This emboldened Kissinger
to think that even when Congress discovered the operation, they would not
threaten to pull the plug. He said confidently,

my view is that they can’t touch us on this. I don’t see how we can be
faulted on what we are doing. We are not overthrowing any
government; we are not subverting anyone. We are helping moderates

combat Communist domination.?

His conviction that Angola was an important place to symbolize that the US
was not a power in retreat ignored the problems that inhibited US foreign
policy at this time. Primarily, that the negative attitudes of legislative
branches and the public to covert operations in principle had the potential to
cause detrimental damage to the credibility of the Ford administration in the
build-up to the Presidential election in 1976.

The autumn of 1975 was hallmarked by the re-emergence of concerns
from Sisco and Hyland, who were now joined by US chargé d’affaires in
Zaire, Lannon Walker. Even in its infancy, State Department officials
pushed Kissinger to reconsider the plan, fearing the domestic and



international consequences of the covert operation. Yet they were dismissed
as the injection of US aid had resulted in some early successes against the
MPLA. However, the increase in US aid was always going to have an initial
positive result. Once the Soviets saw the impact of IAFEATURE, they
would escalate until one side was forced to fold its hand. As a result, the
Angolan conflict began to rage as it was now fuelled by substantial foreign
aid, essentially removing the local context of Angolan independence and
replacing it with a superpower rivalry that outstripped the country’s relative
significance. The result was an increasing media and Congressional focus
on Angola as the US presence became apparent. Simultaneously as the
weeks went on, Kissinger was being confronted with the reality that the
Angolan Civil War was not going to be a quick win, but he remained
undeterred, believing that it was the correct course of action.

The first section of this chapter focuses on the continuing opposition to
US intervention in Angola. It shows that Kissinger continued to dismiss
concerns relating to Congressional opposition and the threat of being slowly
sucked into a quagmire in Angola. Yet the arguments presented by Hyland,
Sisco and Lannon Walker outlined the real dangers that would ultimately
come back to haunt the Ford administration when the operation was finally
exposed. This chapter extends this issue by outlining how Kissinger
remained defiant even as the Angolan programme began to slowly unravel
in the public domain and his acknowledgment that it was creating a
damaging rift between the executive and legislative branches over foreign
policy.

The second section discusses opposition from the US embassy in Zaire.
The reports of the Angolan conflict beginning to intensify at such speed that
the US would have to significantly increase its aid to maintain the
competition with the Soviets were concerning. Despite this warning, Walker
cautioned against following through, instead he thought the US should
establish limits that it would not breach in order to avoid a Vietnam-style
escalation. However, this recommendation was overtaken by the
introduction of South African troops and subsequently Cuban troops into
Angola in October 1975. In addition, the initial gains for US objectives
came at a great cost as the media increasingly focused on the fighting and
the role of the US became exposed in early September. Even worse, the US
was associated with the South Africans despite no evidence to fully
corroborate the claim. As a result, the House Committee on International



Relations met to discuss “Disaster Relief for Angola” where the initial form
of Congressional objections to the programme were evident. After Angola
was granted independence on 11 November 1975, and with the situation
spiralling out of control, Kissinger was forced to admit that he had to open a
diplomatic dialogue with the Soviets to try and salvage some form of
credibility from the Angolan debacle.

Finally, this chapter examines the realization from Kissinger that by
November, Angola was effectively lost. In an attempt to deflect blame, he
tried to turn the warnings he had received from Colby throughout the
autumn of 1975 into evidence of the CIA’s incompetence to persuade
President Ford that this was the main reason that the Angolan programme
was failing. In subsequent years, Kissinger has heavily criticized Colby’s
role in directing IAFEATURE and classified him as being a prisoner of
Vietnam syndrome. It is a tactic that he also used to manipulate perceptions
of Davis’ objections to the Angolan intervention. This chapter argues that
this is not a correct picture of the discussions surrounding US policy in
November 1975. While Colby had reservations; they were grounded in
realistic domestic constraints in Washington, DC at the time. However, he
actually pushed for the means to compete with the Soviets where possible
and argued that American technicians and trainers were needed to ensure
any level of success. Yet this course of action was rebuked by Kissinger
whose own fears of Vietnam and the domestic climate affected his own
Angolan policy.

The re-emergence of opposition to Kissinger’s Angolan strategy

In the weeks after the decision to approve Operation IAFEATURE, Hyland
raised concerns over the potential for criticism from the DOD about turning

a civil conflict into a bloodbath.? He saw that the US would be accused of
escalating a local war, resulting in significant civilian casualties and that
Angola as a newly independent state would be completely destroyed by the
civil war. In such terms, Kissinger’s test of will with the Soviets could only
result in damage to US credibility in a region where US attitudes had been
under examination by Africans for some time. Instead of helping the
Africans to diplomatically challenge the Soviets to halt their aid to the
MPLA, the US was beginning to be sucked into another quagmire which



raised questions about the morality of US foreign policy toward Africa. On
8 August 1975, the same day that Hyland urged caution, Sisco wrote a
memorandum to Kissinger advising a demarche to the Soviets on Angola. It
advised that the US should in strong terms tell the Soviet Ambassador to the
US, Anatoly Dobrynin that the US found Soviet military support of the
MPLA and Neto “dangerous and unacceptable [... and] neither of our
countries has important interests involved in that remote and marginal

area”.* Sisco’s main concerns had not changed from the summer of 1975.
He still believed that Angola was not worth the risk and that the US should
attempt to solve the issue directly with the Soviets rather than in the bush in
Angola. Yet Kissinger was encouraged by the early successes of
IAFEATURE. However, despite Kissinger’s optimism, concerns over the
decision to intervene began to emerge in Zaire.

On 10 September 1975, US DCM in Zaire, Lannon Walker cabled
Washington outlining how the Angolan Civil War had increased Mobutu’s
confidence significantly. Specifically, he warned that Mobutu believed he
could now accomplish his own personal objectives in Angola, such as
claiming the oil-rich Cabinda province. These warnings help build out the
rationale for why Mobutu pushed so hard for US intervention. Far from any
concern of Soviet influence, he was attempting to use US aid to manoeuvre
Zaire out of a perilous economic situation. Walker references this when he
stated

Mobutu [has] unilaterally increased aid to the FNLA, thinking he
would have US backing [... and] when the US did provide military and
economic support, Mobutu’s vision grew — thought that the US would
help him impose his kind of solution in Angola and Cabinda and ‘use

our money and influence to fill his $400 million deficit too.”

In Walker’s estimation, Mobutu’s actions would soon make it impossible to
maintain the pretence of non-US involvement. He feared Mobutu would
seek to dramatically escalate things, sending battalions and moving the
Front for the Liberation of the Enclave of Cabinda (FLEC) into Cabinda
and “demand a vastly increased program of support to the FNLA, UNITA,
FLEC and even then, he is likely to send the FLEC into Cabinda”.® Despite
these concerns over Mobutu’s personal aims, Walker expressed there was a
real danger that Mobutu’s actions would expose the entire covert operation.



He added:

in any event, the profound degree of Mobutu’s commitment of arms
and men may well become known, and also possibly our support [...]
and if the scenario develops like this, will the Congress go along when

it comes to replenish the agency’s reserve funds?’

These questions about Congressional support tied into Walker’s overall
evaluation and indeed fear of the US over-committing itself in the region. In
a damning assessment, Walker expressed deep reservations on US policy to
support Mobutu. His main concern was that

Mobutu believes we can and will support him all the way. And I don’t
think we can [... and] if it turns out we can’t, I predict that he will have
fatally overcommitted himself; he has wrecked his economy, alienated
literally every power center in Zaire and survived thus far by sheer
political genius and force of will. The Angolan war, if it evolves as

described above, could destroy him.?

In a wider context, Walker foresaw a clear danger, primarily that Mobutu
would ultimately drag the US into the region. He strongly proclaimed that

the international and domestic US repercussions are obvious. And from
the point of view of our own interests, I do not believe that we should
continue to allow Mobutu or the rhythm of the war in Angola to pull us

into an untenable position.”

Yet Walker’s apprehension differed to that of Davis, Hyland and Sisco who
primarily argued that Angola was not a vital interest and could exacerbate
an already fragile domestic political environment. Walker’s assessment was
focused on the ability of Mobutu to manoeuvre the US into a regional
conflict and how the US could lose credibility by being in partnership with
him. However, to Kissinger, Walker’s views were at best naive and
displayed a lack of resolve to counter the Soviets by focusing too much on
the African context. Specifically, Walker warned that the US had to judge
the local situation more astutely and not be pressured into action too
quickly by threats from Mobutu. He outlined that “the lesson is that while



Mobutu knows that we have done very well by him, he also believes [...]
that we can and will do much more. All he has to do is pull the right

strings”.1Y Like the other voices of opposition, Walker did not object to the
principle of confronting the Soviets, but he recognized that regional and
American domestic realities meant that there was little room for error in
Angola. In order to be successful, the US needed to set strict guidelines to
maintain a level of control over local actors such as Mobutu. If not, the
situation could escalate to the point where US credibility in southern Africa
would be damaged significantly further.

The strong warnings of Walker’s report were evident during Kissinger’s
staff meeting on 11 September 1975, but its findings were dismissed as
more preaching from the African Bureau. However, in his new position as
Acting Assistant Secretary of State for African Affairs, Edward Mulcahy
concurred that “Mobutu is moving to a quantum escalation of his

involvement in the Angolan war”."' However, this threat of escalation did
not concern Kissinger. In fact, he welcomed Mobutu’s intensification of
Zairian involvement. In a separate meeting held later that day, he made it
clear that the issue was no longer up for discussion from members of the
African by sarcastically remarking “is our missionary Bureau going to keep

its mouth shut on the subject or are we going to advise Mobutu?”!? Yet
despite the marginalization of the African Bureau, the fallout on the
Angolan decision was still an ongoing situation for Kissinger. This halting
of the initial progress of IAFEATURE resulted in gloomy accounts on the
situation in Angola, including from Kissinger who lamented “we’ve blown

it basically”.!3 With the tide beginning to turn, Colby informed Kissinger in
mid-September that direct US training was required to balance the situation

Yet despite his eagerness, Kissinger was wary of the dangers of direct
American involvement. Colby made it clear that Zaire, the FNLA and
UNITA needed direct American assistance in order to train uneducated
Angolans to use the weaponry being placed at their disposal. This was a
high-risk strategy in post-Vietham American foreign policy, one which
Kissinger wholly recognized as he admitted, “I’m worried about US
training involvement, what with the spectre of Vietnam”.!# He felt that such
a constraint was a significant handicap on US ability to respond to the
Soviets in the Third World, but he never fully accepted these constraints
remarking, “I fail to see the rationale that Soviets can but we can’t — that we



have no moral right to respond to the Soviet intrusion in Angola!”!® In
addition, further concerns on Congressional influence were raised during
the 40 Committee meeting. Both the Director of Office of Central African
Affairs William L. Cutler and Deputy Secretary of Defence for Security
Assistance Lieutenant General Howard M. Fish felt that aid to Zaire would
be affected if Congress found out about the operation. However, Kissinger
lamented what he perceived as a defeatist attitude stating “the Americans’
masochism is beyond all help. The Soviets gave maximum aid and turned a

minor movement into a dominant one”.!® Kissinger believed that his
colleagues felt afraid of Congress, but he acknowledged that the Angolan
policy could only go so far. Specifically, he rejected the idea that the US
should commit to direct training as he would be accused of initiating
another Vietnam-type engagement. This is evident when he observed “if we
send in Americans, there will be the cry that we are starting another
Vietnam and I’ve been on the Hill all week explaining that we are not doing

that in the Middle East”.!” It further illustrated his frustration at the
constraints after the collapse of Vietnam and the intelligence investigations
of the CIA on Capitol Hill. Yet despite his criticism of Colby for reacting
too slow to events, Kissinger’s refusal to acquiesce to Colby’s request to
send American trainers into Angola illustrates a fundamental problem with
IAFEATURE. Particularly, there was a desperate need to educate the
FNLA, UNITA and Zairian troops on how to use the weapons being
supplied to them. Both Hyland and Fish also acknowledged this fact when
Hyland remarked that equipment levels were sufficient, and Fish

highlighted that training was the problem.'® However, Kissinger knew that
it would be a step too far to send US trainers. So, while he has criticized
Colby for being influenced by Vietnam syndrome, Kissinger himself made
tactical decisions influenced by Vietham which undermined his own
Angolan policy. His decision-making also displayed no regard for African
autonomy; the southern African region was seen in strictly Cold War terms
and the danger of escalating beyond boundaries of sovereignty was
increased as his Angolan policy was breaking down.

One of the most disturbing factors that emerged from a 40 Committee
meeting at the end of September was a complete disregard for the territorial
rights of Angolans. It was revealed that Mobutu was considering invading
the oil-rich Angolan enclave of Cabinda. Despite the apprehension raised
by Sisco, Ambassador Sheldon Vance and CIA African Division Chief Jim



Potts that such a move would destroy any relationship with the FNLA and
UNITA, Kissinger’s reaction illustrated his ignorance of African
sovereignty. In a highly controversial statement, Kissinger approved
Mobutu’s plan to annex Cabinda just to ensure it did not fall into the hands
of the MPLA. This violation of Angolan sovereignty was deemed
acceptable in order to maintain good relations with Zaire and offset any
concerns that Mobutu may have had about US credibility if the US lost.
This is reflected in his statement that

Cabinda has a lower priority than Angola. But, it would be better to
take it than let it go to the MPLA [... and] this could be a blow to the
US, Cabinda’s loss on top of Angola. If Angola is going down the

drain, then Mobutu should take Cabinda.?

Remarkably Hyland endorsed such a scenario on the basis of maintaining a
good relationship with Zaire as “if we don’t help Mobutu on Cabinda —
something that is close to his heart [... and] he is going to wonder what

kind of friends we are”.?? Therefore, the credibility argument remained
evident throughout Angolan policy but it was beginning to evolve into more
something more sinister, where the fundamental principles of international
relations could have been violated to justify maintaining good relations with
a regional dictator. In a wider international context, Kissinger’s perception
on how the US was impotent was illustrated when he responded to Colby’s
suggestion that the US consult with the Chinese to apply pressure on the
Soviets. He told the committee

we look like pitiful characters. Angola is as far away from the Soviets
as they can get, so we go to the Chinese who are also as far away from

China [sic] as they can get — all because we can’t do anything.?!

With the situation becoming increasingly unstable Kissinger decided that
drastic action was required as the US had to win in Angola. The result was
to approve the training of “Angolans by Americans outside of Angola [...]
and the recruitment of non-American trainers/advisors for service in
Angola”.22 Yet despite this action, two weeks later the situation was so
grave that he reluctantly made a play for Chinese support. In his book, The
Flawed Architect, Jussi Hanhiméki argues that Kissinger was eager to offset



the perception of weakness but was left exasperated by the Chinese refusal

to get drawn in any further in the Angolan situation.?> When Kissinger met
Chinese Foreign Minister Ch’iao Kuan-hua at the UN General Assembly
meeting on 28 September 1975, he outlined that the US was attempting to
balance the situation in an attempt to create the conditions for a negotiated
settlement. However, his attempts were rebuffed, much to his
disappointment. Simultaneously, Kissinger was also trying to manipulate
the public perception of events in Angola. In an address to the OAU
delegates at the UN on 23 September 1975, Kissinger remarked that events
in Angola had taken a distressing turn which had resulted in widespread
violence. He claimed the US was

alarmed at the interference of extra continental powers who do not
wish Africa well and whose involvement is inconsistent with the
promise of true independence. We believe a fair and peaceful solution
must be negotiated, giving all groups representing the Angolan people

a fair role in its future.?4

Yet privately the US was increasing its efforts by sending trainers to Zaire
and introducing mercenaries into the conflict. Nevertheless, despite the
decision to escalate US involvement external events were outpacing the US
efforts.

The demise of IAFEATURE: congressional unrest and the
South African presence

A report compiled by the staff in the US embassy in Kinshasa, Zaire bore
similar warnings previously relayed to Kissinger especially in relation to
the risk of counter-escalation from the Soviets. Indeed, the report directly
confronts this fact and its implications for IAFEATURE stating that

The Soviets, aware of these constraints on US action and lacking
similar restraints on their own — presumably have factored this
perception into a determination to outlast and outbid us in Angola.
Baldly stated, then, the present policy offers only the slimmest chance

of success.?°



From analysing the primary evidence, two recurring themes emerge. First,
the realization that Angola could not be won unless the US was prepared to
risk a full military engagement. Second, the need for setting realistic
expectations with Mobutu in relation to US commitment. It is clear that US
embassy officials believed the US had already harmed its reputation in the
region with its covert efforts. Furthermore, it was predicted that the dire
chances of its success would inflict a further blow to US credibility as an
ally. The report concluded:

For Africans, and the Third World generally, another ‘climb-down with
honour’ — this time in Angola — would vitiate our credibility as an ally
as well. Unless, then, we are prepared to escalate to the point (whatever
that may be) of certain victory, we had better set our limits and devise

an alternative to the present policy.?%

However, within a few days of the report, the stakes in Angola were
dramatically raised with the introduction of South African and Cuban
troops into Angola to fight on the behalf of UNITA and the MPLA,
respectively.

The South Africans launched an offensive into Angola on 14 October
1975, with a programme codenamed Operation ZULU and over the course
of the month introduced “up to 3,000 troops of the South African Defense
Force (SADF) cooperated with a simultaneous UNITA drive to the capital

from the south”.?” However, the intervention of the South Africans
provided Kissinger with great optimism that the US could win in Angola.
The primary evidence provides an intriguing Angolan perspective too as it
shows that UNITA leader Jonas Savimbi was separately courting the South
Africans as he believed that the US was not providing enough aid. Cable
traffic shows that Liberian President William Tolbert told US officials in
Monrovia, Liberia, that

Savimbi said US aid was too slow and that he hoped that some other
channels could be worked out for funnelling US aid other than the sole
Zaire channel [... and] Savimbi said he had made contact with South
Africa for help since he felt they could cooperate in a common effort
against the common enemy of communism even though UNITA

deplored apartheid.?®



Kissinger believed that with South African assistance the FNLA and
UNITA would triumph in Angola and give the US a much-needed victory to
dispel any uncertainties about American power. To this end he had great
reason to be optimistic. The South Africans made an initial impact and
quickly changed the Angolan situation, driving northwards towards the
Angolan capital of Luanda in the hope of reclaiming it from the MPLA in
time for Angolan independence on 11 November 1975.

By 3 November 1975, with the whole Angolan outlook changing,
Kissinger told Ford “on Angola, we are doing amazingly well. All the ports

but Luanda are surrounded”.?® He buoyantly proclaimed to Ford that US
foreign policy was in great shape and signalled a major success for the Ford
administration as “coming out of a total debacle in Vietnam and six months

later we have recovered as a world leader”.3? This optimism could also be
attributed to Kissinger’s need to portray a positive image in the aftermath of
Ford’s decision to remove Kissinger as National Security Advisor at the end
of October. Yet, this euphoria fails to point out the real reason why the
situation in Angola had significantly changed; the intervention of South
African troops. However, as stories of US involvement began to take hold
in the media, the association with the South African intervention would
only serve to harm US foreign policy in both the domestic and international
arenas. There had been sporadic reports as early as August that the US was
supplying arms into Angola. However, these stories had not generated
sustained traction in the US media until the South African intervention. The
New York Times, at this time not aware of the South African presence in the
south of Angola, was reporting that although the political and economic
stakes in Angola were tempting, the US should refrain from getting
entangled as the “bitter experience of intervention in a complicated civil

war in Asia, [... should serve as a warning to] avoid involvement in this

equally complex civil war in Africa”.3! In an interview years later, the

impact of South African intervention was recalled by Mulcahy. He
commented that by October 1975 it was well known that the US was
helping the non-Marxist movements in Angola. Despite French, British and
other Western nations’ involvement, it was the US that received the most
attention. He remarked that “The thing that hurt us all the way through, of
course, was the South Africans. We were in the same boat as the South

Africans. That’s what really hurt us especially in Africa”.?? In addition,



Congress was also growing more concerned about the allegations in the US
media and abroad that the US was involved in the Angolan Civil War.

On 5 November 1975, the House of Representatives Committee on
International Relations met to discuss disaster assistance to Angola. The
level of media attention on Angola and reports of US involvement had been
steadily growing throughout the autumn. One of the main considerations for
the Chairman of the Committee, Congressman Charles Diggs (D-Michigan)
was to ensure that funds for disaster assistance in Angola would not be
utilized either directly or indirectly to help the FNLA or UNITA. In Diggs’
opinion, the need for relief aid was significantly increased by the
involvement of outside powers involvement in the Angolan Civil War.
Therefore, he felt an examination into US policy was needed in order to
ascertain if the US was partly responsible for the level of destruction in the
country. It was a very pertinent point as it correlates directly with the
implications of Kissinger’s policy. Mainly, its contribution to the
destruction of Angolan society by enabling an exacerbation of the Angolan
Civil War, in the deluded hope that such action would restore a perceived
loss of US credibility. When Diggs and Congressman Stephen Solarz (D-
New York) confronted Mulcahy with questions surrounding assistance to
the FNLA and UNITA, he neither confirmed nor denied the allegation. In
effect, his silence was a quiet acknowledgement that the US was involved
in some capacity to influence events in Angola. This was a pre-planned
action ordered by Kissinger who instructed Mulcahy “to duck all questions,

even in Executive session, on Angola and refer the question to the CIA”.33
This did not go unnoticed as Solarz mused:

you take the position that we have no particular interest in the success
or failure of any one of these factions but you have no comment to
make on the allegations that in spite of that judgement we may be

helping one or more of the factions.*

The committee also heard from the Director of the Washington Office on
Africa Edgar Lockwood, who drew attention to the growing evidence of US
intervention in Angola. He cited the imbalance of coverage on US foreign
policy towards Africa and other parts of the world, arguing that interfering
in any country’s affairs was wrong. He stated “critics of US foreign policy
cite US intervention in Indochina and Latin America [as too invasive] but



criticize US policy toward southern Africa as merely an absence of interest

or absence of positive concern”.3> Therefore, the initial foundations for
Congressional objections were beginning to take shape in early November
1975 as Congressional frustration with the lack of forthcoming information
from the executive branch was building. This was aided by testimony from
African experts such as Lockwood whose views aligned with the legislative
branches’ determination to learn from the mistakes of US foreign policy
since the 1960s.

On 6 November, Sisco and Colby testified before the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee (SFRC) in an executive session. There was little doubt
that some members of Congress were agitated by the US position on
Angola. During his testimony Sisco defended Kissinger’s Angolan policy
stating that

outside interference has had a radical change in the balance of power
among the three movements — a balance which had previously offered
hope for a compromise [... and as a result] there would be grave
consequences for the security and stability of Zaire and Zambia if

Angola were to fall into the hands of a communist party.3°

Yet the fear of a domino effect in the sub-Saharan region were unfounded.
There was no evidence to suggest that Angola was a crucial entry point into
the region for the Soviets. Nor was it apparent that it was actively seeking
to expand its influence in the region if the MPLA emerged victorious. Yet
Sisco drew on the credibility argument favoured by Kissinger by arguing
that there was a need to show strength after Vietnam. He stated that it was

important to the credibility of our policies throughout the world not to
permit such a power play by the USSR to go totally unchallenged [...
by showing that] the United States, despite recent reverses in Southeast
Asia and our preoccupations at home, is still able to react when a

power — the Soviet Union in this instance — moves to upset the

international political environment.3”

Despite the stoic arguments in defence of US policy it was clear that the
exposure of IAFEATURE and inevitable confrontation with Congress was
imminent even before Angola became an independent state.



On 11 November 1975, the MPLA declared independence as the
government of the PRA, while the FNLA announced their own government
for the Democratic Republic of Angola, and UNITA established the Social

Democratic Republic of Angola.?® Angola became an independent state but
without a functioning government and in the grip of a civil war that had
become an internationalized battleground. On 13 November 1975,
Kissinger was informed by Mulcahy that the FNLA were retreating. It was
now clear that the only credible group was UNITA, albeit with substantial
South African assistance. Mulcahy outlined “militarily the situation goes
well for the good guys [UNITA ...] still picking up territory, particularly in
the south side of Luanda. The FNLA, however, on the north side took a real

pasting”.3? This defeat was also reported by the New York Times journalist
Michael Kaufman who wrote that the MPLA “repulsed an attack from the
north and had in fact advanced halfway to the stronghold of their major

opposition”.*® However, there was further bad news for the US in mid-
November 1975 when it became clear that the Soviets were introducing
MIG aircraft into Angola. This appears to have caught Kissinger by surprise

as he admitted “that will change the situation completely”.*! Such a
revelation meant that the US would have to overtly intervene to combat the
Soviet escalation. Kissinger’s deflation was shared by Hyland who
concurred “that is the end of it. Five airplanes will rip it right open [... and]
if the Soviets and Cubans intervene that blatantly, I think it is a totally

different ball game”.*’> To some extent Kissinger was certain that the
Soviets were not prepared to escalate their involvement to such an extent,
despite the warnings he received from Davis during the summer. Journalist
and African specialist Colin Legum provides a perceptive analysis of the
Soviet actions after Angolan independence, observing that Moscow felt
completely free to escalate as it was legitimately supporting the new
‘sovereign’ MPLA government in Luanda and because of the intervention

by the South African army.*> With IAFEATURE floundering and the
gradual encroachment by Congress, Kissinger expressed his frustration
when he stated “I believe our behavior [sic] has been cowardly and totally
insensitive to the real Constitutional purpose. There is a rift going on
between the legislative and the Administration that will ruin our foreign

policy”.#4 Interestingly, he blamed Colby for helping to give momentum by
handing over documents to the investigating committees. Yet he accepted



no responsibility for his own contribution to that rift. Although specifically
warned that IAFEATURE would result in a confrontation, he pushed for the
active option at every opportunity.

In search of a Plan B: the options confronting the Ford
administration

On 14 November 1975, the 40 Committee convened again to discuss the
deteriorating events in post-independence Angola. In contrast to previous
meetings, Colby outlined the new Angolan landscape by stating that “the
number of Cubans there is a new factor and the possibility of air support

being introduced creates an entirely new picture”.*> In order to combat this
he outlined that significant additional funding and political manoeuvring
would be required, such as “sending Redeye missiles; a crash effort on the
political front; keep the South Africans involved; work on the Soviets to get

out — a direct approach”.*® At the same time he pushed for a negotiated
African-led solution as “we can’t get them to go in and do anything. They
talk about it, and they say they are willing but nothing has been done [...

and] we need to stir up the African countries and get them involved”.#” Yet
such a suggestion would have been dismissed by Kissinger who already had
sought to quash such thinking as early as August 1975 when he rebuked
members of the 40 Committee stating that “the Africans aren’t going to get

together in a coalition [...] that’s a pipedream”.*® Furthermore, in light of
the change in events since then newly appointed National Security Advisor
Brent Scowcroft and Colby both agreed that even if African nations could
be induced to act, the presence of MIGs meant that the US was “in a no-win

position — just buying time”.*> The 40 Committee struggled for solutions
that would give the US more time to respond to the Cuban intervention. It
had finally reached the point of no return and the warnings of Davis, Sisco,
Hyland, Lord and Walker among others over the course of the previous
months were coming true. It had been a self-fulfilling prophecy and the
uneasy consequences were now emerging.

In desperation for alternatives, CIA African Division Chief Jim Potts
informed the committee that the South Africans were requesting funding for
mercenaries. Yet Colby was quick to raise the danger of such a
collaboration. It was too politically sensitive in his opinion, and he stated



that “the problem is, if we get more South Africans we get more political

trouble”.”® Others such as Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and
Pacific Affairs, Robert S. Ingersoll, however, staunchly refused to accept
the limitations of the US in the immediate post-Vietnam era. He endorsed
the South African approach and proclaimed “now is not the time to let

down; get the dollars and move ahead”.”! The meeting provides further
evidence of the slippery slope that the US had descended on as their
reliance on the South Africans is apparent. Nevertheless, it also illustrates
that Colby believed that an African based solution in Angola was a better
solution than expanding beyond acceptable limits that could be justified to
Congress. This opposition did not go unnoticed by Kissinger who continued
his attacks on Colby by generating the perception that he was sabotaging
US- Angolan policy.

On 19 November 1975, Kissinger told Ford that “the trend is against us
in Angola. I think we should appeal for a cease-fire to the OAU and the

Soviet Union. Colby is blackmailing us”.>? In his memoirs, Kissinger
criticizes the role Colby played in the execution of Operation IAFEATURE.
He argued that the best approach was to spend the

allocated funds as early as possible in order to bring about a rapid and
significant change in the situation on the ground and to intimidate
Soviet escalation. But Colby porated the funds made available [... and]
we wasted the crucial two months before Cuban forces arrived in large

numbers.>3

However, this contradicts the primary evidence. In fact, Kissinger was
initially very pleased with the efforts of Colby and the CIA and remarked
during a 40 Committee meeting held on 8 August 1975 that “my friends at
State have been going around weeping about this. They’d like strict

neutrality. I think you’ve [Colby] done damn well in a short time”.>* Yet
when it was clear that all was lost in November, Kissinger sought to
apportion blame elsewhere for the defeat and told colleagues “the tide is
turning. This hero at the CIA has already so informed the White House and

has probably been briefing the committees to that effect”.>> When Mulcahy

outlined that Colby was pushing for diplomacy, Kissinger hit out “that g.d.
[sic] CIA does not push us! The CIA does their work and we handle



diplomacy. All we want to know is the cost of covert actions”.”® However,
Colby’s actions were merely a result of the realities he faced in Washington,
DC at the time, where the CIA was being thoroughly scrutinized by
Congress in the wake of Watergate and the Chilean debacles.

This is an important point as the primary evidence shows that the
Congressional investigations were inflicting damage to the perception of
US power. Indeed, State Department officials felt that the hearings on
Capitol Hill were exposing the internal divisions on US foreign policy for
the rest of the world to see. These views were highlighted by Hyland who
heavily criticized the work of the Church Committee. In particular, he took
exception to the relentless pursuit of details on CIA covert actions and
operations. He felt that such details would be extremely damaging and
could “be used by every anti-American everywhere in the world to just

paste us. It is another self-inflicted wound”.>” His views were shared by
Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs William Rogers who
envisioned damage to US credibility in Central and South America. He
argued that the outcomes of the Church Committee were

going to hurt in Mexico, all over the Caribbean. It is going to hurt in
Venezuela, in Columbia, in Chile, Brazil — they are going to say “what
kind of country is this? How can you do business with people like this

who spill their guts all over the place?”>8

Interestingly Rogers also commented on how it would impact US—African
relations. He drew attention to the CIA plot to kill Patrice Lumumba in the
1960s and how such information was damaging to other African countries’
perceptions of the US. He also linked this to Angola by arguing that the
work of the committee helped the MPLA propaganda against the US. His
views are illustrated when he stated that

the idea that the CIA under a vague Presidential order was trying to kill
Lumumba — Americans, not mercenaries — and that Lumumba was
killed, but not by Americans is going to get totally lost in the
propaganda. And the MPLA and all these Communist groups in Africa
are going to have a field day saying “See what happens when you let

the Americans in? You see what Mobutu is really like?”>°



It was in this atmosphere that Colby was trying to manoeuvre in, both to
acquiesce to Congressional oversight while simultaneously trying enforcing
Kissinger’s Angolan policy. Despite Kissinger’s negative views on Colby,
he did begin to realize that the situation was starting to spiral out of control.
As a result, he began to make overtures to the Soviets in an attempt to de-
escalate the situation. He began by sending a message through Soviet
Ambassador to the US, Anatoly Dobrynin by suggesting “we ought to find

a way of cooling down Angola. It isn’t worth undermining our relations

over” and suggested that both countries “support the OAU in a ceasefire”.5

It is somewhat ironic that Kissinger was forced to retreat to the diplomatic
option he ridiculed Davis and the African Bureau for advocating only a few
months previously.

On 21 November 1975, during another 40 Committee meeting on
Angola, Colby made it clear that the large Cuban presence made it

impossible to win in Angola through covert means.®! While outlining the

potential countermeasures he warned, “these are big operations. The scope

and size are such as to make one question whether we should attempt it”.52

One of the potential options to avoid any direct US operations was to
support the South Africans. It is clear this was a sensitive issue, one which
Colby, Sisco and Scowcroft all agreed was not worth the price. Colby
displayed the most cautious sentiment outlining that “they’d like to get their
troops out, and hire mercenaries [... but] they don’t have the money to do
this and have turned to us. I think this is political dynamite. The press

would be after us”.53 However, Sisco was not as concerned, instead he
advocated a position where a lack of US discouragement could embolden
the South Africans to stay involved. He argued, “I do not favor [sic] giving
any support to the South Africans [... but] we would not want to discourage

them, but leave them to their own devices”.* There is a degree of
controversy over whether the US secretly encouraged the South Africans to
intervene in Angola. It is fuelled by contrasting statements by US and South
African officials whose recollections cannot be fully verified as the
complete primary evidence remains classified. The option of not
discouraging the South Africans became more appealing in the light of
another warning from Colby on the full impact of the Cuban intervention.
Specifically the expedited timeline by which the MPLA would overwhelm

any remaining FNLA and UNITA forces.5® It was also clear that Scowcroft



was beginning to have concerns about whether the Angolan crisis was
worth the additional US spending and tried to frame the situation in
simplistic terms by arguing, “what we come down to is this; Do we quit

now or stay in the ball game?”.5° In response Colby pushed for a political
option to get the other African states involved: “let’s go full tilt to see we
can get the Africans to act”, yet Scowcroft remained sceptical commenting
that “the diplomatic option is fine, but to expect anything to come of it until

the Soviets see the results of what they are putting in, is unrealistic”.%” One
of the other options provided was to request additional funding from
Congress to continue the Angolan operation. While others were anxious
over the potential political backlash, Scowcroft remained composed and
acknowledged that the issue had received little attention so far. He noted
“we’ve really had modest flack on this so far [... and] maybe we can’t do

anything more but let’s at least give the President the options”.%8 It is clear
that personalities played an important role in how information was analysed
and presented to Ford for approval, especially in the case of Kissinger and
Scowcroft. Historian David Schultz also draws this distinction noting that
“whereas Kissinger consistently presented his personal views, Scowcroft
sought to provide the President with a variety of opinions and dissenting

viewpoints prior to giving his own advice”.®® However, by the end of
November 1975 and with his options decreasing, Kissinger grew frustrated
by a lack of Soviet response to his earlier overture to Dobrynin and began
warn the Soviets that their actions in Angola threatened détente between the
two superpowers.

On 22 November 1975, the US sent a formal message to the Soviets
demanding they halt their supply of arms to the MPLA. It specified that
“the conduct of the Soviet Union in this matter has now surpassed all

bounds of restraint, and has additionally placed it in serious conflict with

the majority of the members of the Organization of African Unity”.”®

However, by linking Angolan policy to détente, Kissinger only served to
escalate the stakes and confirm that the US could not match the Soviet
efforts in Angola. He demanded

that the Soviet Union discontinue the efforts it is now making to
escalate the fighting in Angola, to give public support to the efforts of
the O.A.U. to promote a cease-fire and the subsequent initiation of
peaceful negotiations among the three Angolan movements and to



issue an appeal to all nations to cease their intervention in Angola’s
internal affairs would work.”!

However, his protests were dismissed by the Soviets who rejected the
accusation that their Angolan policy was inconsistent with détente. They
also disagreed that their policy angered the OAU. Despite the setback, this
was the start of an effort by the Ford administration to seek a diplomatic
solution to end the hostilities in Angola without losing credibility. As
illustrated by the 40 Committee meetings during November 1975, the US
position in Angola was becoming increasingly untenable and as a result the
US attempted to open two diplomatic channels in a last-ditch effort to avoid
defeat.

The US tried a multilateral diplomatic approach to get African states to
support their position. On 25 November 1975, the US asked for help from
the French who still held some influence in their former African colonies.
In a message to French President, Giscard d’Estaing, Ford outlined how the
US hoped

to work closely with you and we hope that your government can play a
key role in developing African support [... and] I urge your
government to use its influence to persuade other governments,
especially in Africa, to restrict overflight and landing rights for Soviet
aircraft en route to Angola with cargoes of arms and other military

equipment.”?

The message also contained perceptions of how the US viewed Soviet
motives for intervening in Angola. Yet, these reasons are strikingly similar
to American motives for intervening and maintaining their support for the
FNLA and UNITA. The message stated that after formally recognizing the
MPLA as the legitimate government of Angola, “the Soviets have publicly
staked their prestige on the outcome [... and] Moscow seems to believe that
there is more to be lost by backing down than by pressing on with its
present policy”.” This is almost a parallel for US motives, as they had
publicly committed themselves to a pro-FNLA/UNITA policy. On 28
November 1975, Mulcahy told Kissinger that defeat was almost a foregone
conclusion without the continuation of South African assistance remarking

that “if they pull out of the South, the MPLA will wrap it up”.”* However,



Kissinger took more interest at sniping at Davis and Colby during the
meeting. He issued newly appointed African Bureau chief, William
Schaufele an abrupt warning to depart from his predecessors’ mentality
when he stated “I want an aggressive, strong, affirmative action from your
bureau. Your predecessors kept the facts from me for three months. If we

had moved in March [1975], we would have stifled it”.”> The primary
evidence proves that this is not an accurate account of what happened in the
early months of 1975. No information was being hidden from him over the
situation in Angola during this time. Davis and Lord tried to bring Angola
to his attention in March, but he was firmly preoccupied with the dramatic
and accelerated downfall of South Vietnam. Another important point which
Kissinger failed to articulate is the intended outcome in Angola even if the
US was not constrained by Vietnam and budgetary problems.

Such a lack of direction would come to hurt the Ford administration’s
efforts to defend its Angolan policy to Congress in early 1976. By the end
of November 1975 even the concept of what was a victory in Angola was
unclear. Indeed this was acknowledged in a memorandum from Sisco to
Scowcroft which outlined that even if the Soviets and the Cubans halted
their support for the MPLA and its leadership agreed to a political
compromise, and the OAU successfully negotiated a ceasefire, the FNLA

and UNITA would still need military assistance.”® Therefore, even in a best
case scenario the State Department felt that there was no way to exit Angola
without appearing to lose credibility. This is an important point. At no time
was there ever any concise vision of what to do if the US covert operation
was successful. There was no discussion of a long-term commitment
towards Angola or the region in the event that IAFEATURE was successful.
This was a particular failing of Kissinger’s strategy, one which he never
fully came to terms with even when pursuing a confrontational stance with
Congress to provide further funding to continue operations. In fact, it served
to fuel those in the Congress who used the Vietnam analogy to justify their
opposition.

As a result, the Ford administration continued to stumble on a one-
dimensional path, requesting a substantial increase in Angolan aid for the
FNLA and UNITA to $60 million from Congress. However, there were no
illusions that securing additional aid was an wuphill task. Sisco
acknowledged this fact stating that “there will be strong opposition to any
further funds being allocated. We believe early consultation with key



members of Congress are [sic] essential — in particular Senator Clark”.”” Tt
was an ominous precursor to the developments between the executive and
legislative branches over Angolan policy that was to unfold in December
1975.

Conclusion

In conclusion, Kissinger critically misjudged the Angolan situation due to
his inability to assess the situation outside of the Cold War norms. Despite
his proclivity for solutions on a global level, he is guilty of letting personal
objectives override his realist outlook during the Angolan crisis. The
situation demanded a more nuanced regional approach to confront the
complexities of the Angolan Civil War, but Kissinger could not detach from
viewing it in bipolar Cold War terms. In addition, the need to re-establish a
level of personal credibility after the setback in Vietham compounded this
error in judgement. In the case of Angola, instead of engaging with the
MPLA whose allegiance to the Soviets was questionable, Kissinger
reverted back to staunch Cold War stereotypes. One of the biggest failures
in Angola was the inability to see the Angolan liberation groups as anything
but pro-West or pro-Soviet.

Therefore, Kissinger’s search for credibility after Vietnam was
counterproductive to its aim. In Angola, Kissinger’s lack of regional
understanding and his refusal to listen to colleagues who did comprehend
the situation led to further failure. As historian and Angolan specialist John
Marcum observed, the cooperative relationship that existed between the US
and the Portuguese throughout the Angolan insurgency had a negative
impact on how the liberation movement leaders viewed the US. In addition
to this, he stressed that the MPLA should not have been identified as an
enemy just because it was somewhat hostile to US economic and political
intentions.”® Consequently Marcum believed that the US did not need to
choose sides in the conflict. As such he felt that Angola provided the US
with an opportunity to practise a more inclusive foreign policy rather than
defining situations into Cold War constraints. Marcum stated that the US

should declare its readiness to establish relations based on the
principles of mutuality of interest with whomever [sic] ends up



governing Angola [... and by doing so] It could prove to itself and the
world that it did learn something from Vietnam.”®

However, Kissinger was convinced that withdrawing from Angola
without gaining any negotiation on Soviet and Cuban aid to the MPLA
would be perceived as another loss for the US. He thought such a defeat
would potentially risk alienating the other black African states. Yet he
underestimated the resolve of black African leaders who were not prepared
to enter into a form of neo-colonialism and be dominated from Moscow or
Washington, DC. In addition, the covert programme initiated by the US,
allied to allegations that they colluded with South Africa, only helped to
fuel African scepticism of US motives in the region. By the beginning of
December 1975, with funding for Operation IAFEATURE nearly depleted,
the Ford administration was forced to deal directly with Congress to
continue Angolan assistance. It ensured a tense battle between the
legislative and executive branches of government for the right to conduct
foreign policy. Even worse it ensured that the Angolan episode became a
very public affair which further tainted the US image abroad and

contributed to a perception of the US in decline.
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